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This circular is for information and does not constitute an invitation or offer to acquire, purchase or subscribe for shares or other
securities.

If you are in doubt as to any aspect of this circular or as to the actions to be taken, you should consult your stockbroker or other
registered dealer in securities, bank manager, solicitor, professional accountant or other professional adviser.

If you have sold or transferred all your shares in Neo-China Group (Holdings) Limited, you should at once hand this circular to
the purchaser or transferee or to the bank, stockbroker or other agent through whom the sale or transfer was effected for
transmission to the purchaser or transferee.

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited takes no responsibility for the contents of this circular, makes no representation as to
its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaims any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance
upon the whole or any part of the contents of this circular.
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A notice convening the SGM to be held on 8 August 2006 at Unit 1908-9, Office Tower, Convention Plaza, Wanchai, Hong Kong
at 10:00 a.m. is set out on pages 294 to 295 of this circular. Whether or not Shareholders are able to attend the SGM, they are
requested to complete and return the enclosed form of proxy in accordance with the instructions printed thereon to the Share
Registrar of the Company in Hong Kong, Secretaries Ltd., 26/F, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong as
soon as possible but in any event not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the SGM. Completion and return of
the form of proxy will not preclude Shareholders from attending and voting in person at the SGM should they so wish.

A letter from the Independent Board Committee is set out on pages 29 to 30 of this circular and a letter from First Shanghai
Capital Limited, the independent financial adviser to the Independent Board Committee and the Independent Shareholders, is set
out on pages 31 to 44 of this circular.
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In this circular, the following expressions have the meanings set out below unless the

context requires otherwise.

“Agreement” the sale and purchase agreement dated 26 June 2006 between the

Vendor, the Purchaser and the Company in respect of the sale and

purchase of the entire issued share capital of the Holding

Companies

“associates” the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

“Board” board of Directors

“Company” Neo-China Group (Holdings) Limited, a company incorporated in

Bermuda with limited liability and the shares of which are listed

on Stock Exchange

“Completion” Completion of the Agreement

“Consideration” the consideration of HK$845,263,700 for the acquisition by the

Purchaser of the entire issued share capital of the Holding

Companies pursuant to the Agreement

“Consideration Shares” the new Shares to be allotted and issued by the Company to the

Vendor (or his nominee) as consideration under the Agreement

“Director(s)” director(s) of the Company

“Divo” DIVO Success Limited, a company incorporated with limited

liability in the British Virgin Islands

“Encumbrance” mortgage (whether legal or equitable), charge, lien, lease, option,

licence, covenant, condition, agreement or other third party right

“Enlarged Group” the Group as enlarged by the acquisition of the Holding Companies

“Group” the Company and its subsidiaries
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“HKFRS” Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards promulgated by the

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

“Holding Companies” Divo and Lead Mix

“Hong Kong” the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

“Independent Board an independent board committee comprising Ms. Nie Mei Sheng,

Committee” Mr. Wang Shiyong and Mr. Zhen Kuan, formed to advise The

Independent Shareholders on the terms of the Agreement and the

proposed Acquisitions

“Independent Financial First Shanghai Capital Limited, the independent financial adviser

Adviser” to the Independent Board Committee and Independent

Shareholders, a corporation licensed under the SFO to engage in

type 6 regulated activity (advising on corporate finance) as defined

in the SFO

“Independent Shareholders” Shareholders other than the Vendor, Invest Gain Limited and their

respective associates and parties acting in concert with them, and

other Shareholders who may not be permitted to vote under the

Listing Rules

“Independent Third Party party (parties) independent of and not connected with the directors,

(Parties)” chief executives or substantial shareholders of the Company or its

subsidiaries or any of their respective associates

“Issue Price” HK$0.68 per Consideration Share

“Last Trading Day” 23 June 2006, being the last day on which the Shares were traded

on the Stock Exchange prior to the release of this circular

“Latest Practicable Date” 18 July 2006 being the latest practicable date for ascertaining

certain information for inclusion in this circular

“Lead Mix” Lead Mix Limited, a company incorporated with limited liability

in the British Virgin Islands

“Listing Rules” The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock

Exchange
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“Long Stop Date” 31 October 2006

“PRC” the People’s Republic of China which, for the purpose of this

circular, excludes Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative

Region of the People’s Republic of China and Taiwan

“Proposed Acquisitions” the proposed acquisitions of the entire issued share capital of

each of the Holding Companies by the Purchaser pursuant to the

Agreement

“Property Interests” seven parcels of land and property at Old Urban Area, Tianjin

City Nau Kai District, Tianjin

“Property Owners” (i) Tianjin Zhongxin Huaan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

, (ii) Tianjin Zhongxin

Binhai Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

, (iii) Tianjin Zhongxin Xinjie Real Estate

Development Co., Ltd. ,

(iv) Tianjin Zhongxin Mingshi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

, (v) Tianjin Zhongxin

Jiaye Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

, (vi) Tianjin Zhongxin Huacheng Real Estate

Development Co., Ltd. and

(vii) Tianjin Xinrun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

each incorporated in the PRC that

together hold in aggregate the Property Interests

“Purchaser” Neo-China Property Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the

Company

“Restructuring” the restructuring of the ownership of the Property Owners before

Completion so that they are 100% owned by the Holding

Companies

“SGM” the special general meeting of Company to be convened to consider

and, if thought fit, approve, among other things, the entering into

of the Agreement

“Share(s)” ordinary share(s) of HK$0.01 each in the issued share capital of

the Company
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“Shareholder(s)” holder(s) of Share(s)

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

“Takeovers Code” The Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers

“Tianjin Project” a residential and commercial property project which consists of

land and property owned by the Property Owners

“HK$” Hong Kong dollar(s), the lawful currency of Hong Kong

“RMB” Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

“US$” United States dollar(s), the lawful currency of the United States

of America

“Valuer” Savills Valuation and Professional Services Limited, an

independent property valuer

“Vendor” Mr. Li Song Xiao, a Director and the chairman of the Board and

the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, who has a

51.60% indirect shareholding interest in the Company at the date

of this circular

“%” per cent.

In this circular, unless otherwise indicated, the exchange rates of RMB1.04 = HK$1.00 has

been used for currency translation, where applicable. Such exchange rates are for the purpose of

illustration only and do not constitute a representation that any amounts in HK$ or RMB have

been, could have been or may be converted at such or any other rates or at all.

Certain English translations of Chinese names or words in this circular are included for

information only, and are not official English translations of such Chinese names or words.
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NEO-CHINA GROUP (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
中新集團（控股）有限公司 *

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
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Executive Directors: Registered office:

Mr. Li Song Xiao (Chairman) Clarendon House
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Independent non-executive Directors: Principal Place of Business:

Ms. Nie Mei Sheng Unit 1908-9, 19th Floor

Mr. Zhen Kuan Office Tower, Convention Plaza

Mr. Wang Shi Yong No. 1 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

20 July, 2006

To the shareholders of the Company

Dear Sir or Madam,

PROPOSED MAJOR AND CONNECTED TRANSACTION
– PROPOSED ACQUISITION OF THE TIANJIN PROJECT WITH GROSS

FLOOR AREA OF 1.087 MILLION SQUARE METRES

INTRODUCTION

In an announcement dated 28 June 2006, the Directors announced that the Group had

entered into the Agreement with the Vendor on 26 June 2006 pursuant to which inter alia, the

Purchaser conditionally agreed to acquire, and the Vendor conditionally agreed to sell, the entire

issued share capital of the Holding Companies for an aggregate consideration of HK$845,263,700.
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At the date of this circular, the Vendor is the chairman of the Board and through Invest Gain

Limited, a company wholly-owned by him, is beneficially interested in 2,311,616,537 Shares,

representing approximately 51.60% of the existing issued share capital of the Company. Accordingly,

the Vendor is a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

The entering into the Agreement thus constitutes a connected transaction for the Company

under the Listing Rules and the Agreement is subject to the approval of the Independent Shareholders

by way of poll at the SGM. The Agreement also constitutes a major transaction for the Company

under the Listing Rules.

This circular contains details of the Proposed Acquisition as required by the Listing Rules.

THE PROPOSED ACQUISITIONS

On 26 June 2006, the Purchaser (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), the Company

and the Vendor entered into the Agreement.

The Agreement

Date: 26 June 2006

Parties:

Vendor: Mr. Li Song Xiao, the ultimate controlling Shareholder

Purchaser: Neo-China Property Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the

Company

Issuer: the Company as issuer of the Consideration Shares

Asset to be acquired: the entire issued share capitals of each of the Holding Companies.

Consideration: HK$845,263,700, which will be satisfied at Completion by the

allotment and issue by the Company to the Vendor (or his nominee)

of 1,243,034,853 Consideration Shares at the Issue Price, which

was determined after arm’s length negotiations between the parties

with reference to recent traded prices of the Shares and future

prospects of the Company.
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The value of the Consideration Shares based on the closing price

of the Shares on the Last Trading Day is HK$663,947,775.

The Consideration Shares represent (i) approximately 27.75% of

the issued share capital of the Company at the date of this circular

and (ii) approximately 21.72% of the issued share capital of the

Company as enlarged by the issue of the Consideration Shares.

The Consideration Shares will be issued as fully paid and will

rank pari passu in all respects with the Shares then in issue. An

application has been made by the Company to the Stock Exchange

for the listing of, and permission to deal in, the Consideration

Shares.

The Issue Price represents:

(a) a premium of approximately 33.33% to the closing price

per Share of HK$0.51 as quoted on the Stock Exchange on

23 June 2006, being the Last Trading Day;

(b) a premium of approximately 9.50% to the average closing

price per Share of HK$0.62 as quoted on the Stock

Exchange for the last 10 trading days to and including the

Last Trading Day;

(c) a discount of approximately 14.68% to the average closing

price per Share of HK$0.80 as quoted on the Stock

Exchange for the last 30 trading days up to and including

the Last Trading Day; and

(d) a premium of approximately 187.65% over the latest audited

consolidated net tangible assets per Share of approximately

HK$0.24 at 30 April 2005.

Conditions precedent: Completion is subject to the satisfaction of the following

conditions:

I. the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange granting or

agreeing to grant the listing of, and permission to deal in,

the Consideration Shares;

14.6
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II. the Purchaser being satisfied that the Restructuring has been
completed;

III. approval by way of poll of the Agreement (including the

allotment and issue of the Consideration Shares);

IV. the issue of legal opinions by the PRC legal adviser to the

Purchaser, in form and substance satisfactory to the

Purchaser, to the effect that, among other things:

a. the Holding Companies together are the lawful

owners of in aggregate 100% of the registered capital

of  the  Proper ty  Owners  f ree  and c lear  of
Encumbrances and that the relevant acquisitions by

the Holding Companies of their interests in the

Property Owners have been approved by the relevant
regulatory authorities in the PRC; and

b. the owners of the Property Owners have contributed

their respective shares of the Property Owners’
registered capital in accordance with the relevant

governmental approval, and the Property Owners are
respectively the lawful owner, user, occupier and

developer of the Property Interests free of all

Encumbrances other than disclosed mortgages; and

V. the consent of J.P. Morgan Securities Ltd. and BOCI Asia

Limited of the zero coupon convertible bonds due 2011 of

the Issuer to the issue of the Consideration Shares.

VI. the issue to the Purchaser by the Valuer chosen by it of a

valuation report in form and substance satisfactory to the

Pu rchase r,  va lu ing  t he  P rope r ty  In t e r e s t s  a t
RMB1,750,350,000 (or approximately HK$1,683,028,846)

in aggregate.

If the above conditions are not fulfilled or waived by the Purchaser
on or before 5:00p.m. on the Long Stop Date (or such later date

as the parties may agree), then all rights and obligations of the

parties to the Agreement shall cease and determine and no party
thereto shall have any claim against any other, save for claims (if

any) in respect of any antecedent breach of the Agreement.

Conditions I and III cannot be waived by the Vendor or the
Purchaser. Of the other conditions, conditions V and VI have

already been satisfied.
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Completion: Completion shall take place on the third business day (excluding

a Saturday) after satisfaction of all the above conditions of the

Agreement or such other date as the parties may agree.

Basis for determining the Consideration

As at 30 April 2006, the market value of the Property Interests is appraised at

RMB1,750,350,000 (or approximately HK$1,683,028,846) by the Valuer. After adjusting for the

net debt of the Property Owners, the net market value of the Property Interests is estimated at

HK$1,309,251,846.

The Consideration of HK$845,263,700 represents an acquisition discount of approximately

35.44% to the net market value of the Property Interests. Such discount was determined after arm’s

length negotiation between the Company and the Vendor as well as by reference to the discount

level of comparable PRC property companies listed in Hong Kong and the PRC at the time of

negotiation and the current market condition. For the five trading days before the signing of the

Agreement the average discount to the estimated net asset value of comparable PRC property

companies listed in Hong Kong and the PRC was 34.72%.

Discount to estimated current net asset value (%)

5-day

06/23/06 06/22/06 06/21/06 06/20/06 06/19/06 average

Shanghai Forte Land – H (19.94%) (20.69%) (20.69%) (22.21%) (22.96%) (21.30%)

Shanghai Real Estate (55.48%) (54.05%) (52.75%) (52.43%) (52.43%) (53.43%)

Beijing Capital Land – H (53.48%) (55.48%) (55.48%) (55.48%) (55.48%) (55.08%)

China Resources Land (40.60%) (38.03%) (40.17%) (40.17%) (35.04%) (38.80%)

Hopson (31.42%) (30.95%) (31.19%) (31.65%) (25.86%) (30.21%)

Guangzhou R&F – H (18.84%) (12.01%) (15.22%) (15.22%) (10.54%) (14.36%)

Agile Properties (43.40%) (40.86%) (41.94%) (43.40%) (40.49%) (42.02%)

China Overseas Land (30.07%) (28.51%) (31.58%) (30.70%) (25.88%) (29.35%)

China Vanke – B (27.89%) (28.59%) (29.99%) (26.49%) (26.60%) (27.91%)

Average (35.68%) (34.35%) (35.45%) (35.30%) (32.81%) (34.72%)

Source: Bloomberg, research estimates

The valuation report by the Valuer and the accountants’ reports are included in Appendix I

and Appendix III of this circular.

14.5
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Information on the Holding Companies, the Property Owners and the Tianjin Project

The charts below set out the ownership structure of each of the Property Owners as at the

date of this circular:

(a) Tianjin Zhongxin Huaan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

（天津中新華安房地產開發有限公司）

85% 15%

Joyful Fortune LimitedLead Mix

Tianjin Zhongxin Huaan
Real Estate Development Co.,

Ltd.

Note: Joyful Fortune Limited is an investment holding company incorporated in the British Virgin

Islands on 29 March 2005. The ultimate beneficial owner of Joyful Fortune Limited is the Vendor.

(b) Tianjin Zhongxin Binhai Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

（天津中新濱海房地產開發有限公司）

85% 15%

Lead Mix
Capital Team Investments

Limited

Tianjin Zhongxin Binhai
Real Estate Development Co.,

Ltd.

Note: Capital Team Investments Limited an investment holding company incorporated in the British

Virgin Islands on 13 November 2003. The ultimate beneficial owner of Capital Team Investments

Limited is the Vendor .

14.5
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(c) Tianjin Zhongxin Xinjie Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

（天津中新信捷房地產開發有限公司）

85% 15%

Eastern Winway LimitedLead Mix

Tianjin Zhongxin Xinjie
Real Estate Development Co.,

Ltd.

Note: Eastern Winway Limited is an investment holding company incorporated in the British Virgin

Islands on 18 January 2005. The ultimate beneficial owner of Eastern Winway Limited is the

Vendor.

(d) Tianjin Zhongxin Mingshi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

（天津中新名仕房地產開發有限公司）

85% 15%

Reliapoint LimitedLead Mix

Tianjin Zhongxin Mingshi
Real Estate Development Co.,

Ltd.

Note: Reliapoint Limited is an investment holding company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands

on 1 February 2005. The ultimate beneficial owner of Reliapoint Limited is the Vendor.
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(e) Tianjin Zhongxin Jiaye Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

（天津中新嘉業房地產開發有限公司）

85% 15%

Maxsun LimitedLead Mix

Tianjin Zhongxin Jiaye
Real Estate Development Co.,

Ltd.

Note: Maxsun Limited is an investment holding company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands on

13 January 2005. The ultimate beneficial owner of Maxsun Limited is the Vendor.

(f) Tianjin Zhongxin Huacheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

（天津中新華城房地產開發有限公司）

Tianjin Zhongxin Huacheng
Real Estate Development Co.,

Ltd.

100%

DIVO
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(g) Tianjin Xinrun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

（天津新潤房地產開發有限公司）

100%

DIVO

Tianjin Xinrun Real
Estate Development Co.,

Ltd.

The charts below set out the ownership structure of the Tianjin Project after the Restructuring

and upon the Completion:–

After Restructuring and immediately before the Completion

Property Owners

Holding Companies

100%

100%

Mr. Li

Tianjin Project
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Upon the Completion

Property Owners

The Holding Companies

Purchaser

Company

100%

100%

100%

Tianjin Project

Among the seven Property Owners, Tianjin Zhongxin Huacheng Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd. and Tianjin Zhongxin Jiaye Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. obtained the state-owned
land use rights certificates for Land Lot No. 11 and Land Lot No. 15 of the Tianjin Project. The
remaining five Property Owners have entered into corresponding supplementary agreements to the
state-owned land use rights grant contract between Tianjin Municipal Planning, Land and Resource
Bureau and Beijing Xin Song Investment Group Limited (details of the grant contract are referenced
in note (1) of Property no. 1 in the property valuation report contained in Appendix I to this
circular). According to the land use rights grant contract and the supplementary agreements, upon
payment of outstanding land premium totalling around RMB1.75 billion (approximately HK$1.68
billion) by the relevant Property Owners, these five Property Owners are entitled to apply for the
state-owned land use rights certificates of the relevant properties with the relevant Land Resource
Bureau within a period of 30 days after such payment. As advised by Guantao Law firm, the PRC
legal adviser to the Group, the certificates will normally be granted within a period of 60 days
from the date of payment of the outstanding land premium. According to the land use rights grant
contract and the supplementary agreements, these five property owners are obligated to pay for the
above-said outstanding land premium on or before 30 August 2006. Guantao Law Firm, the PRC
legal advisers to the Group, also concur with the above view on the amount of outstanding land
premium as well as the procedures for obtaining the land use right certificates.

The Tianjin Project is a residential and commercial property project located at Old Urban
Area, Tianjin City, Nankai District, Tianjin, the PRC. The Tianjin Project consists of the seven
pieces of land adjacent to each other and owned by the Property Owners details of which are
disclosed below under the heading “Details of Property Owners”. The seven pieces of land have an
aggregate site area of approximately 343,013 square metres and a gross floor area of 1.087 million
square metres. The aggregate registered capital of The Property Owners is RMB150,400,000
(approximately HK$144,615,385).

14.6
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While the Tianjin Project is collectively defined as a residential and commercial development,

due to the large scale of the project, it is divided into different phases with their own development

timing and use. The intended development plan for the various pieces of land includes office, high-

rise residential, villa, serviced apartment, commercial and other public facilities such as school.

The capital amount for the development of the Tianjin Project, excluding land costs, is

expected to be RMB3,261,000,000 (approximately HK$3,135,576,923) which will be funded by

bank loans and internal resources of the Company including the proceeds from the pre-sale of the

buildings located therein.

The Holding Companies are both limited liability companies incorporated in the British

Virgin Islands on 6 April 2006 and each is an investment holding company which is to hold an

interest in the Property Owners at Completion. The sole ultimate beneficial shareholder and director

of the Holding Companies is the Vendor. The Holding Companies are both investment holding

companies and will have no business operations or assets upon Completion apart from holding the

Property Owners. Upon Completion, each of the Holding Companies and the Property Owners will

become an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and the effective equity interest of

the Company in the Tianjin Project will be 100%.

Details of the Property Owners

Set out below are the details of each of the Property Owners:

(a) Tianjin Zhongxin Huaan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

（天津中新華安房地產開發有限公司）

Address 天津市南開區二馬路龍鳳市場內17-3號, Tianjin, the PRC

Registered and RMB20.00 million (approximately HK$19.23 million)

paid up capital

Term 20 years from the date of issue of its business licence on 3

June 2005

Value and net profits For the 4 months ended 30 April 2006 and for the period

from 3 June 2005 (date of incorporation) to 31 December

2005 , the audited net loss after taxation of Tianjin Zhongxin

Huaan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.（天津中新華安

房地產開發有限公司）amounted to approximately

RMB0.00 million (approximately HK$0.00 million) and

approximately RMB0.09 million (approximately HK$0.09

million) respectively. For the 4 months ended 30 April 2006

14.6
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and for the period from 3 June 2005 (date of incorporation)

to 31 December 2005, the audited net loss attributable to

shareholders of the Holding Companies amounted to

approximately RMB0.00 million (approximately HK$0.00

mi l l ion)  and  approx imate ly  RMB0.09  mi l l ion

(approximately HK$0.09 million) respectively (no taxation

expense was incurred during the financial periods). The

audited net asset value of Tianjin Zhongxin Huaan Real

Estate Development Co., Ltd.（天津中新華安房地產開發

有限公司）as at 30 April 2006 and 31 December 2005 were

RMB$19.93 million (approximately HK$19.16 million) and

RMB19.93 million (approximately HK$19.16 million)

respectively.

Business activities Developer of the piece of land located at Land Lot No. 1 of

and major assets held Old Urban Area, Nankai District, Tianjin, the PRC which

is the major asset held by it.

The piece of land is one of the parcels of land in the

Property Interests, site area of which is 55,423 square metres

and with gross floor area of 237,700 square metres.

Construction work for this piece of land is expected to

commence by the end of 2007. Development of this piece

of land will be financed by bank loans and internal resources

of the Group.

(b) Tianjin Zhongxin Binhai Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

（天津中新濱海房地產開發有限公司）

Address 天津市南開區二馬路龍鳳市場內9號 , Tianjin, the PRC

Registered and paid RMB10.40 million (approximately HK$10.00 million)

up capital

Term 20 years from the date of issue of its business licence on 9

December 2004
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Value and net profits For the 4 months ended 30 April 2006 and for the period

from 9 December 2004 (date of incorporation) to 31

December 2005, the audited net loss after taxation of Tianjin

Zhongxin Binhai Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.（天津

中 新 濱 海 房 地 產 開 發 有 限 公 司 ）a m o u n t e d  t o

approximately RMB0.00 million (approximately HK$0.00

mi l l ion)  and  approx imate ly  RMB0.02  mi l l ion

(approximately HK$0.02 million) respectively. For the

4 months ended 30 April 2006 and for the period from

9 December 2004 (date of incorporation) to 31 December

2005, the audited net loss attributable to shareholders

amounted  to  approx imate ly  RMB0.00  mi l l ion

(approximately HK$0.00 million) and approximately

RMB0.02 million (approximately HK$0.02 million)

respectively (no taxation expense was incurred during the

both financial periods). The audited net asset value of

Tianjin Zhongxin Binhai Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

（天津中新濱海房地產開發有限公司）as at 30 April 2006

and 31 December  2005 was  RMB10.62 mil l ion

(approximately HK$10.21 million) and RMB10.62 million

(approximately HK$10.21 million) respectively.

Business activities and Developer of the piece of land located at Land Lot No. 2 of

major assets held Old Urban Area, Nankai District, Tianjin, the PRC which

is the major asset held by it.

The piece of land is one of the parcels of land in the

Property Interests, with site area of 77,156 square metres

and gross floor area of 72,400 square metres. Construction

work for this piece of land is expected to commence by the

end of 2007. Development of this piece of land will be

financed by bank loans and internal resources of the Group.

14.5
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(c) Tianjin Zhongxin Xinjie Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

（天津中新信捷房地產開發有限公司）

Address 天津市南開區二馬路龍鳳市場內17-1號, Tianjin, the PRC

Registered and paid RMB20.00 million (approximately HK$19.23 million)

up capital

Term 20 years from the date of issue of its business licence on 3

June 2005

Value and net profits For the 4 months ended 30 April 2006 and for the period

from 3 June 2005 (date of incorporation) to 31 December

2005, the audited net loss after taxation of Tianjin Zhongxin

Xinjie Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.（天津中新信捷

房地產開發有限公司）amounted to approximately

RMB0.00 million (approximately HK$0.00 million) and

approximately RMB0.09 million (approximately HK$0.09

million) respectively. For the 4 months ended 30 April 2006

and for the period from 3 June 2005 (date of incorporation)

to 31 December 2005, the audited net loss attributable to

shareholders of the Holding Companies amounted to

approximately RMB0.00 million (approximately HK$0.00

mi l l ion)  and  approx imate ly  RMB0.09  mi l l ion

(approximately HK$0.09 million) respectively (no taxation

expense was incurred during the financial periods). The

audited net asset value of Tianjin Zhongxin Xinjie Real

Estate Development Co., Ltd.（天津中新信捷房地產開發

有限公司）as at 30 April 2006 and 31 December 2005 were

RMB19.93 million (approximately HK$19.16 million) and

RMB19.93 million (approximately HK$19.16 million)

respectively.
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Business activities and Developer of the piece of land located at Land Lot No. 9 of

major assets held Old Urban Area, Nankai District, Tianjin, the PRC which

is the major asset held by it.

The piece of land is one of the parcels of land in the

Property Interests, site area of which is 41,107 square metres

and with gross floor area of 200,900 square metres.

Construction work for this piece of land is expected to

commence by the end of 2006 and be completed by early

2008. Development of this piece of land will be financed

by bank loans and internal resources of the Group.

(d) Tianjin Zhongxin Mingshi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

（天津中新名仕房地產開發有限公司）

Address 天津市南開區二馬路龍鳳市場內9-1號 , Tianjin, the PRC

Registered and paid RMB20.00 million (approximately HK$19.23 million)

up capital

Term 20 years from the date of issue of its business licence on 3

June 2005

Value and net profits For the 4 months ended 30 April 2006 and for the period

from 3 June 2005 (date of incorporation) to 31 December

2005, the audited net loss after taxation of Tianjin Zhongxin

Mingshi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.（天津中新名

仕房地產開發有限公司）amounted to approximately

HK$0.00 million and approximately RMB0.09 million

(approximately HK$0.09 million) respectively. For the 4

months ended 30 April 2006 and for the period from 3 June

2005 (date of incorporation) to 31 December 2005, the

audited net loss attributable to shareholders of the Holding

Companies amounted to approximately HK$0.00 million

and approximately RMB0.09 million (approximately

HK$0.09 million) respectively (no taxation expense was

incurred during financial periods). The audited net asset

value of Tianjin Zhongxin Mingshi Real Estate Development

Co., Ltd.（天津中新名仕房地產開發有限公司）as at 30

April 2006 and 31 December 2005 was RMB19.93 million

(approximately HK$19.16 million) and RMB19.93 million

(approximately HK$19.16 million) respectively.
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Business activities and Developer of the piece of land located at Land Lot No. 12

major assets held of Old Urban Area, Nankai District, Tianjin, the PRC which

is the major asset held by it.

The piece of land is one of the parcels of land in the

Property Interests, site area of which is 25,866 square metres

and with gross floor area of 153,200 square metres.

Construction work for this piece of land is expected to

commence by the end of 2006. Development of this piece

of land will be financed by bank loans and internal resources

of the Group.

(e) Tianjin Zhongxin Jiaye Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

（天津中新嘉業房地產開發有限公司）

Address 天津市南開區二馬路龍鳳市場內17-2號, Tianjin, the PRC

Registered and paid RMB20.00 million (approximately HK$19.23 million)

up capital

Term 20 years from the date of issue of its business licence on 3

June 2005

Value and net profits For the 4 months ended 30 April 2006 and for the period

from 3 June 2005 (date of incorporation) to 31 December

2005, the audited net loss after taxation of Tianjin Zhongxin

Jiaye Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.（天津中新嘉業

房地產開發有限公司）amounted to approximately

RMB0.11 million (approximately HK$0.11 million) and

approximately RMB0.10 million (approximately HK$0.10

million) respectively. For the 4 months ended 30 April 2006

and for the period from 3 June 2005 (date of incorporation)

to 31 December 2005, the audited net loss attributable to

shareholders of  approximately RMB0.11 mill ion

(approximately HK$0.11 million) and approximately

RMB0.10 million (approximately HK$0.10 million)
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respectively (no taxation expense was incurred during the

financial periods). The audited net asset value of Tianjin

Zhongxin Jiaye Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.（天津

中新嘉業房地產開發有限公司）as at 30 April 2006 and

31 December 2005 was RMB19.80 million (approximately

HK$19.04 million) and RMB19.92 million (approximately

HK$19.15 million).

Business activities and Developer of the piece of land located at Land Lot No. 15

major assets held of Old Urban Area, Nankai District, Tianjin, the PRC which

is the major asset held by it.

The piece of land is one of the parcels of land in the

Property Interests, site area of which is 38,295 square metres

and with gross floor area of 140,100 square metres.

Construction work for this piece of land has commenced in

February 2006 and is expected to be completed in June

2007. Pre-sales have also commenced for the buildings

located on this piece of land. Development of this piece of

land will be financed by bank loans and internal resources

of the Group.

(f) Tianjin Zhongxin Huacheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

（天津中新華城房地產開發有限公司）

Address 天津市南開區二馬路龍鳳市場內9號 , Tianjin, the PRC

Registered and paid RMB50.00 million (approximately HK$48.08 million)

up capital

Term 20 years from the date of issue of its business licence on

23 September 2004

Value and net profits For the 4 months ended 30 April 2006, for the year ended

31 December 2005 and for the period from 23 September

2004 (date of incorporation) to 31 December 2004, the

audited net profit/loss after taxation of Tianjin Zhongxin

Huacheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.（天津中新

華城房地產開發有限公司）amounted to profit  of

approximately RMB0.03 million (approximately HK$0.03

million), loss of approximately RMB0.20 million
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(approximately HK$0.19 million) and loss of approximately

RMB0.06 million (approximately HK$0.06 million)

respectively. For the 4 months ended 30 April 2006, for the

year ended 31 December 2005 and for the period from 23

September 2004 (date of incorporation) to 31 December

2004, the audited net profit/loss attributable to shareholders

amounted to profit of approximately RMB0.03 million (or

approximately HK$0.03 million), loss of approximately

RMB0.20 million (approximately HK$0.19 million) and loss

of approximately RMB0.06 million (approximately HK$0.06

million) respectively (no taxation expense was incurred

during the financial periods). The audited net asset value of

Tianjin Zhongxin Huacheng Real Estate Development Co.,

Ltd.（天津中新華城房地產開發有限公司）as at 30 April

2006, 31 December 2005 and 31 December 2004 was

approximately RMB49.77 million (approximately HK$47.86

million), approximately RMB49.74 million (approximately

HK$47.83 million) and approximately RMB49.94 million

(approximately HK$48.02 million) respectively.

Business activities and Developer of the piece of land located at Land Lot No. 11

major assets held of Old Urban Area, Nankai District, Tianjin, the PRC which

is the major asset held by it.

The piece of land is one of the parcels of land in the

Property Interests, site area of which is 62,867 square metres

and with gross floor area of 53,231 square metres.

Construction work for this piece of land has been completed

in May 2006 and pre-sales have also commenced for the

buildings located on this piece of land. Development of

this piece of land will be financed by bank loans and internal

resources of the Group.
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(g) Tianjin Xinrun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

（天津新潤房地產開發有限公司）

Address 天津市南開區二馬路龍鳳市場內9號 , Tianjin, the PRC

Registered and paid RMB10.00 million (approximately HK$9.62 million)

up capital

Term 20 years from the date of issue of its business licence (date

of incorporation) on 5 April 2005

Value and net profits For the 4 months ended 30 April 2006 and for the period

from 5 April 2005 (date of incorporation) to 31 December

2005, the audited net loss after taxation of Tianjin Xinrun

Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.（天津新潤房地產開發

有限公司）amounted to approximately RMB0.00 million

(approximately HK$0.00 million) and approximately

RMB0.01 million (approximately HK$0.01 million)

respectively. For the 4 months ended 30 April 2006 and for

the period from 5 April 2005 (date of incorporation) to 31

December 2005, the audited net loss attributable to

shareholders amounted to RMB0.00 million (approximately

HK$0.00 million) and approximately RMB0.01 million

(approximately HK$0.01 million) respectively (no taxation

expense was incurred during the financial periods). The

audited net asset value of Tianjin Xinrun Real Estate

Development Co., Ltd.（天津新潤房地產開發有限公司）

as at 30 April 2006 and 31 December 2005 was RMB9.98

million (approximately HK$9.60 million) and approximately

RMB9.98 million (approximately HK$9.60 million)

respectively.

Business activities and Developer of the piece of land located at Land Lot No. 13

major assets held of Old Urban Area, Nankai District, Tianjin, the PRC which

is the major asset held by it.

The piece of land is one of the parcels of land in the

Property Interests, site area of which is 52,299 square metres

and with gross floor area of 229,100 square metres.

Construction work for this piece of land is expected to

commence in October 2006 and will be completed by March

2008. Development of this piece of land will be financed

by bank loans and internal resources of the Group.
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SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE OF THE COMPANY

Set out below is a table showing the shareholding structure of the Company at the date of

this circular and immediately after Completion:–

Existing Shareholding

shareholding structure

structure immediately

at the date after completion

of this circular (Note 1)

Number of Number of

Shareholders Shares held % Shares held %

Invest Gain Limited (Note 2) 2,298,986,537 51.32% 2,298,986,537 40.18%

Mr. Li Song Xiao and concert

parties other than Invest

Gain Limited (Note 3) 12,630,000 0.28% 1,255,664,853 21.94%

2,311,616,537 51.60% 3,554,651,390 62.12%

Public Shareholders 2,167,722,950 48.40% 2,167,722,950 37.88%

Total 4,479,339,487 100.00% 5,722,374,340 100.00%

Notes:

1. Assuming that (a) no Shares will be disposed of by Invest Gain Limited, after the date of this circular

until the Completion, (b) save for the Consideration Shares that fail to be issued to satisfy the Consideration

under the Proposed Acquisitions.

2. Mr. Li Song Xiao is the ultimate beneficial sole shareholder of Invest Gain Limited.

3. Includes 9,630,000 shares held by Mr. Li and the remaining 3,000,000 shares in the Company pursuant to

the options outstanding under the share option scheme of the Company.
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REASONS FOR THE PROPOSED ACQUISITIONS

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability and its Shares are listed

on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The Group is principally engaged in property development

and investment in the PRC. The Group has been appraising proactively various investment

opportunities to explore high potential investments and attractive business opportunities in the

major cities in the PRC, such as Beijing, Tianjin, Shanghai, Chongqing, Chengdu, Shenzhen and

elsewhere. The Directors have looked into the location and valuation of the Tianjin Project. The

Company is of the view that the Proposed Acquisitions represent a good opportunity for the Group

to further expand its business in the property market in Tianjin. The Bohai area, with Tianjin as its

centre, is one of the key economic development zones under the PRC government’s eleventh five-

year plan. The Directors are familiar with Tianjin market and perceive it as an attractive area to

engage in real estate development and investment and the Proposed Acquisitions will strengthen

the assets and income base of the Group. The Board is also confident about the demand in the PRC

property market and as the Tianjin Project is located at a premier location and there is strong

demand in the PRC property market, the Board is of the view that the recent tightening of control

by the PRC Government on the property market does not change the rationale of the Proposed

Acquisitions.

Further, by paying for the assets to be acquired in shares rather than cash the Company will

increase its permanent capital and avoid depletion of cash reserves (and/or the costs and risks of

borrowing to fund the Proposed Acquisitions).

The executive and the non-executive Directors consider that the Proposed Acquisition is on

normal commercial terms which are fair and reasonable so far as the Independent Shareholders are

concerned. The independent non-executive Directors’ views are contained in the letter from the

Independent Board Committee on pages 29 to 30 of this circular.

FINANCIAL EFFECTS OF THE PROPOSED ACQUISITIONS ON THE GROUP

The Proposed Acquisition will be funded by the issuance of new shares by the Company.

After the Proposed Acquisition, the Property Owners will be treated as subsidiaries of the Company,

the assets and equity base of the Company will be increased. As the Project is still in its very early

stage of development, it is not expected to have any material positive contribution to the earnings

of the Company until fiscal year 2007.
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IMPLICATIONS OF THE PROPOSED ACQUISITIONS UNDER LISTING RULES AND

TAKEOVERS CODE

At the date of this circular, the Vendor is the chairman of the Board and, primarily through

Invest Gain Limited, a company wholly-owned by him, is beneficially interested in 2,311,616,537

Shares, representing approximately 51.60% of the existing issued share capital of the Company.

Accordingly, the Vendor is a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules. The

Agreement therefore constitutes a major transaction for the Company under the Listing Rules and

is subject to the approval of the Independent Shareholders (being Shareholders other than the

Vendor, Invest Gain Limited and their respective associates and parties acting in concert with

them, and other Shareholders who may not be permitted to vote under the Listing Rules by way of

poll at the SGM. At the date of this circular, the Vendor is also a connected person of the Company

under the Listing Rules. The entering into of the Agreement thus constitutes a connected transaction

for the Company under the Listing Rules.

Completion of the Agreement is subject to the satisfaction of a number of conditions

precedent as detailed in this Circular and may or may not be completed. Shareholders and

potential investors are advised to exercise caution when dealing in the Shares.

Upon Completion (assuming that no further Shares will be issued by the Company from the

date of this circular to Completion), the ultimate beneficial shareholding interest of the Vendor in

the Company and parties acting in concert with him will increase from approximately 51.60% to

approximately 62.12%. There will not be a change in control of The Company as a result of the

Proposed Acquisition. The Vendor will not be obliged to make an unconditional mandatory general

offer for all the issued Shares not already owned or agreed to be acquired by the Vendor and

parties acting in concert with him under Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code.

INDEPENDENT BOARD COMMITTEE

The Independent Board Committee, comprising Ms Madam Nie Mei Sheng, Mr Wang Shi

Yong and Mr Zheng Kuan (all are independent non-executive Directors), has been formed to

advise the Independent Shareholders on the terms of the Agreement.

INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL ADVISER

The Independent Financial Adviser, First Shanghai Capital Limited, has been appointed to

advise the independent board committee and the Independent Shareholders regarding the Proposed

Acquisitions (including the issue of the Consideration Shares).
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SGM

A notice convening the SGM to be held at Unit 1908-09, 19/F., Office Tower, Convention

Plaza, No. 1 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong at 10:00 a.m. on 8 August 2006 is set out on

page 294 to 295 of this circular. Resolutions will be proposed at that meeting to approve the

Agreement and the issue of Consideration Shares. They will be voted on by way of poll.

Whether or not holders of Shares are able to attend the SGM, they are requested to complete

and return the form of proxy accompanying this circular in accordance with the instructions

printed thereon to the Share Registrar of the Company in Hong Kong, Secretaries Ltd., 26/F.,

Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong as soon as possible and in any event

not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the holding of the meeting. Completion and

return of the form of proxy will not preclude holders of Shares from attending and voting in

person at the meeting or any adjournment thereof should they so wish. Invest Gain, Mr Li and their

respective associates together control or are entitled to exercise control over 51.60% of the voting

rights in the Company will abstain from voting at the SGM on the resolution to approve the

Proposed Acquisitions.

PROCEDURE BY WHICH THE SHAREHOLDERS MAY DEMAND A POLL

The following paragraphs set out the procedure by which the Shareholders may demand a

poll at a general meeting of the Company pursuant to the Bye-laws.

Under Bye-law 66(1) of the Bye-laws, at any general meeting a resolution put to the vote of

the meeting shall be decided on a show of hands unless (before or on the declaration of the result

of the show of hands or on the withdrawal of any other demand for a poll) a poll is demanded by:–

(a) the chairman of such meeting; or

(b) at least three Shareholders present in person (or in the case of a Shareholder being a

corporation by its duly authorised representative) or by proxy for the time being

entitled to vote at the meeting; or

(c) a Shareholder or Shareholders present in person (or in the case of a Shareholder

being a corporation by its duly authorised representative) or by proxy and representing

not less than one-tenth of the total voting rights of all Shareholders having the right

to vote at the meeting; or

13.3

App

14.6

2.17
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(d) a Shareholder or Shareholders present in person (or in the case of a Shareholder

being a corporation by its duly authorised representative) or by proxy and holding

Shares in the Company conferring a right to vote at the meeting being Shares on

which an aggregate sum has been paid up equal to not less than one-tenth of the total

sum paid up on all Shares conferring that right.

In addition, in compliance with the Listing Rules, any vote of Shareholders at a general

meeting will be taken on a poll where:

(i) the chairman of the general meeting and/or the directors individually or collectively

hold proxies in respect of shares representing 5% or more of the total voting rights at

the general meeting, and the meeting votes, on a show of hands, in the opposite

manner to that instructed in those proxies unless it is apparent from the total proxies

held that a vote taken on a poll will not reverse the vote taken on a show of hands;

(ii) the meeting is to approve connected transactions;

(iii) the meeting is to approve transactions that are subject to independent shareholders’

approval pursuant to the Listing Rules;

(iv) the meeting is to approve granting of options to a substantial shareholder or an

independent non-executive director of the issuer, or any of their respective associates,

as required under the Listing Rules; or

(v) the meeting is to approve any other transactions in which a shareholder has a material

interest and is therefore required to abstain from voting at the general meeting.

RECOMMENDATION

Your attention is drawn to the recommendation of the Independent Board Committee (set

out on pages 29 to 30 of this circular) and advice of Independent Financial Adviser (set out on

pages 31 to 44 of this circular) regarding the Agreement (including the issue of the Consideration

Shares).

FURTHER INFORMATION

Your attention is drawn to the information set out in elsewhere in this circular and in the

appendices to it.

By Order of the Board of

Neo-China Group (Holdings) Limited

Li Song Xiao

Chairman

R14

R14
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* For identification only

App

14A

The following is the text of a letter received from the Independent Board Committee setting

out its advice to the Independent Shareholders for the purpose of inclusion in this circular.

NEO-CHINA GROUP (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
*

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

(Stock code: 563)

20 July 2006

To the Independent Shareholders

Dear Sir or Madam,

PROPOSED MAJOR AND CONNECTED TRANSACTION
– PROPOSED ACQUISITION OF THE TIANJIN PROJECT WITH GROSS

FLOOR AREA OF 1.087 MILLION SQUARE METRES

We refer to the circular of the Company dated 20 July 2006 (the “Circular”), of which this

letter forms part. Terms defined herein shall have the same meanings as defined in the Circular

unless the context otherwise requires.

We, being the Directors constituting the Independent Board Committee, have been appointed

by the Board to advise you as to whether the Proposed Acquisitions and the Agreement are fair and

reasonable insofar as the Independent Shareholders are concerned.
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We wish to draw your attention to the letter from the Board, which is set out on pages 5 to

28 of the Circular, and the letter of advice from First Shanghai Capital Limited, the independent

financial adviser appointed by the Company to advise the Independent Board Committee, setting

out its advice to us in respect of the Proposed Acquisitions and the Agreement, as set out on pages

31 to 44 of the Circular.

Having considered the terms of the Agreement and the advice of First Shanghai Capital

Limited, we are of opinion that the terms of the Agreement are fair and reasonable insofar as the

Independent Shareholders are concerned and the Proposed Acquisition and Agreement are in the

interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole. We therefore recommend the Independent

Shareholders to vote in favour of the relevant resolution to be proposed at the SGM to approve the

Agreement and the Proposed Acquisitions.

Yours faithfully,

Independent Board Committee

Nie Mei Sheng

Wang Shi Yong

Zheng Kuan
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The following is the text of a letter received from the Independent Financial Adviser setting

out its advice to the Independent Board Committee and the Independent Shareholders in respect of

the proposed major and connected transaction for inclusion in this circular.

FIRST SHANGHAI CAPITAL LIMITED
19th Floor, Wing On House

71 Des Voeux Road Central

Hong Kong

20 July 2006

To the Independent Board Committee and the Independent Shareholders

Neo-China Group (Holdings) Limited

Unit 1908-09 19/F

Office Tower Convention Plaza

No 1 Harbour Road

Wanchai Hong Kong

Dear Sirs or Madams,

PROPOSED MAJOR AND CONNECTED TRANSACTION
PROPOSED ACQUISITION OF THE TIANJIN PROJECT WITH GROSS FLOOR

AREA OF 1.087 MILLION SQUARE METRES

INTRODUCTION

We refer to our engagement to advise the Independent Board Committee and the Independent

Shareholders in respect of the Proposed Acquisitions, details of which are set out in the circular of

the Company dated 20 July 2006 (the “Circular”) to the Shareholders, of which this letter forms a

part. Unless the context otherwise requires, terms used in this letter shall have the same meanings

as those defined in the Circular.

As disclosed in the announcement of Company dated 28 June 2006, on 26 June 2006, Mr. Li

Song Xiao (as vendor), Neo-China Property Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

(as purchaser) and the Company entered into the Agreement pursuant to which, inter alia, the

Purchaser conditionally agreed to acquire, and the Vendor conditionally agreed to sell, the entire

issued share capital of the Holding Companies for an aggregate consideration of HK$845,263,700.
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The Consideration is to be satisfied in full by the allotment and issue of 1,243,034,853

Consideration Shares to the Vendor at the issue price of HK$0.68 each. The Consideration Shares

represent approximately 27.75% of the current share capital of the Company in issue and

approximately 21.72% of the share capital as enlarged by issue of the Consideration Shares.

The Holding Companies will by Completion together directly hold 100% of equity interest

in the Property Owners, which are the developers of the Tianjin Project. The Tianjin Project is a

residential and commercial property development project located at Old Urban Area, Tianjin City,

Nankai District, Tianjin, the PRC.

At the Latest Practicable Date, the Vendor is the chairman of the Board and, through Invest

Gain Limited, a company wholly-owned by him is beneficially interested in 2,311,616,537 Shares,

representing approximately 51.60% of the existing issued share capital of the Company. Accordingly,

the Vendor is a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules. The entering into of the

Agreement thus constitutes a connected transaction for the Company under the Listing Rules and

is subject to the approval of the Independent Shareholders by way of poll at the SGM. Mr. Li and

his associates will abstain from voting in the SGM. The Agreement also constitutes a major

transaction for the Company.

The Independent Board Committee, comprising the independent non-executive Directors

namely Ms. Nie Mei Sheng, Mr. Zhen Kuan and Mr. Wang Shi Yong, has been appointed to advise

the Independent Shareholders in relation to the terms of the Agreement.

Our role, as the independent financial adviser to the Independent Board Committee and the

Independent Shareholders, is to give an independent opinion as to whether the terms of the

Agreement are fair and reasonable and are in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as

a whole.

In putting forth our opinion and recommendations, we have relied on the accuracy of the

information and representations included in the Circular and provided to us by the Directors and

the Company, and have assumed that all such information and representations made or referred to

in the Circular and provided to us by the Directors and the Company were true at the time they

were made and continued to be true as at the date hereof. We have also assumed that all statements

of belief, opinion and intention made by the Directors in the Circular were reasonably made after

due enquiry. We have no reason to doubt the truth, accuracy and completeness of the information

and representations provided to us by the Directors and have been advised by the Directors that no
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material facts have been withheld or omitted from the information provided and referred to in the

Circular. We consider that we have reviewed sufficient information to reach an informed view and

to justify reliance on the accuracy of the information contained in the Circular and to provide a

reasonable basis for our advice. We have not, however, conducted any independent verification of

the information included in the Circular and provided to us by the Directors nor have we conducted

any form of investigation into the business, affairs or future prospects of the Group. We have taken

the reasonable steps as required under Rules 13.80 of the Listing Rules in forming our opinion.

PRINCIPAL FACTORS AND REASONS CONSIDERED

In formulating our opinion and recommendations as to the fairness and reasonableness of

the terms of the Agreement, we have taken into account the following principal factors and reasons:

1. Reasons for the Proposed Acquisitions and the property market in Tianjin

Reasons

As mentioned in the “Letter from the Board” in the Circular, the Group is principally

engaged in property development and investment in the PRC. The Group has been appraising

proactively various investment opportunities to explore high potential investments and

attractive business opportunities in the major cities in the PRC, such as Beijing, Tianjin,

Shanghai, Chongqing, Chengdu, Shenzhen and elsewhere. The Directors have looked into

the location and valuation of the Tianjin Project. The Company is of the view that the

Proposed Acquisitions represent a good opportunity for the Group to further expand its

business in the property market in Tianjin. The Bohai area, with Tianjin as its center, is one

of the key economic development zones under the PRC government’s eleventh five-year

plan. The Directors are familiar with Tianjin market and perceive it as an attractive area to

engage in real estate development and investment and the Proposed Acquisitions will

strengthen the assets and income base of the Group. As discussed with the management of

the Company, we understand that the Board is confident about the demand in the PRC

property market and as the Tianjin Project is located at a premier location and there is

strong demand in the PRC property market, the Board is of the view that the recent tightening

of control by the PRC Government on the property market does not change the rationale of

the Proposed Acquisitions. However, Shareholders should note that should the PRC

government adopt additional and more stringent measures or the Group not able to follow

the new measures, there may be adverse impact on the Group.
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Property market in Tianjin

The Tianjin Project is located in Tianjin, the PRC. Tianjin is one of the four directly

administered municipalities in the PRC and is known as a major economic centre in Northern

China. The table below sets out the growing rates of the gross domestic products (“GDP”)

and per capita GDP of Tianjin over the years 2002, 2003 and 2004: –

2002 2003 2004

GDP

Tianjin 12.5% 14.8% 15.7%

PRC 8.3% 9.5% 9.5%

Per capita GDP

Tianjin 12.1% 14.0% 14.9%

PRC 7.6% 8.8% 8.8%

Source: National Bureau of Statistics of China; Tianjin Municipal Bureau of Statistics

We note from the above table that the growth rate of both GDP and per capital GDP

of Tianjin have been higher than those of the PRC. Furthermore, based on an article published

in the website of Tianjin Municipal Bureau of Statistics, the number of families in Tianjin

has been growing faster than the population. The population in Tianjin has increased by

approximately 5.6% from 1990 to 2005 while the number of families has increased by

approximately 10.5% over the same period. We are of the view that both the improvement in

GDP and per capita GDP and the increase in number of families might have positive effects

to the demand of properties in Tianjin.

According to an article posted on www.jinhouse.com , the growth rate of

land trading price in Tianjin increased by approximately 22.7% from December 2002 to

December 2004, which was lower than the growth rate of GDP over the same period,

implying that the land trading price has been increasing in a steady and healthy rate over the

past two years. We have also compared the sale prices of office and residential units in

Tianjin over the periods from year 2002 to year 2005.
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DTZ Index – Office and residential sale price in Tianjin
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Source: DTZ Research;

Note: Index = 100 in 1st quarter of 2000

From the above graph, we see that the sale prices of office and residential units in

Tianjin have moderate increase over the past few years. The growth rates of the sale prices

of office and residential units in Tianjin from 2002 to 2004 were approximately 4.1% and

13.9% respectively, which were lower than the growth rate of the GDP over the same period

and may imply that the property market in Tianjin has been under a steady development in

the past few years.

Having considered the reasons of the Proposed Acquisitions and the prospects of the

property market in Tianjin, we are of the view that the Proposed Acquisitions is in the

benefit of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
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2. Business and financial review of the Group

The Group is principally engaged in property investment and development in the PRC. In

2004, the Group restructured its business from providing Internet consulting to property investment

and development. Since then, it has seen its financial performance improved substantially. Its

turnover and profit attributable to Shareholders for the year ended 30 April 2005 were approximately

HK$476.5 million and approximately HK$180.5 million respectively, as compared to those for

2004 of approximately HK$0.7 million and approximately HK$9.7 million respectively. According

to the interim report of the Company for the six months ended 31 October 2005 (“Interim Report

2006”), the Group recorded a net profit of approximately HK$131.8 million, representing a drop

of approximately 27.2% compared with that of the same period of the previous year, which was

due to a decrease in sale of properties during the year.

Based on the Interim Report 2006, the Group’s major property projects included the American

Rock property project and Phoenix Tower property project. Apart from such two projects, the

Group has been proactively appraising various investment opportunities to explore high potential

investments and attractive business opportunities in the main cities of the PRC, such as Beijing,

Shanghai, Shenzhen and Tianjin, etc.

In September 2005, the Group entered into two agreements to acquire the interests of two

property projects in Beijing from Mr. Li Song Xiao, details of which have been set out in a

circular of the Company dated 23 January 2006. In March 2006, the Group entered into an agreement

to acquire a 30% interest in a project in Chongqing (the “Chongqing Project”), which involves in a

development of a piece of land in Chongqing with a site area of 96,000 square metres in a

residential and commercial complex, from an independent third party, details of which have been

set out in a circular of the Company dated 28 April 2006. In May 2006, the Group entered into an

agreement to acquire a 25% equity interest in a target company, which in turn has interest in a

property project in Beijing. Such project involves a development of a piece of land in Beijing with

a site area of 42,541 square metres into a residential/commercial complex, details of such transaction

have been set out in a circular of the Company dated 15 June 2006. In June 2006, the Group

further acquired the remaining 70% interest in the Chongqing Project, details of such transaction

have been set out in a circular of the Company dated 26 June 2006.

Having reviewed the corporate actions taken by the Group in the past and based on our

discussions with the management of the Company in respect of the future development of the

Group, we are of the view that the Proposed Acquisitions is in line with the direction of the

Group’s business development since its restructure in 2004.
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3. Business and financial review of the Holding Companies, the Property Owners and the

Tianjin Project

The Holding Companies are both limited liability companies incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands on 6 April 2006 and each is an investment holding company which is to hold an
interest in the Property Owners at Completion. The sole ultimate beneficial shareholder and director
of the Holding Companies is the Vendor. The Holding Companies are both investment holding
companies and will have no business operation and assets upon Completion apart from holding the
Property Owners. Upon Completion, each of the Holding Companies and the Property Owners will
become an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and the effective equity interest of
the Company in the Tianjin Project will be 100%.

Among the seven Property Owners, Tianjin Zhongxin Huacheng Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd. and Tianjin Zhongxin Jiaye Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. obtained the state-owned
land use rights certificates for Land Lot No. 11 and Land Lot No. 15 of the Tianjin Project. The
remaining five Property Owners have entered into corresponding supplementary agreements to the
state-owned land use rights grant contract between Tianjin Municipal Planning, Land and Resource
Bureau and Beijing Xin Song Investment Group Limited (details of the grant contract are referenced
in note (1) of Property no. 1 in the property valuation report contained in Appendix I to this
circular). According to the land use rights grant contract and the supplementary agreements, upon
payment of outstanding land premium totalling around RMB1.75 billion (approximately HK$1.68
billion) by the relevant Property Owners, these five Property Owners are entitled to apply for the
state-owned land use rights certificates of the relevant properties with the relevant Land Resource
Bureau within a period of 30 days after such payment. As advised by Guantao Law firm, the PRC
legal adviser to the Group, the certificates will normally be granted within a period of 60 days
from the date of payment of the outstanding land premium. According to the land use rights grant
contract and the supplementary agreements, these five property owners are obligated to pay for the
above-said outstanding land premium on or before 30 August 2006. Guantao Law Firm, the PRC
legal advisers to the Group, also concur with the above view on the amount of outstanding land
premium as well as the procedures for obtaining the land use right certificates.

The Tianjin Project is a residential and commercial property project located at Old Urban
Area, Tianjin City, Nankai District, Tianjin, the PRC which consists of the seven pieces of land
adjacent to each other and owned by the Property Owners, details of which are disclosed under the
paragraph headed “Details of Property Owners” in the “Letter from the Board” of the Circular.
The seven piece of land have an aggregate site area of approximately 343,103 square metres and a
gross floor area of 1.087 million square metres. The aggregate registered capital of the Properties
Owners is RMB150,400,000 (approximately HK$144,315,385).

While the Tianjin Project is collectively defined as a residential and commercial development,
due to the large scale of the project, it is divided into different phases with their own development
timing and use. The intended development plan for the various pieces of land includes office, high-
rise residential, villa, serviced apartment, commercial and other public facilities such as school.

Based on the above, we are of the view that the nature of the Tianjin Project is similar to
other projects of the Group as mentioned in the paragraph headed “Business and financial review
of the Group” above and the entering into of the Agreement corresponds with the overall objective
of the Group and may enhance the future development of the Group.
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4. Consideration and valuation of the Consideration Shares

Basis for determining the Consideration

As at 30 April 2006, the market value of the Property Interests is appraised at

RMB1,750,350,000 (or approximately HK$1,683,028,846 ) by the Valuer. After adjusting

for the net debt of the Property Owners, the net market value of the Property Interests is

valued at HK$1,309,251,846.

The Consideration of HK$845,263,700 represents an acquisition discount of 35.44%

to the net market value of the Property Interests. As stated in the “Letter from the Board” in

the Circular, such discount has been determined after arm’s length negotiation between the

Company and the Vendor as well as by reference to the discount level of comparable PRC

property companies listed in Hong Kong and the PRC at the time of negotiation and the

current market position. Based on the “Letter from the Board” in the Circular, for the five

trading days before the signing of the Agreement, the average discount to the estimated net

asset value of comparable PRC property companies listed in Hong Kong and the PRC (the

“Comparable Companies”) was 34.72%. We note that the Company and its financial adviser

have selected nine listed companies in Hong Kong and the PRC as the Comparable

Companies. We have reviewed the public information of the Comparable Companies and

understand that they are principally engaged in similar business as the Group’s existing

business. Furthermore, we have discussed with the management and the financial adviser of

the Company in respect of the methodology adopted in estimating the net asset value of the

Comparable Companies and the calculation of the average discount and are of the view that

the methodology and basis in arriving such average discount is acceptable.

As discussed with the Valuer, we understand that the properties held under development

in the Tianjin Project are valued by making reference to comparable market transactions in

the localities and have also taken into account the construction costs that will be expended

to complete the developments to reflect the quality of the proposed developments. For those

properties held for future development, they are valued by using the “direct comparison

approach” and by making reference to comparable sales transactions as available in the

market assuming sale of the properties with the benefit of vacant possession.

Having considered that (1) the Consideration is at a discount to the net market value

of the Property Interests and such discount is deeper than the average discount to the

estimated net asset value of the Comparable Companies; and (2) the methodologies adopted

by the Valuer in valuing the Property Interests are in line with market practices, we consider

that the basis for determining the Consideration is fair and reasonable so far as the

Independent Shareholders are concerned.
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Valuation of the Consideration Shares

The Consideration will be satisfied at Completion by the allotment and issue by the

Company to the Vendor (or his nominee) of 1,243,034,853 Consideration Shares at the issue

price of HK$0.68 per Consideration Share. As stated in the “Letter from the Board” in the

Circular, the Issue Price is determined after arm’s length negotiations between the parties

with reference to recent traded price of the Shares and future prospects of the Company.

(a) Comparison with historical trading price of the Shares

The Issue Price represents:

Price/value Premium/

per Share (discount)

approximately approximately

HK$ %

(i) Closing price per Share as quoted on

the Stock Exchange on 23 June 2006,

being the Last Trading Day 0.51 33.33

(ii) Average closing price per Share as quoted

on the Stock Exchange for the last 10 trading

days to and including the Last Trading Day 0.62 9.50

(iii) Average closing price per Share as quoted

on the Stock Exchange for the last 30 trading

days up to and including the Last Trading Day 0.80 (14.68)

(iv) Closing price per Share as quoted on the Stock

Exchange as at  the Latest Practicable Date 0.67 1.49

From the above table, we note that the Issue Price is generally at a premium over the

recent trading price of the Share. We also note that the closing price of the Shares decreased

significantly from HK$0.81 on 7 June 2006 to HK$0.74 on 8 June 2006. As stated in an

announcement from the Company dated 8 June 2006, the Directors are not aware of any

reasons for such movement save as disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated

15 May 2006, 24 May 2006 and 5 June 2006 in relation to the proposed issue of zero

coupon convertible bonus due 2011, the acquisition of 25% equity interest in Beijing New

Shine Land Investment Consultancy Limited and the acquisition of 70% equity interest in

Chongqing China Enterprises Property Development Company Limited respectively.
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(b) Comparison with similar transactions

To assess whether the relevant premium or discount of the Issue Price are fair and

reasonable, we have identified, on our best effort basis, the last 10 transactions (the

“Comparable Transactions”) announced before announcement relating to the Proposed

Acquisitions (the “Announcement”) by the companies listed in Hong Kong that involve (1)

acquisition and (2) allot and issue of shares to satisfy all or part of the consideration.

Premium/(discount) of issue

price over/to closing price or

average closing price immediately

before the suspension of trading

in the shares pending for

the release of announcement

or the date of announcement

Date of Company name

announcement (stock code) Closing price 10 days 30 days

% % %

29/03/2006 Gome Electronical Appliances 0.00 7.48 7.84

 Holding Limited (0493)

24/03/2006 Artfield Group Limited (1229) (7.69) 0.00 43.37

17/02/2006 Technology Venture Holdings 0.00 (3.04) (1.83)

Limited (0061)

01/02/2006 Sino Gas Group Limited (0260) (37.04) (6.90) 15.18

23/12/2005 Vision Grande Group Holdings (20.80) (17.00) (14.98)

Limited (2300)

29/09/2005 The Company (0563) (14.80) (14.80) (8.80)

13/08/2005 Weiqiao Textile Company 2.50 5.29 2.36

Limited (2698)

22/07/2005 Pearl Oriental Enterprises (10.30) (9.10) (5.90)

Limited (0600)

15/07/2005 REXCAPITAL International (2.94) (0.60) (0.60)

Holdings Limited (0155)

04/05/2005 Shanghai Zendai Property 2.00 (2.36) (4.08)

Limited (0755)

Highest 2.50 7.48 43.37

Lowest (37.04) (17.00) (14.98)

28/06/2006 The Company 33.33 9.50 (14.68)
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As shown from the above table, the premium of the Issue Price over the closing price

and the average closing price for the last 10 trading days prior to the Announcement is

higher than those of the Comparable Transactions. We consider that, by issuing the Shares

at a higher premium, the dilution effect to public Shareholders would be lower. We also note

that the discount of the Issue Price to the average closing price for the last 30 trading days

prior to the Announcement falls within the range of that of the Comparable Transactions.

Given the aforementioned, we consider that the Issue Price is favourable to the Independent

Shareholders so far as they are concerned.

(c) Comparison with the Group’s net asset value (“NAV”)

According to the Interim Report 2006, the latest published unaudited consolidated

NAV as at 31 October 2005 amounted to approximately HK$913.2 million. Based on

2,483,632,950 Shares outstanding as at 31 October 2005, the unaudited consolidated NAV

per Share was approximately HK$0.37 per Share. The Issue Price represents a premium of

approximately 83.8% over the unaudited consolidated NAV per Share.

Having considered that the Issue Price is (i) generally at a premium to the recent

historical prices of the Shares; (ii) at a higher premium to the closing price and average

closing price for the last 10 trading days prior to the release of Announcement than those of

the Comparable Transactions and (iii) at a premium to the NAV of the Group, we are of the

view that the Issue Price is fair and reasonable so far as the Independent Shareholders are

concerned.

Alternatives of funding the Proposed Acquisitions

As discussed with the Directors, they have considered alternative methods of funding

the Proposed Acquisitions, such as through debt financing, placing of new shares to

independent investors, and payment by way of cash of the Group. The Directors considered

that debt financing would not be the most appropriate as it would incur additional borrowing

costs to the Group. Placement of new shares to independent investors is subject to market

conditions and it would also incur fund raising costs. Therefore, the Directors considered

that funding the Proposed Acquisitions by issue of shares instead of cash would increase the

Company’s permanent capital and avoid depletion of its cash which would be used for its

business development and working capital purpose. Based on the above, we agree with the

Directors that funding the Proposed Acquisitions by issue of the Consideration Shares is an

acceptable method. Please also refer to our discussion below regarding the dilution effect.
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5. Financial effects of the Proposed Acquisitions on the Group

Net asset value

According to Appendix IV to the Circular, the unaudited pro forma consolidated net

asset value of the Enlarged Group will be increased from approximately HK$913.2 million

as at 31 October 2005 to approximately HK$2,037 million upon Completion, taking into

consideration the assets and liabilities of the Property Owners as at 30 April 2006 and the

pro forma adjustments. The net asset value per Share will decrease slightly from

approximately HK$0.37 per Share, based on 2,483,632,950 Shares outstanding as at 31

October 2005, to approximately HK$0.36 per Share, based on 5,722,374,340 Shares

outstanding upon Completion.

Earnings

According to Appendices III(H) and III(I) to the Circular, we note that the Holding

Companies did not generate any profit so far. Based on our discussions with the management

of the Company and the property valuation report as set out in Appendix I to the Circular,

we also understand that, among seven pieces of land in the Tianjin Project, two of them are

current under development and portion of them has been pre-sold while the other five of

them are parcels of land for future development. Therefore, there is no significant immediate

effect to the earnings of the Group as a result of the Proposed Acquisitions.

Working capital

Given that the Consideration will be satisfied at Completion by the allotment and

issue of the Consideration Shares, no cash outflow will be incurred by the Group upon

Completion. Furthermore, taking into account the financial resources available to the Enlarged

Group, including internally generated funds and the available banking facilities, the Directors

are of the opinion that the Enlarged Group will have sufficient working capital for its

present requirements for at least the next 12 months from the date of publication of the

Circular. Based on the unaudited pro forma balance sheet of the Enlarged Group as set out

in Appendix IV to the Circular, we note that the working capital of the Enlarged Group will

be increased to approximately HK$2,262.2 million upon Completion, taking into consideration

the assets and liabilities of the Property Owners as at 30 April 2006 and the pro forma

adjustments.
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6. Dilution effect to the public Shareholders

The Consideration will be satisfied at Completion by the allotment and issue by the Company

to the Vendor (or his nominee) of 1,243,034,853 Consideration Shares at the issue price of HK$0.68

per Consideration Share. The Consideration Shares represent (i) approximately 27.75% of the

issued share capital of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date and (ii) approximately

21.72% of the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the issue of the Consideration

Shares. The table below sets out the shareholding structure of the Company at the Latest Practicable

Date and immediately after Completion:

Shareholding structure Shareholding structure

as at the immediately after

Latest Practicable Date Completion (Note 1)

Number of Number of

Shareholders Shares held % Shares held %

Invest Gain Limited (Note 2) 2,298,986,537 51.32% 2,298,986,537 40.18%

Mr. Li Song Xiao and concert parties

other than Invest Gain Limited

(Note 3) 12,630,000 0.28% 1,255,664,853 21.94%

2,311,616,537 51.60% 3,554,651,390 62.12%

Public Shareholders 2,167,722,950 48.40% 2,167,722,950 37.88%

Total 4,479,339,487 100.00% 5,722,374,340 100.00%

Notes:

1. Assuming that (a) no Shares will be disposed of by Invest Gain Limited, after the Latest Practicable Date

until the Completion, (b) save for the Consideration Shares that fail to be issued to satisfy the Consideration

under the Proposed Acquisitions.

2. Mr. Li Song Xiao is the ultimate beneficial sole shareholder of Invest Gain Limited.

3. Includes 9,630,000 shares held by Mr. Li and the remaining 3,000,000 shares in the Company pursuant to

the options outstanding under the share option scheme of the Company.
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As shown in the table above, the shareholding of public Shareholders will be diluted from

approximately 48.40% to approximately 37.88% upon Completion. Having considered that (i) the

Proposed Acquisitions corresponds with the overall objective of the Group and may enhance the

future development of the Group; and (ii) by satisfying the Consideration by issue of Consideration

Shares to the Vendor, the Group can preserve the cash position and at the same time strengthen its

equity base, we consider that the benefits of the issue of the Consideration Shares might outweigh

the dilution effect on the shareholdings. Overall, we consider that such dilution effect to public

Shareholders is acceptable so far as the Independent Shareholders are concerned.

RECOMMENDATION

Having considered the above principal factors and reasons, we are of the opinion that the

terms of the Agreement are fair and reasonable and are in the interest of the Company and its

Shareholders as a whole. Accordingly, we advise the Independent Board Committee to advise the

Independent Shareholders to vote in favour of the ordinary resolution to be proposed at the SGM

to approve the Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder

Yours faithfully,

For and on behalf of

First Shanghai Capital Limited

Helen Zee Fanny Lee

Managing Director Director
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The following is the text of a letter, summary of values and valuation certificate, prepared

for the purpose of incorporation in this prospectus and received from Savills Valuation and

Professional Services Limited, an independent property valuer, in connection with their valuations

as at 30 April 2006 of the property interests of the Group.

T: (852) 2801 6100

F: (852) 2530 0756

23/F Two Exchange Square

Central, Hong Kong

EA Licence: C-023750

savills.com

20 July 2006

The Directors

Neo-China Group (Holdings) Limited

Units 1908-09, 19/F

Office Tower, Convention Plaza

1 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Dear Sirs,

In accordance with your instructions for us to value various properties held by various

project companies which are responsible for the developments of various parcels of land located at

Lao Cheng Xiang Area, Nankai District, Tianjin, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

These properties are to be acquired by Neo-China Group (Holdings) Limited (hereinafter referred

to as the “Company”). We confirm that we have carried out inspections, made relevant enquiries

and obtained such further information as we consider necessary for the purpose of providing you

with our opinion of the market value of such properties as at 30 April 2006 (“date of valuation”).

14.6

14A
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Our valuation of each of the property interests is our opinion of its market value which we

would define as intended to mean “the estimated amount for which a property should exchange on

the date of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s-length transaction

after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without

compulsion.”

The market value is the best price reasonably obtainable in the market by the seller and the

most advantageous price reasonably obtainable in the market by the buyer. This estimate specifically

excludes an estimated price inflated or deflated by special terms or circumstances such as atypical

financing, sale and leaseback arrangements, deferred term contracts, joint ventures, management

agreements, special considerations or concessions granted by anyone associated with the sale, or

any element of special value. The market value of a property is also estimated without regard to

costs of sale and purchase, and without offset for any associated taxes.

In valuing the properties in Group I which are held under development, we have valued the

properties on the basis that the properties will be developed and completed in accordance with the

latest development proposals provided to us. We have assumed that approvals for the proposals

have been granted without onerous conditions which would affect the value of the properties. In

arriving at our opinion of value, we have valued by making reference to comparable market

transactions in the localities and have also taken into account the construction costs that will be

expended to complete the developments to reflect the quality of the proposed developments.

In valuing the properties in Group II which are held for future development, we have valued

these properties by using the “Direct Comparison Approach” and by making reference to comparable

sales transactions as available in the market assuming sale of the properties with the benefit of

vacant possession.

We have been provided with copies of extracts of title document relating to the properties,

such as state-owned land use rights certificates, planning permits for construction projects,

commencement permits for construction works, etc. However we have not inspected the original

documents to verify the ownership or to verify any amendments, which may not appear on the

copies handed to us. In the course of our valuation, we have relied to a considerable extent on

information given by you and the legal opinion of your PRC legal adviser, Guantao Law Firm and

have accepted advice given to us on such matters as planning approvals or statutory notices,

easements, tenure, particulars of occupancy, identification of the properties, floor and site areas,

and all other relevant information. Dimensions, measurements and areas included in the valuation

certificate are based on information contained in the documents provided to us and are therefore

only approximations. We have not been able to carry out detailed on-site measurements to verify

the correctness of the site and the floor areas of the properties and we have assumed that the site
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and the floor areas shown on the documents handed to us are correct. We have no reason to doubt

the truth and accuracy of the information provided to us by you which is material to our valuation.

We were also advised by you that no material facts have been omitted from the information

provided.

We have inspected the properties valued. However, we have not carried out investigations

on site to determine the suitability of the ground conditions and services etc. for any future

development. Our valuation is prepared on the assumption that these aspects are satisfactory and

that no extraordinary expenses or delay will be incurred during the construction period.

Moreover, no structural survey has been made, but we did not note any serious defects

during our inspection. We are not, however, able to report that the properties are free from rot,

infestation or any other structural defects. No tests were carried out on any of the services. No

allowance has been made in our valuation for any charges, mortgages or amounts owing on any

property nor for any expenses or taxation that may be incurred in effecting a sale.

In valuing the properties, we have had regard to the requirements set out in Chapter 5 and

Practice Note 12 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities issued by The Stock Exchange

of Hong Kong Limited and Valuation Standards on Properties (First Edition 2005) published by

the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.

Unless otherwise stated, all money amounts stated in our valuation are in Renminbi (“RMB”).

Our summary of values and valuation certificate are attached.

Yours faithfully

For and on behalf of

Savills Valuation and Professional Services Limited

Charles C K Chan

MSc FRICS FHKIS MCIArb RPS(GP)

Managing Director

Note: Charles C K Chan, MSc., F.R.I.C.S., F.H.K.I.S., M.C.I.Arb., R.P.S. (G.P.), has been a qualified valuer and has

about 21 years’ experience in the valuation of properties in Hong Kong and has extensive experience in the

valuation of properties in the PRC and the Asia Pacific regions.
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SUMMARY OF VALUES

Market value in

existing state

Property as at 30 April 2006

RMB

Group I – Properties held under development to be acquired by the Company in the PRC

1. Land Lot No. 11 of Lao Cheng Xiang Area 555,450,000

Nankai District

Tianjin

The PRC

2. Land Lot No. 15 of Lao Cheng Xiang Area 572,340,000

Nankai District

Tianjin

The PRC

Sub-total: 1,127,790,000
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Group II – Properties held for future development to be acquired by the Company in the PRC

3. Land Lot No. 1 of Lao Cheng Xiang Area 103,340,000

Nankai District

Tianjin

The PRC

4. Land Lot No. 2 of Lao Cheng Xiang Area 72,900,000

Nankai District

Tianjin

The PRC

5. Land Lot No. 9 of Lao Cheng Xiang Area 140,600,000

Nankai District

Tianjin

The PRC

6. Land Lot No. 12 of Lao Cheng Xiang Area 160,280,000

Nankai District

Tianjin

The PRC

7. Land Lot No. 13 of Lao Cheng Xiang Area 145,440,000

Nankai District

Tianjin

The PRC

Sub-total: 622,560,000

Total: 1,750,350,000

Market value in

existing state

Property as at 30 April 2006

RMB
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VALUATION CERTIFICATE

Group I – Properties held under development to be acquired by the Company in the PRC

Market value

in existing state

Particulars of as at

Property Description and tenure occupancy 30 April 2006

RMB

1. Land Lot No. 11 of

Lao Cheng Xiang Area

Nankai District

Tianjin

The PRC

The property comprises a parcel
of land with a site area of
approximately 62,866.60 sq m
(676,696 sq ft).

According to the latest
development proposal provided,
the property will be developed
into a residential and
commercial development. Upon
completion, the property will
comprise 8 three-storey
residential buildings, 24 four-
storey office buildings plus
basement, 89 commercial
buildings with a total gross floor
area of approximately 53,231.00
sq m (572,978 sq ft). The
property is scheduled for
completion in or before July
2006.

The breakdown of the uses and
gross floor area of the property
is as follows:

Approximate
Use gross floor area

sq m sq ft

Residential 10,474.00 112,742
Office &
commercial 33,297.00 358,409
Basement 9,460.00 101,827

Total 53,231.00 578,978

The land use rights of the
property have been granted for
respective terms expiring on 29
March 2045, 29 March 2055 and
29 March 2075 for commercial,
office & service apartment,
residential & ancillary facility
uses.

The property is currently

under construction.

As at the date of

valuation, the main frame

structure of the buildings

was completed.

555,450,000
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Notes:

(1) Pursuant to the State-owned Land Use Rights Grant Contract entered into between Tianjin Municipal Planning,

Land and Resource Bureau (hereinafter referred to as “Party A”) and  (Beijing Xin

Song Investment Group Limited) (hereinafter referred to as “Xin Song Group”) dated 6 September 2004 (the

“General Grant Contract”), Party A agreed to grant the land use rights of the land with a site area of 799,285.20

sq m (the “Site”) to Xin Song Group. The General Grant Contract contains, inter alia, the following salient

conditions:

i. Site area : 799,285.20 sq m (Among the site area, 239,786 sq m of the Site is for public

facility use and the remaining portion with an area of 559,499.20 sq m is for

residential use)

ii. Land grant fee : RMB5,020,000,000 (Inclusive of public and ancillary facili ty fee of

RMB461,707,386)

iii. Land use term : 70 years for residential use

and use 50 years for public facility use

(Both terms will commence from the date of issue of respective state-owned land

use rights certificates)

iv. Sub-division : As stipulated in clauses Nos. 9 and 11 of the General Grant Contract, the Site can

be subdivided into smaller parcels of land and developed by various project

companies established by Xin Song Group. The state-owned land use rights

certificates and planning approvals or permits can be processed and registered in

the name of the project companies.

(2) Pursuant to the legal opinion of the Company’s PRC legal adviser and the information provided by the Company,

(Tianjin Zhongxin Huacheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd)

(“Huacheng”), a project company is formed between the parties with salient co-operating conditions cited as

listed below:

Cooperating parties :

and shares (Beijing Xinsong Investment Group Co., Ltd.) (85%)

(Tianjin Zhongxin Jianye Investment Co., Ltd.) (15%)

Period of operation : 20 years from the date of issue of its business licence on 23 September 2004

Registered capital : RMB50,000,000

Profit sharing : According to the share ratio and co-operating conditions

Business scope : Development and sale of real estate and property management
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(3) Pursuant to the Supplementary Agreement regarding Land Lot No. 11 of Jin Nan Dong (Zhao) 2004-024 Hao Di

Kuai 2004-024 to the General Grant Contract dated 22 July 2005, Party A agreed to

grant the land use rights of Land Lot No. 11 to Huacheng. The details of the Supplementary Agreement are,

inter-alia, as follow:

i. Site area : 62,866.60 sq m

ii. Land grant fee : RMB195,100,750

iii. Land use term : 40 years for commercial use

and use 50 years for office & service apartment uses

70 years for residential & ancillary facility uses

(The respective terms will  commence from the date of issue of the

state-owned land use rights certificate)

(4) Pursuant to the State-owned Land Use Rights Certificate No. Nan Dan Guo Yong (2005) No. 039

(2005) 039 issued by the People’s Government of Tianjin dated 29 March 2005, the land use rights of the

property with a site area of approximately 62,866.60 sq m are held by Huacheng for respective terms expiring

on 29 March 2045, 29 March 2055 and 29 March 2075 for commercial, office and service apartment, residential

and ancillary facility uses.

(5) As advised by Huacheng, the total land premium, including land transaction fee, land grant fee and deed tax, is

approximately RMB201,539,074.75. As at the date of valuation, the land premium has been fully settled by

Huacheng.

(6) Pursuant to the Planning Permits of Construction Project No. 2005 Jian Zheng Kai 08 2005 08

dated 25 December 2005 issued by Tianjin Nankai District Planning, Land and Resources Bureau, the approved

construction scale of the property on Land Lot No. 11 is approximately 53,838.81 sq m (whereas 44,081.74

sq m are above ground).

(7) Pursuant to the Commencement of Construction Work Permit No. Jian Shi 1210430200508176

1210430200508176 dated 31 August 2005 issued by Tianjin Municipal Construction Commission, the

construction of the property was permitted to commence from 1 May 2005 and the approved construction scale

of the property is approximately 53,231 sq m (whereas 43,771 sq m are above ground).

(8) According to the information provided by the Huacheng, the total construction cost expended as at the date of

valuation was approximately RMB136,662,282 whereas the total outstanding construction cost was approximately

RMB29,853,318. In the course of our valuation, the outstanding construction cost has been taken into account.

In our opinion, the market value of the development, assuming it was completed as at the date of valuation, was

estimated approximately RMB692,800,000.
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(9) Pursuant to various Pre-sale Permits issued by Tianjin Housing, Land and Resources Administration Bureau, a

total gross floor area of approximately 46,847.48 sq m are permitted to be pre-sold. The said Pre-sale Permits

are as follows:

Pre-sale Permits No. Gross Floor Area Use Issuance Date

 (sq m)

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-001 2,623.41 Office 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-001

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-002 3,316.16 Office 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-002

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-003 1,617.22 Office 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-003

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-004 940.31 Office 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-004

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-005 923.29 Office 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-005

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-006 391.23 Office 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-006

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-007 343.32 Office 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-007

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-008 391.23 Office 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-008

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-009 391.85 Office 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-009

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-010 417.37 Office 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-010

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-011 1,312.91 Office 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-011

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-012 1,312.91 Office 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-012

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-013 1,275.07 Office 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-013

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-014 1,275.07 Office 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-014

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-015 1,334.26 Office 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-015

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-016 5,953.29 Commercial 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-016

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-017 335.07 Commercial 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-017

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-018 454.53 Commercial 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-018

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-019 114.61 Commercial 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-019

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-020 1,548 Commercial 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-020



– 54 –

APPENDIX I PROPERTY VALUATION REPORT

3 r d  P r o o f  •  1 9 / 0 7 / 2 0 0 6  •  N e o - C h i n a  •  0 6 0 7 0 2 1 A p p 1 ( P r o Tr a n s )

Pre-sale Permits No. Gross Floor Area Use Issuance Date

 (sq m)

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-021 686.69 Office 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-021

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-022 1,547.17 Office 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-022

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-023 687.2 Office 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-023

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-024 1,553.01 Office 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-024

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-025 591.48 Office 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-025

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-026 3,332.34 Office 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-026

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-027 1,736.29 Office 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-027

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-028 890.58 Residential 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-028

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-029 787.66 Residential 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-029

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-030 1,025.05 Residential 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-030

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-031 1,245.52 Residential 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-031

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-032 1,282.42 Residential 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-032

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2005) 424-033 1,245.52 Residential 29 October 2005

(2005) 424-033

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2006) 008-001 2,251.06 Residential 29 October 2005

 (2006) 008-001

Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu No. (2006) 008-002 1,714.38 Residential 10 January 2006

 (2006) 008-002

Total: 46,847.48

(10) As advised by Huacheng, portion of the property with a total gross floor area of approximately 2,545.16 sq m

has been pre-sold under various sale and purchase agreements at a total consideration of approximately

RMB39,680,028. Accordingly, we have taken into account the said consideration in our valuation.
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(11) We have been provided with a legal opinion on the title to the property issued by the Company’s PRC legal

adviser, Guantao Law Firm, which contains, inter alia, the following information:

i. The General Grant Contract is legal and valid. Xin Song Group has obtained the land use rights of the Site

through the General Grant Contract.

ii. According to the General Grant Contract, the Site can be subdivided into smaller parcels of land and

developed by respective project companies established by Xin Song Group. The state-owned land use

rights certificates and construction planning approvals and permits can be processed and registered in the

name of respective project companies.

iii. The project company, Huacheng, established for development of Land Lot No. 11, has obtained the State-

owned Land Use Rights Certificate of Land Lot No. 11. The land use rights of the property is held by

Huacheng legally. Accordingly, Huacheng has the right to transfer, lease or mortgage the land use rights

of the property as long as the paid-up investment of the development has reached 25% of the total

investment. As at the issuance date of this legal opinion, there is no outstanding land premium to be

payable in relation to the land use rights of the property

iv. The Planning Permits of Construction Project and the Commencement of Construction Work Permit of the

property have been obtained and the construction of the property has been permitted to be commenced.

v. The Pre-sale Permits of the property have been obtained and the property has been permitted to be pre-

sold.
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Market value

in existing state

Particulars of as at

Property Description and tenure occupancy 30 April 2006

RMB

2. Land Lot No. 15 of

Lao Cheng Xiang Area

Nankai District

Tianjin

The PRC

The property comprises a parcel

of land with a site area of

approximately 38,295.10 sq m

(412,208 sq ft).

According to the latest

development proposal provided,

the property will be developed

into a residential and

commercial development. Upon

completion, the property will

comprise five 18 to 26-storey

residential buildings plus

basement, one 2-storey

residential service building, one

commercial building with total

gross floor area of

approximately 140,100.00 sq m

(1,508,036 sq ft). The property

is scheduled for completion in or

before May 2007.

The breakdown of the uses and

gross floor area of the property

is as follows:

Approximate

Use gross floor area

sq m sq ft

Residential 76,494.00 823,381

Commercial 30,000.00 322,920

Basement 28,651.08 308,400

Ancillary

facility 4,954.92 53,335

Total 140,100.00 1,508,036

The land use rights of the

property have been granted for

two respective terms expiring on

22 August 2045 and 22 August

2075 for commercial and

residential & ancillary facility

uses.

The property is currently

under construction.

572,340,000
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Notes:

(1) Pursuant to the legal opinion of the Company’s PRC legal adviser and the information provided by the Company,

 (Tianjin Zhongxin Jiaye Real Estate Development co., Ltd) (“Jiaye”), a

project company is formed between the parties with salient co-operating conditions cited as listed below:

Cooperating parties and shares :

(Beijing Xinsong Investment Group Co., Ltd.) (85%)

Maxsun Limited (15%)

Period of operation : 20 years from the date of issue of its business licence on 3 June 2005

Registered capital : RMB20,000,000

Profit sharing : According to the share ratio and co-operating conditions

Business scope : Development and sale of real estate and property management

(2) Pursuant to the Supplementary Agreement regarding Land Lot No. 15 of Jin Nan Dong (Zhao) 2004-024 Hao Di

Kuai 2004-024 to the General Grant Contract dated 22 July 2005, Party A agreed to grant

the land use rights of Land Lot No. 15 to Jiaye. The details of the Supplementary Agreement are, inter-alia, as

follow:

i. Site area : 38,295.10 sq m

ii. Land grant fee : RMB284,820,598

iii. Land use term : 40 years for commercial use

and use 70 years for residential & ancillary facility uses

(3) Pursuant to the State-owned Land Use Rights Certificate No. Jin Dan Guo Yong (2006) No. 005

(2006) 005 issued by the People’s Government of Tianjin dated 23 January 2006, the land use rights of the

property with a site area of approximately 38,295.10 sq m are held by Jiaye for two respective terms expiring on

22 August 2045 and 22 August 2075 for commercial and residential & ancillary facility uses.

(4) As advised by Jiaye, the total land premium, including land transaction fee, land grant fee and deed tax, is

approximately RMB294,219,677.73. As at the date of valuation, the outstanding land premium is RMB14,479,350.

In the course of our valuation, we have taken into account the outstanding land premium.

(5) Pursuant to the Planning Permits of Construction Project No. 2006 Nan Kai Zhu Zheng 0004 2006

0004 dated 16 March 2006, the approved construction scale for portion of the property on Land Lot No. 15

is approximately 88,507.09 sq (whereas 77,144 sq m are above ground) .

(6) Pursuant to the Commencement of Construction Work Permit No. Jian Shi 1210420200604047

1210420200604047 dated 18 April 2006 issued by Tianjin Municipal Construction Commission, the construction

of portion of the property on Land Lot No. 15 has been permitted to commence from 4 April 2006 and the

approved construction scale of the property is approximately 53,126 sq m.

(7) According to the information provided by Jiaye, the total construction cost for the property as at the date of

valuation was approximately RMB344,850,897 whereas total outstanding construction cost was approximately

RMB331,779,670. In the course of our valuation, the outstanding construction cost has been taken into account.

In our opinion, the market value of the development, assuming it was completed as at the date of valuation, was

estimated approximately RMB1,162,890,000.
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(8) Pursuant to the Pre-sale Permits No. Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu Zi (2006) 111-001 (2006)

111-001 issued by Tianjin Housing, Land and Resources Administration Bureau dated 2 April 2006, a total

gross floor area of approximately 13,509.25 sq m of portion of the property was permitted to be pre-sold.

(9) Pursuant to the Pre-sale Permits No. Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu Zi (2006) No. 111-002 (2006)

111-002 issued by Tianjin Housing, Land and Resources Administration Bureau dated 2 April 2006, a total

gross floor area of approximately 12,290.98 sq m of portion of the property was permitted to be pre-sold.

(10) Pursuant to the Pre-sale Permits No. Jin Guo Tu Fang Shou Xu Zi (2006) No. 111-003 (2006)

111-003 issued by Tianjin Housing, Land and Resources Administration Bureau dated 2 April 2006, a total

gross floor area of approximately 18,260.49 sq m of portion of the property was permitted to be pre-sold.

(11) As advised by Jiaye, portion of the property with a total gross floor area of approximately 36,977.76 sq m has

been pre-sold under various sale and purchase agreements at a total consideration of approximately

RMB252,421,916. Accordingly, we have taken into account the said consideration in our valuation.

(12) We have been provided with a legal opinion on the title to the property issued by the Company’s PRC legal

adviser, Guantao Law Firm, which contains, inter alia, the following information:

i. The General Grant Contract is legal and valid. Xin Song Group has obtained the land use rights of the Site

through the General Grant Contract.

ii. According to the General Grant Contract, the Site can be subdivided into smaller parcels of land and

developed by respective project companies established by Xin Song Group. The state-owned land use

rights certificates and construction planning approvals and permits can be processed and registered in the

name of the project companies.

iii. The project company, Jiaye, established for development of Land Lot No. 15, has obtained the State-

owned Land Use Rights Certificate of Land Lot No. 15. The land use rights of the property is held by

Jiaye legally. Accordingly, Jiaye has the right to transfer, lease or mortgage the land use rights of the

property as long as the paid-up investment of the development has reached 25% of the total investment.

iv. The Planning Permits of Construction Project and the Commencement of Construction Work Permit of the

property have been obtained and the construction of the property has been permitted to commence.

v. The Pre-sale Permits of the property have been obtained and the property has been permitted to be pre-

sold.
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Group II – Properties held for future development to be acquired by the Company in PRC

Market value

in existing state

Particulars of as at

Property Description and tenure occupancy 30 April 2006

RMB

3. Land Lot No. 1 of Lao

Cheng Xiang Area

Nankai District

Tianjin

The PRC

The property comprises a parcel

of land with a site area of

approximately 55,423.40 sq m

(596,577 sq ft).

According to the latest

development proposal provided,

the property will be developed

into a composite development.

Upon completion, the property

will provide a total gross floor

area of approximately 237,700

sq m (2,558,603 sq ft).

The breakdown of the uses and

gross floor areas of the property

is as follows:

Approximate

Use gross floor area

sq m sq ft

Residential 83,440.00 898,148

Office 146,500.00 1,576,926

Ancillary

facility 7,760.00 83,529

Total 237,700.00 2,558,603

The land use rights of the

property have been granted for

two respective terms of 50 and

70 years for office & service

apartment, residential &

ancillary facility uses.

The property is currently

a vacant site.

103,340,000
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Notes:

(1) Pursuant to the legal opinion of the Company’s PRC legal adviser and the information provided by the Company,

 (Tianjin Zhongxin Huaan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd) (“Hua An”),

a project company is formed between the parties with salient co-operating conditions cited as listed below:

Cooperating parties and shares :

(Beijing Xinsong Investment Group Co., Ltd.) (85%)

Joyful Fortune Limited (15%)

Period of operation : 20 years from the date of issue of its business licence on 3 June 2005

Registered capital : RMB20,000,000

Profit sharing : According to the share ratio and co-operating conditions

Business scope : Development and sale of real estate and property management

(2) Pursuant to the Supplementary Agreement regarding Land Lot No. 1 of Jin Nan Dong (Zhao) 2004-024 Hao Di

Kuai 2004-024 to the General Grant dated 22 July 2005, Party A agreed to grant the land

use rights of Land Lot No. 1 to Hua An. The details of the Supplementary Agreement are, inter-alia, as follows:

i. Site area : 55,423.40 sq m

ii. Land grant fee : RMB463,476,218.33

iii. Land use term : 50 years for office & services apartment uses

and use 70 years residential & ancillary facility uses

(Both terms will commence from the date of issue of the state-owned land use

rights certificate)

(3) As advised by Xin Song Group, the total land premium, including land transaction fee, land grant fee and deed

tax, is approximately RMB478,770,933.60. As at the date of valuation, the outstanding land premium is

RMB468,110,980.58. In the course of our valuation, we have taken into account the outstanding land premium.

(4) We have been provided with a legal opinion on the title to the property issued by the Company’s PRC legal

adviser, Guantao Law Firm, which contains, inter alia, the following information:

i. The General Grant Contract is legal and valid. Xin Song Group has obtained the land use rights of the Site

through the General Grant Contract.

ii. According to the General Grant Contract, the Site can be subdivided into smaller parcels of land and

developed by respective project companies established by Xin Song Group. The state-owned land use

rights certificates and construction planning approvals and permits can be processed and registered in the

name of the project companies.

iii. The project company, Hau An, established for development of Land Lot No. 1, has the right to transfer,

lease or mortgage the land use rights of the property as long as the paid-up investment of the development

has reached 25% of the total investment.
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Market value

in existing state

Particulars of as at

Property Description and tenure occupancy 30 April 2006

RMB

4. Land Lot No. 2 of Lao

Cheng Xiang Area

Nankai District

Tianjin

The PRC

The property comprises a parcel

of land with a site area of

approximately 77,155.90 sq m

(830,506 sq ft).

According to the latest

development proposal provided,

the property will be developed

into a commercial development.

Upon completion, the property

will provide a total gross floor

area of approximately 72,400

sq m (779,314 sq ft). From the

information provided, portion of

the property will be developed

into a school with a gross floor

area of approximately 39,600

sq m (426,254 sq ft).

The breakdown of the uses and

gross floor areas of the property

is as follows:

Approximate

Use gross floor area

sq m sq ft

Public (school)* 39,600 426,254

Commercial 32,800 353,060

Total 72,400 779,314

* please refer to note (2)

below.

The land use rights of the

property have been granted for a

term of 40 years for commercial

use.

The property is currently

a vacant site.

72,900,000
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Notes:

(1) Pursuant to the legal opinion of the Company’s PRC legal adviser and the information provided by the Company,

 (Tianjin Zhongxin Binhai Real Estate Development Co., Ltd) (“Binhai”),

a project company is formed between the parties with salient co-operating conditions cited as listed below:

Cooperating parties and shares :

(Tianjin Zhongxin Jianye Investment Co., Ltd.) (15%)

Capital Team Investments Limited (85%)

Period of operation : 20 years  f rom the  date  of  i ssue  of  i t s  business  l icence on

9 December 2004

Registered capital : HK$10,000,000

Profit sharing : According to the share ratio and co-operating conditions

Business scope : Development and sale of real estate and property management

(2) Pursuant to the Supplementary Agreement regarding Land Lot No. 2 of Jin Nan Dong (Zhao) 2004-024 Hao Di

Kuai 2004-024 to the General Grant Contract 22 July 2005, Party A agreed to grant the

land use rights of Land Lot No. 2 to Binhai. The details of the Supplementary Agreement are, inter-alia, as

follows:

i. Site area : 77,155.90 sq m

ii. Land grant fee : RMB223,372,320.75

iii. Land use term : 40 years for commercial use

and use (The term will commence from the date of issue of the state-owned land use

rights certificate)

According to the Supplementary Agreement and the legal opinion of the Company’s PRC legal adviser, portion

of the land will be allocated for public and municipal facility uses and be developed into a school with a gross

floor area of approximately 39,600 sq m and the construction cost of the school will be borne by 

(Tianjin Municipal Education Committee),  (the People’s Government of Nankai District) and

 (Tianjin Municipal Construction and Investment Company.

(3) As advised by Binhai, the total land premium, including land transaction fee, land grant fee and deed tax, is

approximately RMB230,743,607.33. As at the date of valuation, the outstanding land premium is

RMB225,606,043.96. In the course of our valuation, we have taken into account the outstanding land premium.

(4) According to note (2) above, the valuation of the school has been excluded in our valuation.
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(5) We have been provided with a legal opinion on the title to the property issued by the Company’s PRC legal

adviser, Guantao Law Firm, which contains, inter alia, the following information:

i. The General Grant Contract is legal and valid. Xin Song Group has obtained the land use rights of the Site

through the General Grant Contract.

ii. According to the General Grant Contract, the Site can be subdivided into smaller parcels of land and

developed by respective project companies established by Xin Song Group. The state-owned land use

rights certificates and construction planning approvals and permits can be processed and registered in the

name of the project companies.

iii. The project company, Binhai, established for development of Land Lot No. 2, has the right to transfer,

lease or mortgage the land use rights of the property as long as the paid-up investment of the development

has reached 25% of the total investment.
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Market value

in existing state

Particulars of as at

Property Description and tenure occupancy 30 April 2006

RMB

5. Land Lot No. 9 of Lao

Cheng Xiang Area

Nankai District

Tianjin

The PRC

The property comprises a parcel

of land with a site area of

41,107.10 sq m (442,476 sq ft).

According to the latest

development proposal provided,

the property will be developed

into a residential development.

Upon completion, the property

will provide a total gross floor

area of approximately 200,900

sq m (2,162,488 sq ft).

The breakdown of the uses and

gross floor areas of the property

is as follows:

Approximate

Use gross floor area

sq m sq ft

Residential 43,000 462,852

Office & service

apartment 157,900 1,699,636

Total 200,900 2,162,488

The land use rights of the

property have been granted for

two respective terms of 50 and

70 years for office & service

apartment and residential &

ancillary facility uses.

The property is currently

a vacant site.

140,600,000
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Notes:

(1) Pursuant to the legal opinion of the Company’s PRC legal adviser and the information provided by the Company,

 (Tianjin Zhongxin Xinjie Real Estate Development Co., Ltd) (“Xinjie”),

a project company is formed between the parties with salient co-operating conditions cited as listed below:

Cooperating parties and shares :

(Beijing Xinsong Investment Group Co., Ltd.) (85%)

Eastern Winway Limited (15%)

Period of operation : 20 years from the date of issue of its business licence on 30 August 2005

Registered capital : RMB20,000,000

Profit sharing : According to the share ratio and co-operating conditions

Business scope : Development and sale of real estate and property management

(2) Pursuant to the Supplementary Agreement regarding Land Lot No. 9 of Jin Nan Dong (Zhao) 2004-024 Hao Di

Kuai 2004-024 to the General Grant Contract dated 22 July 2005, Party A agreed to grant

the land use rights of Land Lot No. 9 to Xinjie. The details of the Supplementary Agreement are, inter-alia, as

follow:

i. Site area : 41,107.10 sq m

ii. Land grant fee : RMB388,473,147.06

iii. Land use term : 50 years for office & service apartment uses

and use 70 years for residential & ancillary facility uses

(Both terms will commence from the date of issue of the state-owned land use

rights certificate)

(3) As advised by Xinjie, the total land premium, including land transaction fee, land grant fee and deed tax, is

approximately RMB401,292,760.91. As at the date of valuation, the outstanding land premium is

RMB392,623,024.97. In the course of our valuation, we have taken into account the outstanding land premium.

(4) We have been provided with a legal opinion on the title to the property issued by the Company’s PRC legal

adviser, Guantao Law Firm, which contains, inter alia, the following information:

i. The General Grant Contract is legal and valid. Xin Song Group has obtained the land use rights of the Site

through the General Grant Contract.

ii. According to the General Grant Contract, the Site can be subdivided into smaller parcels of land and

developed by respective project companies established by Xin Song Group. The state-owned land use

rights certificates and construction planning approvals and permits can be processed and registered in the

name of the project companies.

iii. The project company, Xinjie, established for development of Land Lot No. 9, has the rights to transfer,

lease or mortgage the land use rights of the property as long as the paid-up investment of the development

has reached 25% of the total investment.
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Market value

in existing state

Particulars of as at

Property Description and tenure occupancy 30 April 2006

RMB

6. Land Lot No. 12 of

Lao Cheng Xiang Area

Nankai District

Tianjin

The PRC

The property comprises a parcel

of land with a site area of

approximately 25,866.00 sq m

(278,422 sq ft).

According to the latest

development proposal provided,

the property will be developed

into a composite development

with office and service

apartment. Upon completion, the

property will provide a total

gross floor area of

approximately 153,200 sq m

(1,649,045 sq ft).

The breakdown of the uses and

gross floor areas of the property

is as follows:

Approximate

Use gross floor area

sq m sq ft

Office & service

apartment 152,940 1,646,246

Ancillary

facilities 260 2,799

Total 153,200 1,649,045

The land use rights of the

property have been granted for

two respective terms of 50 and

70 years for office & service

apartment and residential &

ancillary facility uses.

The property is currently

a vacant site.

160,280,000
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Notes:

(1) Pursuant to the legal opinion of the Company’s PRC legal adviser and the information provided by the Company,

 (Tianjin Zhongxin Mingshi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd) (“Mingshi”),

a project company is formed between the parties with salient co-operating conditions cited as listed below:

Cooperating parties and shares :

(Beijing Xinsong Investment Group Co., Ltd.) (85%)

Reliapoint Limited (15%)

Period of operation : 20 years from the date of issue of its business licence on 3 June 2005

Registered capital : RMB20,000,000

Profit sharing : According to the share ratio and co-operating conditions

Business scope : Development and sale of real estate and property management

(2) Pursuant to the Supplementary Agreement regarding Land Lot No. 12 of Jin Nan Dong (Zhao) 2004-024 Hao Di

Kuai 2004-024 to the General Grant Contract dated 22 July 2005, Party A agreed to grant

the land use rights of Land Lot No. 12 to Mingshi. The details of the Supplementary Agreement of Land Lot No.

12 are, inter-alia, as follow:

i. Site area : 25,866.00 sq m

ii. Land grant fee : RMB310,455,451.12

iii. Land use term : 50 years for office & service apartment uses

and use 70 years for residential & ancillary facility uses

(Both terms will commence from the date of issue of the state-owned land use

rights certificate)

(3) As advised by Mingshi, the total land premium, including land transaction fee, land grant fee and deed tax, is

approximately RMB320,700,480.99. As at the date of valuation, the outstanding land premium is

RMB313,791,299.62. In the course of our valuation, we have taken into account the outstanding land premium.

(4) We have been provided with a legal opinion on the title to the property issued by the Company’s PRC legal

adviser, Guantao Law Firm, which contains, inter alia, the following information:

i. The General Grant Contract is legal and valid. Xin Song Group has obtained the land use rights of the Site

through the General Grant Contract.

ii. According to the General Grant Contract, the Site can be subdivided into smaller parcels of land and

developed by respective project companies established by Xin Song Group. The state-owned land use

rights certificates and construction planning approvals and permits can be processed and registered in the

name of the project companies.

iii. The project company, Mingshi, established for development of Land Lot No. 12, has the rights to transfer,

lease or mortgage the land use rights of the property as long as the paid-up investment of the development

has reached 25% of the total investment.
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Market value

in existing state

Particulars of as at

Property Description and tenure occupancy 30 April 2006

RMB

7. Land Lot No. 13 of

Lao Cheng Xiang Area,

Nankai District

Tianjin

The PRC

The property comprises a parcel

of land with a site area of

52,299.40 sq m (562,951 sq ft).

According to the latest

development proposal provided,

the property will be developed

into a residential development.

Upon completion, the property

will provide a total gross floor

area of approximately 229,100

sq m (2,466,032 sq ft).

The breakdown of the uses and

gross floor areas of the property

is as follows:

Approximate

Use gross floor area

sq m sq ft

Residential 169,162 1,820,860

Office & service

apartment 59,938 645,173

Total 229,100 2,466,032

The land use rights of the

property have been granted for

two respective terms of 50 and

70 years for office & service

apartment and residential &

ancillary facility uses.

The property is currently

a vacant site.

145,440,000
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Notes:

(1) Pursuant to the legal opinion of the Company’s PRC legal adviser and the information provided by the Company,

 (Tianjin Xinrun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd) (“Xinrun”), a project company

is formed between the parties with salient co-operating conditions cited as listed below:

Cooperating parties and shares :

(Beijing Xinrun Investment Co., Ltd) (85%)

(Tianjin Zhongxin Jianye Investment Co., Ltd.) (15%)

Period of operation : 20 years from the date of issue of its business licence on 5 April 2005

Registered capital : RMB10,000,000

Profit sharing : According to the share ratio and co-operating conditions

Business scope : Development and sale of real estate and property management

(2) Pursuant to the Supplementary Agreement regarding Land Lot No. 13 of Jin Nan Dong (Zhao) 2004-024 Hao Di

Kuai 2004-024 to the General Grant Contract dated 22 July 2005, Party A agreed to grant

the land use rights of Land Lot No. 13 to Xinrun. The details of the Supplementary Agreement are, inter-alia, as

follow:

i. Site area : 52,299.40 sq m

ii. Land grant fee : RMB487,592,022.88

iii. Land use term : 50 years for office & service apartment uses

and use 70 years for residential & ancillary facility uses

(Both terms will commence from the date of issue of the state-owned land use

rights certificate)

(3) As advised by Xinrun, the total land premium, including land transaction fee, land grant fee and deed tax, is

approximately RMB503,682,559.64. As at the date of valuation, the outstanding land premium is

RMB403,417,290.64. In the course of our valuation, we have taken into account the outstanding land premium.

(4) We have been provided with a legal opinion on the title to the property issued by the Company’s PRC legal

adviser, Guantao Law Firm, which contains, inter alia, the following information:

i. The General Grant Contract is legal and valid. Xin Song Group has obtained the land use rights of the Site

through the General Grant Contract.

ii. According to the General Grant Contract, the Site can be subdivided into smaller parcels of land and

developed by respective project companies established by Xin Song Group. The state-owned land use

rights certificates and construction planning approvals and permits can be processed and registered in the

name of the project companies.

iii. The project company, Xinrun, established for development of Land Lot No. 13, has the right to transfer,

lease or mortgage the land use rights of the property as long as the paid-up investment of the development

has reached 25% of the total investment.
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A. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

Set out below is an extract from the audited financial statements of the Group for the three

years ended 30 April 2003, 2004 and 2005.

For the year ended

30 April

2005 2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover 476,472 654 522

Profit (loss) before taxation 338,687 (14,665) (24,020)

Taxation (77,037) 15,288 1,354

Profit (loss) before minority interests 261,650 623 (22,666)

Minority interests (81,199) 9,125 2,355

Profit (loss) attributable to shareholders 180,451 9,748 (20,311)

Dividends 54,640 – –

Dividends per share 2.2 cents – –

Earning (loss) per share

– Basic 9.4 cents 0.51 cents (2.32 cents)

– Diluted 8.55 cents 0.51 cents (2.32 cents)

At as 30 April

2005 2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets and liabilities

Total assets 1,889,143 498,515 308,112

Total liabilities (1,083,190) (193,334) (32,922)

Minority interests (232,448) (17,976) (27,062)

Shareholders’ funds 573,505 287,205 248,128
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B. UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 31
OCTOBER 2005

The unaudited consolidated results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”) for the six months ended 31 October 2005, together with the comparative figures for the
corresponding period in the prior year were as follows:

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the six months ended 31 October 2005

Six months ended
31.10.2005 31.10.2004

(Unaudited) (Unaudited
and

as restated)
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover 3 32,749 593,562
Cost of sales (12,144) (478,268)

Gross profit 20,605 115,294

Other revenue 21,561 91
Selling expenses (13,425) (3,198)
Administrative expenses (10,699) (7,114)
Finance costs (4,075) (5)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 125,018 100,967
Share of (losses) profit of associates (2,945) 11,699

Profit before taxation 136,040 217,734
Taxation 4 (4,269) (36,712)

Profit for the period 5 131,771 181,022

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 127,004 133,111
Minority interests 4,767 47,911

131,771 181,022

Dividends 6 37,254 –

EARNINGS PER SHARE 7
Basic 5.11 cents 6.41 cents

Diluted 4.55 cents 6.41 cents
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

At 31 October 2005

30.4.2005

31.10.2005 (Audited and

(Unaudited) as restated)

HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 4,921 4,188

Interest in associates 570,817 389,908

Pledged bank deposits 56,807 41,926

632,545 436,022

Current Assets

Properties held for sale 7,143 13,402

Properties under development 1,465,527 1,046,079

Trade and other receivables 190,430 323,992

Bank balances and cash 204,536 69,648

1,867,636 1,453,121

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 187,548 358,904

Advances from customers 504,759 280,768

Dividend payable 36,272 –

Amounts due to related companies 70,268 43,038

Amount due to a shareholder 32,175 7,298

Taxation payable 114,861 126,001

Loan payable 69,065 –

Secured bank borrowings – 93,604

1,014,948 909,613

Net Current Assets 852,688 543,508

Total Assets less Current Liabilities 1,485,233 979,530
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Capital and Reserves

Share capital 24,836 24,836

Share premium and reserves 651,156 562,345

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 675,992 587,181

Minority interests 237,215 232,448

Total Equity 913,207 819,629

Non-Current Liabilities

Loan payable – 69,065

Secured bank borrowings 477,115 –

Convertible note 94,911 90,836

572,026 159,901

1,485,233 979,530

30.4.2005

31.10.2005 (Audited and

(Unaudited) as restated)

HK$’000 HK$’000
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the six months ended 31 October 2005

1. BASIS OF PREPARATION

The condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance

with the applicable disclosure requirements of Appendix 16 to the Rules Governing the

Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and

with Hong Kong Accounting Standard 34 (“HKAS 34”) Interim financial reporting.

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the

historical cost basis. The accounting policies used in the condensed consolidated financial

statements are consistent with those followed in the preparation of the Group’s annual

financial statements for the year ended 30 April 2005, except as described below.

In the current period, the Group has applied, for the first time, a number of new Hong

Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), Hong Kong Accounting Standards

(“HKASs”) and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as “new HKFRSs” issued

by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants that are effective for accounting

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005. The application of the new HKFRSs has

resulted in a change in the presentation of the income statement, balance sheet and the

statement of changes in equity. In particular, the presentation of minority interests and share

of tax of associates have been changed. The changes in presentation have been applied

retrospectively. The adoption of the new HKFRSs has resulted in changes to the Group’s

accounting policies in the following areas that have an effect on how the results for the

current or prior accounting periods are prepared and presented:

Goodwill

In previous periods, goodwill arising on acquisitions was capitalised and

amortised on a straight-line basis over a period of not exceeding 20 years and was

assessed for the impairment at each balance sheet date whenever there is an indication

for impairment.

In accordance with the provisions of HKFRS 3,

– goodwill arising from a business combination, for which the agreement

date is on or after 1 May 2004, is carried at cost less any accumulated

impairment losses;
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– the Group cease amortisation of goodwill prospectively from 1 May

2004;

– accumulated amortisation as at 30 April 2004 has been eliminated with a

corresponding decrease in the cost of goodwill; and

– from the year ended 30 April 2005 onwards, goodwill is tested annually

for impairment or in the financial year in which acquisitions take place,

as well as when there are indications of impairment.

As a result of this change in accounting policy, no amortisation of goodwill

has been charged in the current period and comparative figures for period ended 31

October 2004 have been restated.

Convertible note

HKAS 32 requires an issuer of a compound financial instrument (that contains

both financial liability and equity components) to separate the compound financial

instrument into its liability and equity components on its initial recognition and to

account for these components separately. In subsequent periods, the liability component

is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The principle impact

of HKAS 32 on the Group is in relation to convertible note issued by the Company

that contain both liability and equity components. Previously, convertible note was

classified as liability on the balance sheet. Because HKAS32 requires retrospective

application, comparative figures have been restated. Comparative profit for the year

ended 30 April 2005 has been restated in order to reflect the increase in effective

interest on the liability component (see Note 2A for the financial impact).
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2A. SUMMARY OF THE EFFECTS OF THE CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

The effects of the changes in the accounting policies described above on the results

for the current and prior period are as follows:

Six months ended

31.10.2005 31.10.2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Decrease in amortisation of goodwill – 10,550

Increase in interest on the liability component of

convertible note (3,555) –

(Decrease) increase in profit for the period (3,555) 10,550

The cumulative effects of the application of the new HKFRSs as at 30 April 2005 and

1 May 2005 are summarised below:

As at

As at 30 April 2005

30 April 2005 and 1 May 2005

(originally stated) Adjustment (As restated)

HK$’000 HK’000 HK$’000

Balance sheet items

Trade and other payables 359,416 (512) 358,904

Convertible note 104,000 (13,164) 90,836

Total effects on assets and liabilities 463,416 (13,676) 449,740

Share premium 118,961 (13,819) 105,142

Convertible note equity reserve – 30,960 30,960

Retained earnings 61,334 (3,465) 57,869

Minority interests – 232,448 232,448

Total effects on equity 180,295 246,124 426,419

Minority interest 232,448 (232,448) –

412,743 13,676 426,419
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Other presentation changes include:

a. In prior years, attributable share of results and net assets by minority interests

were presented as a deduction from the Group’s results and net assets for

arriving at the attributable share of the Company’s shareholders. Pursuant to

the new HKFRSs, minority interests are presented as part of equity. Presentation

of the condensed consolidated financial statements and comparative figures are

adjusted accordingly.

b. The Group’s share of results of associates is net of tax. Previously, this is

shown at gross according to the applicable accounting standards. Presentation

of the condensed consolidated financial statements and comparative figures are

adjusted accordingly.

3. TURNOVER AND BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS

Turnover

Turnover represents amounts received and receivable for properties sold by the

Group to outside customers and services rendered is summarized as follows:

Six months ended

31.10.2005 31.10.2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Sales of properties 32,749 593,025

Provision of property management

consultancy services – 537

32,749 593,562

Business Segments

For management purposes, the Group is now principally engaged in property

development and investment in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). Accordingly,

no business segment analysis is presented for the six months ended 31 October 2005

and six months ended 31 October 2004.
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Geographical segments

Over 90% of the activities of the Group during the six months ended 31 October

2005 and six months ended 31 October 2004 were carried out in the PRC and over

90% of the assets of the Group were located in the PRC. Accordingly, no geographical

analysis is presented.

4. TAXATION

Six months ended

31.10.2005 31.10.2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

The tax charge comprises:

Current tax of a PRC subsidiary 4,269 36,712

No provision for Hong Kong profit tax has been made in the condensed consolidated

financial statements as the Group did not derive any assessable profit arising in Hong Kong

for the both periods.

The subsidiaries and associates established in the PRC are subject to enterprise income

tax on its taxable income at the rate of 33%.
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5. PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD

Profit for the period has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

Six months ended

31.10.2005 31.10.2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 523 339

Interest on:

Bank borrowings wholly repayable within five years 11,782 8,669

Convertible note 4,075 –

15,857 8,669

Less: Amount capitalized under properties

under development (11,782) (8,664)

4,075 5

Interest income (18,478) (91)

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (125,018) (100,967)

6. DIVIDENDS

On 27 September 2005, a dividend of HK2.2 cents per share (2004: Nil) was declared

to shareholders as the final dividend for year ended 30 April 2005. Dividends of

HK$53,640,000 were paid to shareholders up to the date of this report.

The directors have determined that an interim dividend of HK1.5 cents per share (six

months ended 31 October 2004: Nil) should be paid to the shareholders of the Company

whose names appear in the Register of Members on 10 February 2006.
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7. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share for the periods is based on

the following data:

Six months ended

31.10.2005 31.10.2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Earnings:

Profit for the period and earnings for the purpose of

basic earnings per share (profit for the period

attributable to equity holders

of the parent) 127,004 133,111

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:

Interest on convertible note 4,075 –

Earnings for the purposes of diluted earnings per share 131,079 133,111

Number of shares:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for

the purpose of basic earnings per share 2,483,632,950 2,075,940,643

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:

Convertible note 400,000,000 –

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for

the purposes of diluted earnings per share 2,883,632,950 2,075,940,643
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8. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

The net assets of the disposed subsidiaries at the date of disposal were as follows:

Six months ended

31.10.2005 31.10.2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Net assets disposed of 89,982 22,254

Released of reserves upon disposal:

– Capital reserve – (221)

89,982 22,033

Gain on disposal 125,018 100,967

Total consideration, satisfied by:

Cash consideration 180,000 123,000

Deferred consideration 35,000 –

215,000 123,000

The deferred consideration of HK$35,000,000 was received by the Group as at the

date of this report.

The disposed subsidiaries did not make any significant contribution to the results or

cash flows of the Group during the interim period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Business Review and future prospects

For the six months ended 31 October 2005, the Group achieved an unaudited profit

attributable to shareholders of HK$127 million. As at 31 October 2005, the Group’s net

asset value was HK$913 million and had a net asset value per share of HK$0.37. The

Group’s total assets and liabilities were HK$2,500 million and HK$1,587 million respectively.

During the six months ended 31 October 2005, the Board has successfully implemented

a comprehensive turnaround strategies to enhance the financial and operational growth of

the Group.

Apart from the existing significant investments held by the Group (as outlined below),

the board is proactively appraising various investment opportunities to explore high potential

investments and attractive business opportunities in the main cities of the PRC, such as

Beijing, Shanghai, Shenzhen and Tianjing, etc.

The existing significant investments held by the Group as at the interim reporting

date ended 31 October 2005 are briefly outlined below:–

(i) American Rock Property Project:

The property project “American Rock” is situated in No.16 Baiziwan Road,

Chaoyang District, Beijing, the PRC and is adjacent to the central business district of

Beijing which is a major financial and commercial center in Beijing. The project’s

total gross floor area is over 500,000 sq.m. and the development of the whole project

is divided into two phases (I and II) which are sub-divided into four zones (Zones A,

B, C and D). The Company currently holds 45% equity interest in Beijing Jin Ma

Wen Hua Yuen Properties Development Company Limited (“American Rock JV”)

which holds 100% interest in American Rock Property Project.
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The estimated total investment cost of the project is approximately RMB2.1

billion. As at 31 October 2005, the number of units, number of units sold and pre-

sold of the project were as follows:–

Number of

units sold and Remaining

occupied by Number of number of

Total their owners units pre-sold unsold units

number as at 31 as at 31 as at 31

of units October 2005 October 2005 October 2005

Phase I (Zone A)

– Residential units 1,219 1,215 0 4

– Commercial units 35 35 0 0

– Carpark 247 3 0 244

Phase II (Zone B)

– Residential units 1,097 1,092 0 5

– Commercial units 64 64 0 0

Phase II (Zone C)

– Residential units 1,037 0 286 751

Phase II (Zone D)

– Residential units 926 0 809 117

Total 4,625 2,409 1,095 1,121

Zones A and B were completed in December 2003 and September 2004

respectively. The pre-sale permits for Zone D were obtained in December 2004 and

March 2005. It is expected that the construction and decoration work of Zones C and

D will be completed on or before February 2007 and December 2006 respectively.

The pre-sale permit for Zone C was obtained in August 2005 and approximately 28%

of the units were pre-sold up to 31 October 2005.
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(ii) Phoenix Tower Property Project:

The property project “Phoenix Tower” is situated in the central district of

Futian District, Shenzhen, the PRC. “Phoenix Tower” is planned to develop into a

complex of office building, service apartment and shopping arcade with a gross floor

area of approximately 106,000 sq.m. The project is now under construction and is

expected to complete on or before December 2006. The pre-sales of “Phoenix Tower”

was started in November 2005 and up to 8 December 2005, 101 units (about 15,181

sq.m.) of residential apartments were pre-sold. The pre-sale is expected to recognised

as revenue for the year ending 30 April 2007.

In order to further enhance the Group’s existing strength in its core business

and to broaden the Group’s array of business in the sector, on 15 September 2005, the

Company’s wholly owned subsidiary entered into two acquisition agreements to acquire

the interests of two property projects from Mr. Li Song Xiao (the ultimate controlling

shareholder of the Company) (“Mr. Li”) . These two acquisitions constitute a very

substantial acquisitions and connected transactions under the Listing Rules. The special

general meeting in relation to these acquisitions will be held on 7 February 2006 for

independent shareholders’ approval. The basic information of these two property

projects are outlined below:–

(1) American Rock Property Project

The consideration for further acquiring a 40% share interest in the

American Rock JV which holds 100% interest of the property project “American

Rock” is HK$259,595,000, which is to be satisfied at the completion by the

allotment and issue by the Company to Mr. Li of 499,221,153 consideration

shares. As mentioned above, the Company currently holds 45% interest in

American Rock JV. Upon completion of the acquisition, the American Rock

JV will become a 85% interest subsidiary of the Company, and the Company

will further consolidate the effective equity interest in the American Rock JV

from 45% to 85%.
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(2) Youngman Point Property Project

The property project “Youngman Point” is situated in No. 2 Ganluyuan,

Zhongli, Qingnian Road, Chaoyang District, Beijing, the PRC. The project’s

total gross floor area is over 300,000 sq.m. As at 31 October 2005, the number

of units, number of units sold and pre-sold of the project were as follows:–

Remaining

Number of number of

units pre-sold unsold units

Total number as at 31 as at 31

of units October 2005 October 2005

Phase I

– Residential units 1,587 1,544 43

– Commercial units 25 3 22

Total 1,612 1,547 65

The development of “Youngman Point” Project is divided into 2 phases

(Phase I and Phase II). The expected completion date of Phase I is April 2006

and that of Phase II is December 2007. The whole “Youngman Point” Project

is still under construction. The pre-sale permits for Phase I were obtained in

June to August 2004 and May 2005. The contracted amounts from those pre-

sales units amounted to approximately RMB633 million (or approximately

HK$609 million) of which approximately RMB619 million (or approximately

HK$595 million) was paid in cash as at 31 October 2005. The total area of

residential units pre-sold as at 31 October 2005 was about 115,937 sq.m. and

the corresponding pre-sales amount was about RMB626 million. The average

selling price of residential units is about RMB5,400 per sq.m. The price is

reasonable and competitive when compared with other properties in the similar

area which are of similar standard.
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The consideration for acquiring a 70% share interest in the Beijing New

Shine Properties Development Limited (“Youngman Point JV”) which holds

100% interest in “Youngman Point” Project is HK$311,878,000, which is to be

satisfied at the completion by the allotment and issue by the Company to Mr.

Li of 599,765,384 consideration shares. Upon the completion of the acquisition

(subject to certain conditions stated in the circular of the Company dated 20

January 2006), the Youngman Point JV will become a subsidiary of the

Company.

The board of directors is of the view that in light of the continuous

economic growth in the PRC and Beijing, increases in spending power and the

upcoming opportunities from 2008 Olympics and 2010 World’s Expo, demand

in the property market will continue to grow and hence provide an opportunity

for investment in this market.

The board is confident that upon the completion of the said acquisitions

of 40% equity interest in American Rock JV and 70% equity interest in

Youngman Point JV, together with the existing significant investments held by

the Group, there will be a further enhancement in the Group’s earnings so as to

achieve the aim to strengthen the assets and income base of the Group in the

long run.

As one of the goals of the Group is to share the fruitful success with its

loyal shareholders, the board of directors recommends an interim dividend of

HK1.5 cents per share for the six months ended 31 October 2005, representing

approximately 29% of the profit for the period attributable to shareholders of

the Company, to be payable to shareholders whose names appear on the register

of the Company on 10 February 2006. The board of directors will continue to

endeavor to report an even encouraging results to its shareholders in the

forthcoming financial year.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As at 31 October 2005, the Group had cash and bank balance of approximately

HK$205 million with net current assets totaling to HK$853 million with current ratio at

approximately 1.84. The total borrowings of the Group as at 31 October 2005 amounted to

HK$641 million making the Group’s gearing ratio at 31 October 2005 calculated at total

borrowings over equity was approximately 70%.

The board of directors believes that liquid assets, funds and future revenue will be

sufficient to finance future expansion and working capital requirement.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 October 2005, the Group had a total of 85 employees (including Hong Kong

and PRC offices). The remuneration packages consist of basic salary, mandatory provident

fund and other benefits considered as appropriate. Remuneration packages are generally

structured by reference to market terms, individual qualification and the performance of

individual staff. They are under periodic review based on individual merit and other market

factors.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group’s cash balance and other current assets are mainly denominated in RMB.

Nonetheless, the effect of the exchange rate on the Group’s cash flow is minimal.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 October 2005, the Company gave a guarantee in favour of Phoenix Satellite

Television Company Limited, under which the Company guaranteed the due performance of

Oasiscity Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, of the Group’s obligations

under the subscription and shareholders’ agreement related to Phoenix Tower project.

As at 31 October 2005, the Group gave guarantees to banks amounting to approximately

to HK$674,788,000 (30 April 2005: HK$704,389,000) in respect of certain facilities granted

to the buyers of the Group’s completed properties.
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EQUITY

The Company’s issued and fully paid share capital as at 31 October 2005 amounted

to HK$24,836,330 divided into 2,483,632,950 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each. During the

period, there was no conversion made by the holder of the Company’s convertible note. The

holder of convertible note has the rights to convert the convertible note into 400,000,000

ordinary shares of the Company within the specified period.

EVENTS AFTER BALANCE SHEET DATE

Subsequent to the interim reporting date as at 31 October 2005, the Group entered

into agreements for the acquisitions of the entire interest of Lucky Merit Development

Limited which holds 40% interest of American Rock JV and the entire interest of New

Direction Development Limited which will holds 70% interest in Youngman Joint JV prior

to the completion of the acquisitions. The total acquisition costs of HK$571,473,000 will be

satisfied in new shares of the Company and the acquisitions are not completed up to the date

of this announcement. Details of the acquisitions are set out in the Group’s circular dated 20

January 2006.

INTERIM DIVIDEND

The board of directors recommends the payment of interim dividend of HK1.5 cents

(2004: Nil) per ordinary share for the six months ended 31 October 2005 payable on or

about 20 February 2006 to shareholders of the Company whose names are on the Register of

Members on 10 February 2006.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed, no contracts significance, to which the Company or any of its

subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,

whether directly or indirectly, subsisted as at 31 October 2005 or during the period for the

six months ended 31 October 2005.



– 89 –

APPENDIX II FINANCIAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE COMPANY

3 r d  P r o o f  •  1 3 / 0 7 / 2 0 0 6  •  N e o - C h i n a  •  0 6 0 7 0 2 1 A p p 2 ( P r o Tr a n s )

COPY FROM INTERIM RESU

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES

Save as disclosed, during the period for the six months ended 31 October 2005, the

Company has not redeemed any of its securities and neither the Company nor any of its

subsidiaries has purchased or sold any of the Company’s securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

No pre-emptive rights exist in the jurisdiction of Bermuda in which the Company is

incorporated.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code of the Listing Rules as the Company’s

code of conduct for dealings in securities of the Company by the directors as set out in

Appendix 10 of Listing Rules. Following specific enquiry by the Company, all directors

confirmed that they have compiled with the required standards as set out in the Model Code

throughout the period.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee of the Company has been established, with specific

terms of reference in compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance Practice (the “CG

Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Committee is responsible for

making recommendations to the board on the Group’s policy and structure for specific

remuneration packages and conditions of employment for the directors.

A Remuneration Committee has been established in accordance with the requirements

of the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee comprises all three independent non-executive

directors of the Company.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company executed high standard of business ethics and corporate governance

practices. The board considers such commitment essential in achieving high level of

transparency and accountability and it is to the best interests of the shareholders.
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None of the directors of the Company is aware of any information that would

reasonably indicate that the Company is not, or was not throughout the period for the six

months ended 31 October 2005, in compliance with the Code on Corporate Governance

Practices (“CG Code”), as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (except code A4.1 –

which specifies term that non-executive directors should be appointed for a specific term,

subject to the re-election and code A4.2 – which specifies that every director, including

those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once

every three years.). However, all directors (including executive and non-executive ) of the

Company are subject to retirement by rotation at the annual general meeting in accordance

with Bye-laws of the Company. As such, the Company considers that sufficient measures

have been taken to ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practice are no less

exacting than those in the Code.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee in accordance with the requirements

of the Code, for the purpose of reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s

financial reporting process and internal controls. The audit committee comprising three

independent non-executive directors, Ms. Nie Mei Sheng, Mr. Zhen Kuan and Mr. Wang

Shiyong. The audit committee of the Company has reviewed the interim results for the six

months ended 31 October 2005.
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C. AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2005

The following are the audited consolidated annual financial statements of the Company for

the year ended 30 April 2005, with the comparative figures for the year ended 30 April 2004.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 30 April 2005

2005 2004

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover 4 476,472 654

Cost of sales (253,809) –

Gross profit 222,663 654

Other operating income 5 29,348 4,719

Administrative expenses (13,053) (12,357)

Selling expenses (11,334) –

Other operating expenses – (2,585)

Profit (loss) from operations 6 227,624 (9,569)

Finance costs 7 (512) (719)

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 31 100,011 69,149

Loss on disposal of an associate 8 – (8,502)

Share of results of associates 11,564 (65,024)

Profit (loss) before taxation 338,687 (14,665)

Taxation 11 (77,037) 15,288

Profit before minority interests 261,650 623

Minority interests (81,199) 9,125

Profit attributable to shareholders 180,451 9,748

Dividends 12 54,640 –

Earnings per share 13

– Basic 9.40 cents 0.51 cents

– Diluted 8.55 cents 0.51 cents

R.14

R.14

A.1B
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

As at 30 April 2005

2005 2004

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 14 4,188 4,031

Interests in associates 16 389,908 342,629

Pledged bank deposits 17 41,926 –

436,022 346,660

Current assets

Properties held for sale 13,402 –

Properties under development 18 1,046,079 77,175

Trade and other receivables 19 323,992 62,510

Bank balances and cash 69,648 12,170

1,453,121 151,855

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 20 359,416 124,269

Advances from customers 21 280,768 –

Amounts due to related companies 22 43,038 –

Amount due to a shareholder 23 7,298 –

Taxation payable 126,001 –

Secured bank borrowings 24 93,604 –

910,125 124,269

Net current assets 542,996 27,586

Total assets less current liabilities 979,018 374,246
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Non-current liabilities

Loan payable 25 69,065 69,065

Convertible note 26 104,000 –

173,065 69,065

Minority interests 232,448 17,976

573,505 287,205

Capital and reserves

Share capital 27 24,836 20,759

Reserves 548,669 266,446

573,505 287,205

2005 2004

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
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BALANCE SHEET

As at 30 April 2005

2005 2004

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 14 709 1,410

Interests in subsidiaries 15 571,519 395,022

572,228 396,432

Current assets

Other receivables 501 594

Bank balances and cash 413 10,008

914 10,602

Current liabilities

Other payables 20 1,458 123,996

Amount due to a shareholder 23 7,298 –

8,756 123,996

Net current liabilities (7,842) (113,394)

Non-current liability

Convertible note 26 104,000 –

460,386 283,038

Capital and reserves

Share capital 27 24,836 20,759

Reserves 28 435,550 262,279

460,386 283,038
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 30 April 2005

Share Share Contributed Capital Exchange Accumulated

capital premium surplus reserve reserve (losses) profit Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note a) (note b) (note c)

At 1 May 2003 87,594 131,286 368,234 – – (338,986) 248,128

Exchange difference not recognised

in the consolidated income statement – – – – 70 – 70

Reduction of capital (note 27(a)) (78,835) (131,286) – – – 210,121 –

Issue of new shares (note 27(b)) 12,000 18,000 – – – – 30,000

Share issue expenses – (962) – – – – (962)

Share of capital reserve of an associate – – – 221 – – 221

Profit attributable to shareholders – – – – – 9,748 9,748

At 30 April 2004 20,759 17,038 368,234 221 70 (119,117) 287,205

Exchange difference not recognised

in the consolidated income statement – – – – 70 – 70

Issue of shares by conversion of

convertible note (note 26) 4,077 101,923 – – – – 106,000

Disposal of an associate – – – (221) – – (221)

Profit attributable to shareholders – – – – – 180,451 180,451

At 30 April 2005 24,836 118,961 368,234 – 140 61,334 573,505

Notes:

(a) Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the Company’s share premium account may be

distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

(b) The contributed surplus represents the credit balance arising from the reduction of the nominal value of

the issued share capital of the Company from HK$0.10 per share to HK$0.01 per share by way of

cancellation of HK$0.09 of the paid up capital on each share of the Company on 31 December 2001.

(c) The capital reserve was reserve required by the relevant laws in the People’s Republic of China applicable

to the Group’s associates. The associate was disposed of through the disposal of a subsidiary during the

year and the balance of capital reserve became nil as at 30 April 2005.

The accumulated profit (losses) of the Group include loss of approximately HK$21,155,000

(2004: HK$29,056,000) attributable to the associates.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the year ended 30 April 2005

2005 2004

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit (loss) before taxation 338,687 (14,665)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation 951 1,032

Amortisation of goodwill of subsidiaries – 2,574

Interest expenses 512 719

Interest income (22,159) (4,479)

Allowance for bad and doubtful debts – 30

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (100,011) (69,149)

Loss on disposal of an associate – 8,502

Share of results of associates (11,564) 65,024

Operating cash flows before movements

in working capital 206,416 (10,412)

Decrease in properties held for sale 253,783 –

Increase in properties under development (210,029) (3,748)

Increase in trade and other receivables (129,950) (9,549)

Decrease in trade and other payables (67,421) (26,401)

Increase in advance from customers 138,098 –

Decrease in amounts due to related companies (20,101) –

Cash generated from (used in) operations 170,796 (50,110)

The People’s Republic of China tax paid (12,484) (2)

NET CASH GENERATED FROM (USED IN)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 158,312 (50,112)
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INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Increase in pledged bank deposits 21,138 –

Bank balances and cash acquired arising from

transfer from an associate to a subsidiary 16 9,902 –

Interest received 567 54

Disposal of subsidiaries 31 358 130,611

Acquisition of subsidiaries 30 55 16,945

Advance to an associate (72,797) (196,302)

Additional interest in an associate (1,887) –

Purchase for property, plant and equipment (879) (474)

Deposit received on disposal of a subsidiary – 122,642

Proceeds from disposal of an associate – 18,000

Increase in loan receivables 19(b) – (44,716)

Acquisition of associates – (12,096)

NET CASH (USED IN) GENERATED FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (43,543) 34,664

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Advance from (repayment to) a shareholder 7,298 (2,890)

Repayment of bank borrowings (43,377) –

Interest paid (11,683) (719)

Dividend paid to minority shareholders (9,599) –

Capital contribution from minority shareholders – 942

Proceeds from issue of shares, net of

share issue expenses – 29,038

NET CASH (USED IN) GENERATED FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (57,361) 26,371

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS 57,408 10,923

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 12,170 1,177

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE
RATE CHANGES 70 70

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END
OF THE YEAR, representing bank balances

and cash 69,648 12,170

2005 2004

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 April 2005

1. GENERAL

The Company is a public listed company incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted

company with limited liability and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong

Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company’s principal activity is investment holding and the activities of its

subsidiaries and associates are set out in notes 15 and 16, respectively.

2. ADOPTION OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND POTENTIAL

IMPACT ARISING FROM THE RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING

STANDARDS

In 2004, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) issued

a number of new and revised Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”) and Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “new

HKFRSs”) which are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005

except for HKFRS 3 Business Combinations. The Group has applied HKFRS 3 to business

combination for which the agreement date is on or after 1 May 2004. The Group has also

early adopted the following new HKFRSs in the financial statements for the year ended 30

April 2005:

HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets

HKAS 38 Intangible Assets

The adoption of HKFRS 3, HKAS 36 and HKAS 38 has resulted in a change in the

accounting policy for goodwill. Prior to this, goodwill was:

• amortised on a straight-line basis over a period of not exceeding 20 years; and

• assessed for the impairment at each balance sheet date whenever there is an

indication for impairment.

In accordance with the provisions of HKFRS 3:

• goodwill arising from a business combination, for which the agreement date is

on or after 1 May 2004, is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment

losses;
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• the Group cease amortisation of goodwill prospectively from 1 May 2004;

• accumulated amortisation as at 30 April 2004 has been eliminated with a

corresponding decrease in the cost of goodwill; and

• from the year ended 30 April 2005 onwards, goodwill is tested annually for

impairment or in the financial year in which acquisitions take place, as well as

when there are indications of impairment.

The Group has not early adopted other new HKFRSs. Except for HKAS 32 Financial

Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation and HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition

and Measurement, the Group does not expect that the issuance of those new HKFRSs will

have a material effect on how the results of operations and financial position of the Group

are prepared and presented.

HKAS 32 requires an issuer of a compound financial instrument that contains both

financial liability and equity components to separate the compound financial instrument into

its liability and equity components on its initial recognition and to account for these

components separately. The principal impact of HKAS 32 on the Group is in relation to

convertible note issued by the Company that contain both liability and equity components.

Currently, the convertible note is classified as liabilities on the balance sheet (see note 26).

HKAS 32 generally requires retrospective application.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and

in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. The principal

accounting policies adopted are set out as follows:

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of

the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 30 April each year.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included

in the consolidated income statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to

the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.
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Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated in the Company’s balance sheet at cost

less any identified impairment loss.

Interests in associates

The consolidated income statement includes the Group’s share of the post-

acquisition results of its associates for the year. In the consolidated balance sheet,

interests in associates are stated at the Group’s share of the net assets of the associates

plus the goodwill in so far as it has not already been amortised, less any identified

impairment loss.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on business combination for which the agreement date is on

or after 1 May 2004 represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s

interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent

liabilities of the subsidiary recognised at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is initially

recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less any

accumulated impairment losses.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the

Group’s cash generating units expected to benefit from the synergies of the

combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested

for impairment annually, or in the financial year in which acquisition take place, or

more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the

recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of

the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any

goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the

basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised

for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in

the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate is

described under “Interests in associates” above.
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Impairment

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its

tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill to determine whether there is any

indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If the recoverable amount

of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of

the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment loss is recognised as an

expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the

asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the

increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been

determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A

reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation

and any accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment

over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method, at the following rates

per annum:

Furniture and fixtures 331/2%

Computer and office equipment 331/2%

Motor vehicles 121/2%

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined

as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and

is recognised in the income statement.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
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Properties under development

Properties under development for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net

realisable value. Cost of property in the course of development comprises land cost

and development costs during the development period.

Revenue recognition

When properties under development are sold, income is recognised when the

properties are completed and the relevant occupation permits are issued by the

authorities. Payments received from the purchasers prior to the completion of the

properties are recorded as advances from customers.

Services income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal

outstanding and at the interest rate applicable.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred

tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit

differs from net profit as reported in the income statement because it excludes items

of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further

excludes items that are never taxable and deductible.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences

between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and

the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted

for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally

recognised for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are recognised

to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which

deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not

recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill (or negative goodwill) or

from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and

liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising

on investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is able to

control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary

difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet

date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable

profit will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the

period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged or

credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited

directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the rates of exchange

prevailing on the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated

in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet

date. Gains and losses arising on exchange are included in the profit or loss for the

year.

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s overseas operations

are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and

expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange

differences arising, if any, are classified as equity and transferred to the Group’s

exchange reserve. Such translation differences are recognised as income or as expenses

in the year in which the operation is disposed of.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to

match them with the related costs. Grants related to expense items are recognised in

the same period as those expenses are charged in the income statement and are

reported separately as under other operating income.

Operating leases

Rental paid and payable under such operating leases are charged to the income

statement on a straight-line basis over the relevant lease term.
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Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme/state-management

retirement benefit schemes are charged as an expense as they fall due.

4. TURNOVER AND BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS

Turnover

Turnover represents amounts received and receivable for properties sold by the

Group to outside customers and services rendered is summarised as follows:

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Sales of properties 475,935 –

Provision of property management

consultancy services 537 654

476,472 654

Business segments

For management purposes, the Group was organised into two operating

divisions – property development and investment, and internet consulting. During the

year ended 30 April 2004, the Group ceased the operation of internet consulting

division subsequent to the completion of disposal of a subsidiary. The Group is now

principally engaged in property development and investment in the People’s Republic

of China (“PRC”). Accordingly, no business segment analysis is presented for the

year ended 30 April 2005.
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INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 30 April 2004

Continuing Discontinued

operation operation

Property

development Internet

and investment consulting Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

TURNOVER

Turnover from external customers 654 – 654

RESULT

Segment result (1,424) (399) (1,823)

Amortisation of goodwill of

subsidiaries (2,574)

Unallocated corporate income 4,479

Unallocated corporate expenses (9,651)

Loss from operations (9,569)

Interest on bank borrowings wholly

repayable within five years (719)

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 26,978 42,171 69,149

Loss on disposal of an associate – (8,502) (8,502)

Share of results of associates (64,826) (198) (65,024)

Loss before taxation (14,665)

Taxation 15,288 – 15,288

Profit before minority interests 623

Minority interests 9,125

Profit attributable to shareholders 9,748



– 106 –

APPENDIX II FINANCIAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE COMPANY

3 r d  P r o o f  •  1 9 / 0 7 / 2 0 0 6  •  N e o - C h i n a  •  0 6 0 7 0 2 1 A p p 2 ( P r o Tr a n s )

COPY FROM CIRCULAR

BALANCE SHEET

At 30 April 2004

Continuing Discontinued

operation operation

Property

development Internet

and investment consulting Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS

Segment assets 138,344 – 138,344

Interests in associates 342,629 – 342,629

Unallocated corporate assets 17,542

498,515

LIABILITIES

Segment liabilities 280 – 280

Unallocated corporate liabilities 193,054

193,334

OTHER INFORMATION

For the year ended 30 April 2004

Continuing Discontinued

operation operation

Property

development Internet

and investment consulting Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amortisation of goodwill arising

from acquisition of associates 22,999 – 22,999

Capital additions 2,791 – 2,791

Depreciation 959 73 1,032
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Geographical segments

Over 90% of the activities of the Group during both years were carried out in

the PRC and over 90% of the assets of the Group were located in the PRC. Accordingly,

no geographical analysis is presented.

5. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest income:

Bank 567 54

Loan to an associate 17,594 3,894

Other loan 3,998 531

PRC government subsidy 7,055 –

Others 134 240

29,348 4,719

6. PROFIT (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit (loss) from operations has been

arrived at after charging:

Auditors’ remuneration

– current year 923 839

– overprovision in prior year – (2)

923 837

Staff costs, including directors’ emoluments

– capitalised under properties under development 1,376 817

– included in administrative expenses 4,776 3,865

6,152 4,682

Retirement benefits scheme contributions 287 172
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Total staff costs 6,439 4,854

Depreciation 1,450 1,032

Less: capitalised under properties under development (499) –

951 1,032

Allowance for bad and doubtful debts – 30

Amortisation of goodwill arising on acquisition of

subsidiaries (included in other operating expenses) – 2,574

7. FINANCE COSTS

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on:

Bank borrowings wholly repayable with five years (11,171) (719)

Convertible note (512) –

(11,683) (719)

Less: Amount capitalised under

properties under development 11,171 –

(512) (719)

8. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

In January 2003, the Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement to dispose

of 45% equity interest in a 85% owned subsidiary, WebVideoShop.com Limited

(“WebVideoShop”), which was engaged in internet consulting segment for a cash

consideration of HK$72,000,000. The disposal was to ensure the adherence of the Group’s

long term strategy to focus its activities on the areas of property development and investment

in the PRC. The disposal was completed in August 2003 and WebVideoShop became an

associate of the Group thereafter.

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000



– 109 –

APPENDIX II FINANCIAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE COMPANY

3 r d  P r o o f  •  1 9 / 0 7 / 2 0 0 6  •  N e o - C h i n a  •  0 6 0 7 0 2 1 A p p 2 ( P r o Tr a n s )

COPY FROM CIRCULAR

The results of the internet consulting operations for the period from May 2003 to the

date of disposal, which have been included in the consolidated financial statements, were as

follows:

1.5.2003

to

date of disposal

HK$’000

Sales and results:

Sales –

Operating expenses (399)

Loss for the period (399)

WebVideoShop did not contribute significantly to the Group’s cash flows for the year

ended 30 April 2004.

The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of WebVideoShop at the date of

disposal were as follows:

Date of

disposal

HK$’000

Total assets 330

Total liabilities (9,920)

(9,590)

In September 2003, the Company entered into another sale and purchase agreement

to dispose of the remaining 40% equity interest in WebVideoShop at a consideration of

HK$18,000,000. The disposal was completed in October 2003 and a loss of HK$8,502,000

was recognised as loss on disposal of an associate for the year ended 30 April 2004.



– 110 –

APPENDIX II FINANCIAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE COMPANY

3 r d  P r o o f  •  1 9 / 0 7 / 2 0 0 6  •  N e o - C h i n a  •  0 6 0 7 0 2 1 A p p 2 ( P r o Tr a n s )

COPY FROM CIRCULAR

9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Directors’ fees:

Executive – –

Independent non-executive – –

– –

Emoluments of executive directors

– Salaries and other benefits 1,755 923

– Contribution to Mandatory Provident

Fund Scheme – –

1,755 923

1,755 923

The emoluments of the directors were within the following bands:

Number of directors

2005 2004

Nil – HK$1,000,000 12 10

10. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, two (2004: three)

were directors of the Company whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 9

above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2004: two) individuals were as follows:

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other benefits 1,429 856

Contribution to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme 24 24

1,453 880

The emoluments of each of the three individuals (2004: two) were below

HK$1,000,000.
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11. TAXATION

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

The tax charge (credit) comprises:

Current tax of a PRC subsidiary 73,374 2

Share of taxation attributable to associates 3,663 (15,290)

77,037 (15,288)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the financial statements as

the Group did not derive any assessable profit for both years.

The subsidiaries and associates established in the PRC are subject to enterprise income

tax on its taxable income at the rate of 33%.

The tax charge (credit) for the year can be reconciled to the profit (loss) before

taxation as follows:

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit (loss) before taxation 338,687 (14,665)

Tax charge (credit) at PRC enterprise

income tax rate of 33% 111,767 (4,840)

Tax effect of share of results of associates (153) (1,422)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes 940 11,679

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes (26,087) (24,279)

Tax effect of deferred tax assets not recognised 4,289 1,896

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries

operating in other jurisdictions (13,719) 1,678

Tax charge (credit) for the year 77,037 (15,288)



– 112 –

APPENDIX II FINANCIAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE COMPANY

3 r d  P r o o f  •  1 9 / 0 7 / 2 0 0 6  •  N e o - C h i n a  •  0 6 0 7 0 2 1 A p p 2 ( P r o Tr a n s )

COPY FROM CIRCULAR

At 30 April 2005, the Group had unused tax losses of HK$106,275,000 (2004:

HK$93,296,000) available for offset against future profits. The tax losses may be carried

forward indefinitely. In addition, at 30 April 2005, the Group had deductible temporary

differences of HK$1,117,000 (2004: HK$1,099,000). No deferred tax asset has been

recognised in relation to tax losses and deductible temporary difference as it is not probable

that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can

be utilised.

12. DIVIDENDS

2005 2004
HK$’000 HK$’000

Final dividends proposed of HK2.2 cents (2004: Nil)

per ordinary share 54,640 –

The final dividend of HK2.2 cents (2004: Nil) per share has been proposed by the

directors and is subject to approval by the shareholders in the annual general meeting.

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share for the year is based on

the following data:

2005 2004
HK$’000 HK$’000

Earnings:

Net profit for the year and earnings for

the purposes of basic earnings per share 180,451 9,748

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares in respect

of interest on convertible note 512 –

Earnings for the purposes of diluted earnings

per share 180,963 9,748

Number of shares:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for

the purposes of basic earnings per share 1,920,041,595 1,902,170,151

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary

shares in respect of convertible note 196,775,553 –

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for

the purposes of diluted earnings per share 2,116,817,148 1,902,170,151
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture Computer

and and office Motor

fixtures equipment vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

THE GROUP

COST

At 1 May 2004 1,750 1,854 3,394 6,998

Acquisition arising

from transfer of

an associate to a

subsidiary (note 16) 225 503 – 728

Additions 209 670 – 879

At 30 April 2005 2,184 3,027 3,394 8,605

DEPRECIATION

At 1 May 2004 1,177 1,365 425 2,967

Provided for the year 593 207 650 1,450

At 30 April 2005 1,770 1,572 1,075 4,417

NET BOOK VALUES

At 30 April 2005 414 1,455 2,319 4,188

At 30 April 2004 573 489 2,969 4,031
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Furniture Computer

and and office Motor

fixtures equipment vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

THE COMPANY

COST

At 1 May 2004 1,717 1,337 1,189 4,243

Additions – 2 – 2

At 30 April 2005 1,717 1,339 1,189 4,245

DEPRECIATION

At 1 May 2004 1,175 1,307 351 2,833

Provided for the year 542 12 149 703

At 30 April 2005 1,717 1,319 500 3,536

NET BOOK VALUE

At 30 April 2005 – 20 689 709

At 30 April 2004 542 30 838 1,410

15. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

THE COMPANY

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted shares, at cost – –

Less: Impairment losses – –

– –

Amounts due from subsidiaries 651,599 475,102

Less: Allowance (80,080) (80,080)

571,519 395,022

571,519 395,022
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The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on

demand. In the opinion of the directors, the amounts will not be repayable within twelve

months from the balance sheet date and are therefore shown as non-current.

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries at 30 April 2005 are set out below:

Place of Particulars of

incorporation/ issued Percentage of

registration and share capital/ issued share capital/

Name operation registered capital registered capital held Principal activities

Directly held by the Company

Active Power British Virgin 1 ordinary share 100% Investment holding

Development Islands/Hong Kong of US$1

Limited

Far Eagle British Virgin 1 ordinary share 100% Investment holding

Investments Islands/Hong Kong of US$1

Limited

Glorious Star British Virgin 1 ordinary share 100% Inactive

Development Islands of US$1

Limited

High Step Trading British Virgin 1 ordinary share 100% Investment holding

Limited Islands/Hong Kong of US$1

Sano Group Limited British Virgin 1 ordinary share 100% Investment holding

Islands/Hong Kong of US$1

Spot On Assets British Virgin 1 ordinary share 100% Investment holding

Limited Islands/Hong Kong of US$1

Indirectly held by the Company

Best Modern British Virgin 1 ordinary share 100% Investment holding

Properties Limited Islands/Hong Kong of US$1

Neo-China British Virgin 1 ordinary share 100% Investment holding

Industrial Limited Islands/Hong Kong of US$1

Neo-China Property British Virgin 1 ordinary share 100% Investment holding

Limited Islands/Hong Kong of US$1
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Neo-China Technology British Virgin 1 ordinary share 100% Investment holding

Limited Islands/Hong Kong of US$1

Oasiscity Limited British Virgin 1 ordinary share 100% Investment holding

(“Oasiscity”) Islands/Hong Kong of US$1

Phoenix Real Property British Virgin 100 ordinary shares 100% Investment holding

Limited Islands/Hong Kong of US$1 each

(“Phoenix Real

Property”, note a)

Shenzhen Phoenix Real PRC US$10,000,000 100% Property

Estates Company development

Limited (“Shenzhen

Phoenix”,

notes a and b)

Sunkit Development British Virgin 1 ordinary share 100% Investment holding

Limited Islands/Hong Kong of US$1

Top Fair Ltd British Virgin 50,000 100% Investment holding

(“Top Fair”) Islands/Hong Kong ordinary shares

of US$1 each

Wellink Services Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares 100% Inactive

Limited of HK$1 each

PRC HK$10,000,000 100% Inactive

 (note c)

 (note c) PRC HK$30,000,000 100% Investment holding

PRC US$12,000,000 45% Property

development

(“ ”, notes b & d)

Place of Particulars of

incorporation/ issued Percentage of

registration and share capital/ issued share capital/

Name operation registered capital registered capital held Principal activities

Indirectly held by the Company
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Notes:

(a) In October 2003, Oasiscity entered into a subscription and shareholders’ agreement (“Agreement”)

with Phoenix Satellite Television Company Limited (“Phoenix Satellite TV”) and Phoenix Real

Property in relation to the joint development of a property project (the “Phoenix Tower”) in

Shenzhen, the PRC.

Pursuant to the Agreement, Oasiscity subscribed for 60 new shares at par value of US$1 each

issued by Phoenix Real Property, representing 60% of its enlarged issued share capital. Upon the

issue of the new shares, Oasiscity executed a share charge in favour of Phoenix Satellite TV,

under which it charges 30 new shares of Phoenix Real Property, representing 30% of the enlarged

issued share capital, as security for the due performance of the Group’s obligations under the

Agreement. In addition, Oasiscity paid approximately HK$4.7 million to Phoenix Satellite TV in

accordance with the terms of the Agreement.

Furthermore, pursuant to the Agreement, Oasiscity may increase its shareholding interests to

100% in Phoenix Real Property upon providing further financing for the development of Phoenix

Tower and fulfillment of certain other terms and conditions in future.

Oasiscity, through its interest in Phoenix Real Property, the 90% shareholder of Shenzhen Phoenix,

will be responsible for the implementation of the property project of Phoenix Tower, with the

cooperation of Phoenix Satellite TV and Beijing Honda Construction Company Limited (“Honda”),

the other 10% shareholder of Shenzhen Phoenix.

Under the Agreement, Phoenix Satellite TV and Honda, will have the property right over 25,000

square metres, in aggregate, of the self-use area of the Phoenix Tower.

Oasiscity will be responsible for providing all the required financing for the development of

Phoenix Tower in future and in return it will has ownership title over all the saleable floor area of

Phoenix Tower and the remaining portion of the self-use area after allowed for the entitlement of

Phoenix Satellite TV and Honda as mentioned above. As Oasiscity is entitled to 100% of the

results of Phoenix Real Property and Shenzhen Phoenix ultimately, they are therefore classified

as wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group.

The development of Phoenix Tower commenced during the year ended 30 April 2004 and was

expected to be completed in 2006. If the development of Phoenix Tower cannot meet the timetable

as stated in the Agreement, the Group needs to pay a penalty of approximately HK$33,000 to

Phoenix Satellite TV each day until completion of the property project.

(b) These companies were established in the PRC in the form of sino-foreign equity joint ventures.

(c) These companies were established in the PRC in the form of wholly-owned foreign enterprises.

(d)  is accounted for as a subsidiary since the Group has control on the board of directors and

operation of . Details of this are set out in note 16.
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16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

THE GROUP

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Share of net assets 51,380 88,268

Goodwill (Note a) 47,941 58,059

Loan to an associate (Note b) 269,099 196,302

Interest receivables (Note b) 21,488 –

389,908 342,629

Note a:

Goodwill

HK$’000

COST

At 1 May 2003 114,921

Arising on acquisition of an associate 2

Transfer arising on disposal 45%

interest in WebVideoShop (note 8) 27,256

Disposal of an associate (27,256)

At 30 April 2004 114,923

Disposal arising from disposal of a subsidiary (10,118)

Eliminated with accumulated amortisation (note 2) (56,864)

At 30 April 2005 47,941

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION

At 1 May 2003 33,865

Charge for the year 22,999

At 30 April 2004 56,864

Eliminated with cost (note 2) (56,864)

At 30 April 2005 –

CARRYING AMOUNT

At 30 April 2005 47,941

At 30 April 2004 58,059
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The goodwill arising on the acquisition of associates was amortised on a straight-line basis over

the estimated useful life of five years for the year ended 30 April 2004. The Group ceased amortisation of

goodwill from 1 May 2004 as a result of early adoption of HKFRS 3. Amortisation charged in the year

ended 30 April 2004 amounting to HK$22,999,000 had been included in the amount reported as share of

results of associates in the consolidated income statement.

Note b:

The loan is lent to  (“New Shine Property”), an associate of

the Group, for development of a property project in Beijing, the PRC. The property project is held by 

(“Beijing Yu Shui Yuan”), which is 80% owned by New Shine

Property. The development of the property project has been commenced and was expected to complete in

2006.

Pursuant the loan agreements, the loan is secured by the 80% equity interest in Beijing Yu Shui

Yuan held by New Shine Property, bearing interest at market rate and repayable in December 2006.

Particulars of the Group’s associates at 30 April 2005 are set out below:

Place of Percentage of

incorporation Particulars of registered capital

Name and operations registered capital held by the Group Principal activities

Shanghai Xin Yao PRC RMB20,000,000 39% Development and sale

Property Development of properties in

Company Limited Shanghai

(“Shanghai Xin Yao”)

PRC RMB20,300,000 26.12% Manufacturing and

trading of steel and

construction

materials

New Shine Property PRC RMB30,000,000 25% Investment holding

Beijing Yu Shui Yuan PRC RMB20,000,000 30%* Development and sale

of properties in

Beijing

* Beijing Yu Shui Yuan is 80% owned by New Shine Property and 10% owned by the Group

directly.
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The Group’s entitlement to share in profits of its associates is in proportion to its

ownership interest.

In August 2004, the Company acquired 100% equity interest in Top Fair (note 30).

Top Fair is an investment holding company which holds 45% equity interests in . The

principal business activity of  is to develop a property project in Beijing, the PRC, and

 was accounted for as an associate since then.

On 15 October 2004, the shareholding of the other shareholders in  was changed.

Subsequent to the change of the shareholding of , the Group became the single largest

shareholder of . At the same date, the shareholders of  signed an amendment

agreement to the Articles and Memorandum of  under which the Group can appoint the

majority of the board of directors of . The amendment was approved by 

on 17 October 2004.

As a result, the Group becomes the single largest shareholder of  and controls its

board of directors and therefore accounts for  as a subsidiary of the Group since 17

October 2004.

Details of the net assets of  as at the date of transfer from an associate to a

subsidiary of the Group are summarised below:

HK$’000

Property, plant and equipment 728

Pledged bank deposits 63,064

Properties held for sale 267,185

Properties under development 747,205

Trade and other receivables 131,434

Bank balances and cash 9,902

Trade and other payables (425,210)

Advances from customers (142,670)

Amounts due to related companies (63,139)

Secured bank borrowings (136,981)

Taxation payable (65,111)

386,407
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The following details are extracted from the financial statements of the Group’s

significant associates, as adjusted to conform with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA:

Shanghai New Shine

Xin Yao Property

2005 2004 2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Results for the year

Turnover 6,313 294,677 – –

Loss attributable to

shareholders (21,788) (23,559) (153) (32)

Group’s share of loss

attributable to

shareholders (8,497) (9,188) (38) (8)

Financial position

Non-current assets 1,228 381 199 424,351

Current assets 334,198 357,624 483,101 52

Current liabilities (115,256) (238,243) (328,780) (199,843)

Non-current liabilities (111,321) – (126,351) (196,302)

Net assets 108,849 119,762 28,169 28,258

Net assets attributable

to the Group 42,451 46,707 7,042 7,064

17. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

The amount represents deposits pledged to banks to secure banking facilities granted

to the Group. Deposits of HK$387,000 (2004: Nil) are placed in a bank in order to obtain a

guarantee from the bank to a constructor of the Phoenix Tower which is expected to be

completed in late 2006 and is therefore classified as non-current assets. The remaining

deposits amounting to HK$41,539,000 (2004: Nil) have been pledged to secure long-term

mortgage loan granted by banks to the buyer of ’s completed properties and are therefore

also classified as non-current assets.
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18. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

THE GROUP

HK$’000

At 1 May 2004 77,175

Arising from transfer of an associate

to a subsidiary (note 16) 747,205

Additions 221,699

At 30 April 2005 1,046,079

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

THE GROUP

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables (note a) 197,720 –

Other receivables (note b) 116,515 60,581

Deposits and prepayments 9,757 1,929

323,992 62,510

Notes:

(a) The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables as at the balance sheet date:

THE GROUP

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 60 days 197,720 –

(b) At 30 April 2005, included in other receivables is a loan to a former related company of

RMB99,952,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$94,294,000). The loan is unsecured, bearing

interest at market rate of one-year bank loan and had been fully repaid in May 2005.

At 30 April 2004, included in other receivables was a loan to a third party of RMB47,400,000

(equivalent to approximately HK$44,716,000). The loan was unsecured, bore interest at 5.31%

per annum and had been fully repaid in August 2004.



– 123 –

APPENDIX II FINANCIAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE COMPANY

3 r d  P r o o f  •  1 9 / 0 7 / 2 0 0 6  •  N e o - C h i n a  •  0 6 0 7 0 2 1 A p p 2 ( P r o Tr a n s )

COPY FROM CIRCULAR

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables (note a) 314,004 – – –

Other payables (note b) 45,412 124,269 1,458 123,996

359,416 124,269 1,458 123,996

Notes:

(a) The following is an aged analysis of trade payables as at the balance sheet date:

THE GROUP

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 60 days 314,004 –

(b) On 25th March, 2004, the Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an independent

third party to dispose of its entire interest in Noble Time Development Inc. for a consideration of

HK$123 million, of which, HK$122,642,000 was received and included in other payables as of

30 April 2004. The disposal was completed in June 2004.

21. ADVANCE FROM CUSTOMERS

THE GROUP

The amount represents deposits received on sales of properties.

22. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES

THE GROUP

The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are repayable on demand.
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23. AMOUNT DUE TO A SHAREHOLDER

THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY

The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and is repayment on demand.

24. SECURED BANK BORROWINGS

THE GROUP

The bank borrowings were secured by the properties under development

amounting to approximately HK$142,899,000 located in the PRC and are repayable

in 2006.

25. LOAN PAYABLE

THE GROUP

The loan payable to Phoenix Satellite TV is unsecured, non-interest bearing

and will not be repayable before the completion of the development of Phoenix

Tower.

26. CONVERTIBLE NOTE

THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY

On 24 January 2005, the Company issued the Convertible Note with a principal

amount of HK$210,000,000 to Mr. Wang Yan as the consideration for the acquisition

of Top Fair.

The Convertible Note bears interest at 1% per annum and is redeemable at par

on 28 February 2007. The holder of the Convertible Note has the rights to convert all

or any portion of the Convertible Note into shares of the Company at an initial

conversion price of HK$0.26 per share, subject to adjustment. The conversion rights

can be exercised at any time from the date of issue until the repayment of the

Convertible Note, provided that the public float of the Company will not be less than

25% immediately after such conversion. During the year, the holder of the Convertible

Note converted part of the Convertible Note amounting to HK$106,000,000 into

shares of the Company. Consequently, 407,692,307 new shares of HK$0.01 each in

the Company were issued to the holder.
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27. SHARE CAPITAL

Number Nominal

of shares value

HK$’000

Authorised:

Shares of HK$0.10 per share at 1 May 2003 20,000,000,000 2,000,000

Adjustment of nominal value (note a(i)) – (1,800,000)

Cancellation (note a(ii)) (19,124,059,357) (191,241)

Additions (note a(ii)) 39,124,059,357 391,241

Shares of HK$0.01 per share at 30 April 2004

and 30 April 2005 40,000,000,000 400,000

Issued and fully paid:

Shares of HK$0.10 per share at 1 May 2003 875,940,643 87,594

Adjustment of nominal value (note a(i)) – (78,835)

Issue of shares (note b) 1,200,000,000 12,000

Shares of HK$0.01 per share at 30 April 2004 2,075,940,643 20,759

Issue of shares by conversion of convertible note

(see note 26) 407,692,307 4,077

Shares of HK$0.01 per share at 30 April 2005 2,483,632,950 24,836

Details of the changes in the share capital of the Company were as follows:

(a) Pursuant to a special resolution passed in a special general meeting held on 19

June 2003, the share capital of the Company was reorganised as follows:

(i) The nominal value of the issued share capital of the Company was reduced

from HK$0.10 per share to HK$0.01 per share (“New Share”) by way of

cancellation of HK$0.09 of the paid up capital on each share of the

Company;
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(ii) All of the existing authorised but unissued share capital of the Company

(including the authorised but unissued share capital from the capital

reduction per (i) above) was cancelled and subsequently the authorised

capital was increased to HK$400,000,000 comprising 40,000,000,000

New Shares; and

(iii) The amount of approximately HK$131,286,000 standing to the credit of

the share premium account of the Company as at 30 April 2002 was

cancelled.

The credit of approximately HK$210,121,000 comprising HK$78,835,000

arising from the capital reduction per (i) above and HK$131,286,000 arising

from the cancellation of share premium per (iii) above was wholly used in or

towards reduction of the accumulated losses of the Company.

(b) Pursuant to a subscription agreement dated 8 April 2003, Invest Gain Limited,

which is beneficially wholly owned by Mr. Li Song Xiao, subscribed for

1,200,000,000 new shares of HK$0.01 each in the Company at a price of

HK$0.025 per share satisfied by cash. The proceeds were used to provide

working capital for the Company. The subscription price of HK$0.025

represented a discount of approximately 28.57% to the closing price of

HK$0.035 on 18 March 2003, being the last trading day on which the shares of

the Company were traded prior to 8 April 2003. These shares were issued

under the general mandate granted to the directors at the special general meeting

of the Company held on 19 June 2003 and rank pari passu with the existing

shares in all respects. Mr. Li Song Xiao was appointed as a director of the

Company on 29 October 2003.
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28. RESERVES

Details of movements in the Group’s reserves are set out in the consolidated statement

of changes in equity on page 19 of the financial statements.

Share Contributed Accumulated

premium surplus losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

THE COMPANY

At 1 May 2003 131,286 368,234 (294,494) 205,026

Reduction of capital

(note 27(a)(iii)) (131,286) – 210,121 78,835

Issue of new shares

(note 27(b)) 18,000 – – 18,000

Share issue expenses (962) – – (962)

Net loss for the year – – (38,620) (38,620)

At 30 April 2004 17,038 368,234 (122,993) 262,279

Issue of new shares

(see note 26) 101,923 – – 101,923

Net profit for the year – – 71,348 71,348

At 30 April 2005 118,961 368,234 (51,645) 435,550

29. SHARE OPTIONS

Pursuant to a special general meeting of the Company held on 12 December 2002, the

share option scheme adopted by the Company on 19 August 1993 and amended on 24

October 2000 (the “Old Scheme”) was terminated and a new scheme (the “New Scheme”)

was adopted by the Company. As a result, the Company can no longer grant any further

options under the Old Scheme. However, all options granted prior to the termination of the

Old Scheme will remain in full force and effect. The purpose of the New Scheme is to

enable the Company to grant options to eligible participants, thereby as incentive or rewards

for their contribution to the Group. Eligible participants of the New Scheme include the

directors, employees, suppliers, customers and shareholders of the Group. Unless otherwise

terminated or amended, the New Scheme will remain in force for ten years from date of

adoption to 12 December 2012.
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Pursuant to the New Scheme, the total number of shares which may be issued upon

exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the New Scheme

and options granted and yet to be exercised under any other schemes shall not exceed 30%

of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time. The maximum number of

shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to each participant in

any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company at any

time. The offer of a grant of options may be accepted within 21 days from the date of the

offer with signed acceptance letter comprising consideration of HK$1.00 received by the

Company. The exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by the directors,

but no later than 10 years from the date of the offer. The subscription price for the shares in

respect of which options are granted is determinable by the directors of the Company, but in

any case must be the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the

Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of the grant; (ii) the average closing

price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for

the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value

of the Company’s shares. As at 30 April 2005, no option has been issued under the New

Scheme.

On 30 October 2000, the Company granted 26,000,000 share options under the Old

Scheme to certain employees of the Company at a consideration of HK$1.00 for each

grantee to subscribe for 26,000,000 new shares of HK$0.10 per share of the Company at an

initial exercise price of HK$0.10 per share. Upon the capital reorganisation and rights

issues of the Company on 31 December 2001 and 22 January 2002 respectively, the exercise

price was adjusted to HK$1.00 per share. These options were expired on 30 October 2004.

The following table discloses details of the Company’s share options held by employees

and movement in such holdings during both years:

At 1 May 2003 50,000

Cancelled during the year (50,000)

At 30 April 2004 and 30 April 2005 –

The options were cancelled during the year ended 30 April 2004 after resignation of

the relevant employees.
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The financial impact of share options granted is not recorded in the Company’s or the

Group’s balance sheet until such time as the options are exercised, and no charge is recognised

in the income statement in respect of the value of options granted in the year. Upon the

exercise of the share options, the resulting shares issued are recorded by the Company as

additional share capital at the nominal value of the shares, and the excess of the exercise

price per share over the nominal value of the shares is recorded by the Company in the share

premium account. Options which lapse or are cancelled prior to their exercise date are

deleted from the register of outstanding options.

30. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 12 August 2004, the Company acquired 100% equity interest in Top Fair for a

consideration of HK$210 million. This acquisition has been accounted for by the acquisition

method of accounting.

Details of the net assets acquired in respect of the acquisition of subsidiaries are

summarised below:

2005

Acquiree’s

carrying Fair

amount before value

combination adjustments Fair value 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

NET ASSETS

ACQUIRED

Property, plant and

equipment – – – 2,317

Interests in an

associate 189,881 20,064 209,945 –

Properties under

development – – – 73,427

Trade and other

receivables – – – 4,915

Bank balances

and cash 55 – 55 21,918

Other payables – – – (28,539)

Loan payable – – – (69,065)

Net assets 189,936 20,064 210,000 4,973
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2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Satisfied by:

Convertible note 210,000 –

Cash consideration – 4,717

Stamp duty – 256

210,000 4,973

Net cash inflow arising on acquisition:

Cash paid – (4,973)

Bank balances and cash acquired 55 21,918

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents

in respect of the acquisition of subsidiaries 55 16,945

The subsidiary acquired during the year contributed HK$475,935,000 to the Group’s

turnover and HK$260,576,000 to the Group’s profit from operations.

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 May 2004, the total group’s turnover for

the year would have been approximately HK$988,147,000 and profit from operation would

have been approximately HK$389,307,000.

31. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

In March 2004, the Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an

independent third party to dispose of the entire interest in Noble Time Development Inc.

during the year together with its 42% interest in subsidiary, Newshine Development Limited

and its 14.7% interest in associate, Beijing New Shine Garden Property Development

Company Limited, for a consideration of HK$123,000,000. The disposal was completed in

June 2004. A gain of HK$100,011,000 arose on the disposal of the entire interest in Noble

Time Development Inc..
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Details of the net assets disposed of in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries are

summarised below:

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

NET ASSETS DISPOSED OF

Property, plant and equipment – 89

Interest in an associate 40,969 –

Non-current deposits – 35,863

Non-current receivables – 15,453

Trade and other receivables 6 10,284

Bank balances and cash – 3,389

Other payables – (6,958)

Amounts due to group companies – (8,200)

Secured bank borrowings – (23,585)

Minority interests (17,765) (903)

23,210 25,432

Attributable goodwill – 57,919

Attributable capital reserve (221) –

Interests in associates – (26,700)

22,989 56,651

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 100,011 69,149

123,000 125,800

Satisfied by:

Cash consideration 358 134,000

Deposit received (note 20(b)) 122,642 –

Waiver of amounts due to the Company

by the subsidiaries – (8,200)

123,000 125,800

Net cash inflow arising on disposal:

Cash received 358 134,000

Bank balances and cash disposed of – (3,389)

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect

of the disposal of subsidiaries 358 130,611
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The subsidiaries disposed of during the year did not contribute significantly to the

Group’s results and cash flows.

32. COMMITMENTS

THE GROUP

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Development expenditure of properties in PRC

contracted for but not provided in the

financial statements 321,744 6,960

The Company had no commitment at the balance sheet date.

33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 April 2005, the Company gave a guarantee in favour of Phoenix Satellite

TV, under which the Company guaranteed the due performance of Oasiscity, of the Group’s

obligations under the subscription and shareholders’ agreement related to Phoenix Tower.

The Group has given guarantees to banks amounting to approximately to

HK$704,389,000 in respect of certain facilities granted to the buyers of ’s completed

properties.

34. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 30 April 2005, the Group pledged 30% equity interest in Phoenix Real Property

to Phoenix Satellite TV. Details of this are set out in note 15(a). The Group also has

pledged bank deposits. Details of this are set out in note 17.
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35. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as lessee

THE GROUP

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Minimum lease payments paid under operating

leases during the year for premises 1,370 1,654

At the balance sheet date, the Group had commitments for future minimum lease

payments under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

THE GROUP

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 471 959

In the second to fifth year inclusive 108 420

579 1,379

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for its office

properties. Leases are negotiated for an average term of 2 to 3 years.

36. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all qualifying employees.

The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the

control of trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to the scheme, and

the contribution by employees is at 5%.

Employees of subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the state-sponsored pension

scheme operated by the PRC government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a

certain percentage of their payroll to the pension scheme to fund the benefits. The only

obligation of the Group with respect to the pension scheme is to make the required

contributions.

The total cost charged to the consolidated income statement of HK$287,000 (2004:

HK$172,000) represents contributions payable to the scheme by the Group for the year.
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INDEBTEDNESS OF GROUP

As at the close of business on 31 May 2006, being the latest practicable date for the purpose

of this indebtedness statement prior to the printing of this circular, the Group had outstanding

borrowings of approximately HK$324,854,000, comprising secured bank loans of approximately

HK$255,789,000 and unsecured loans from minority shareholders of subsidiaries of approximately

HK$69,065,000. The aggregate amount repayable at 31 May 2006 is as follows:

HK$’000

Bank loans repayable

Within one year 168,029

Between one and two years 87,760

Loans from minority shareholders of subsidiaries

Repayable on demand 69,065

324,854

As at 31 May 2006, the Group has given guarantees to banks amounting to approximately to

HK$1,041,917,000 in respect of certain facilities granted to the buyers of the Group’s completed

properties. Before the buyers obtaining the ownership certificates of their properties which they

can use their properties to secure their mortgage loans, the Group needs to give guarantees to

banks for the buyers’ mortgage loans. After the buyers obtain their properties’ ownership certificates,

the banks can use the buyers’ properties as securities for the buyers’ mortgage loans and the

Group’s corresponding guarantees will be released.

As at 31 May 2006, save as disclosed above and apart from intra-group liabilities, the Group

did not have any debt securities issued and outstanding, or authorised/otherwise created but

un-issued, any term loans (secured, unsecured, guaranteed or not), any other borrowings or

indebtedness in the nature of borrowing including bank overdrafts and liabilities under acceptances

(other than normal trade bills) or acceptance credits or hire purchase commitments (whether secured/

unsecured, guaranteed or not), any mortgages and charges, any contingent liabilities or guarantees.

Foreign currency amounts have been translated into Hong Kong dollars at the rates of

exchange prevailing at the close of business on 31 May 2006.

WORKING CAPITAL

Taking into account the financial resources available to the Enlarged Group, including

internally generated funds and the available banking facilities, the Directors are of the opinion that

the Enlarged Group will have sufficient working capital for its present requirements for at least the

next 12 months from the date of publication of this Circular.

A1B

App
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20 July 2006

The Board of Directors

Tianjin Zhongxin Huaan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

Dear Sirs,

We set out below our report on the financial information relating to Tianjin Zhongxin Huaan

Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (the “company”) in Sections I to VII, including the balance

sheet as at 31 December 2005 and 30 April 2006 and the related income statement, statement of

changes in equity and cash flow statement of the company for the period from 3 June 2005 (date of

incorporation) to 31 December 2005 and 4 months ended 30 April 2006 (collectively the “Relevant

Periods”) and the notes thereto (collectively the “Financial Information”) for the inclusion in the

circular of Neo-China Group (Holdings) Limited dated 20 July 2006 (the “Circular”).

The company has prepared its statutory accounts for the period ended 31 December 2005 in

accordance with the relevant accounting principles and financial regulations applicable to the

enterprises established in mainland China (the “PRC GAAP”) and were audited by Tianjin Zhongda

Certified Public Accountants Co., Ltd., registered accountants in mainland China.

The Financial Information has been prepared based on the PRC GAAP statutory accounts

and the unaudited management accounts of the company after making adjustments as appropriate

in compliance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), the collective

terms of which include all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong

Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of

Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).

The management of the company is responsible for preparing the Financial Information

which gives a true and fair view. In preparing the Financial Information which gives a true and fair

view, it is fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently.

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our examination, on the

Financial Information, and to report our opinion.

App

14.6
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As a basis for forming an opinion on the Financial Information, for the purpose of this

report, we have carried out appropriate audit procedures in respect of the financial statements of

the company for the RelevanßPPeriods in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing

issued by the HKICPA and carried out such additional procedures as we considered necessary in

accordance with Auditing Guideline 3.340 “Prospectus and the Reporting Accountant” issued by

the HKICPA. We have not audited any financial statements of the company in respect to any period

subsequent to 30 April 2006.

In our opinion, for the purpose of this report, the Financial Information on the basis set out

in note 2(a) in Section V, gives a true and fair view of the company’s results and cash flows for the

Relevant Periods and the state of affairs of the company as at 31 December 2005 and 30 April

2006.

(I) INCOME STATEMENT

3 June 2005 1 January

to 2006 to

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

Section (V) (audited) (audited)

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Other revenue 5 –

Administrative expenses (92) –

Loss before taxation 3 (87) –

Taxation 4 – –

Loss for the period (87) –
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(II) BALANCE SHEET

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

Section (V) (audited) (audited)

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Current Assets

Amounts due from related companies 5 19,185 19,119

Properties under development 6 8,913 10,289

Bank balances and cash 6 6

28,104 29,414

Current Liabilities

Amount due to holding company 7 8,913 8,913

Amount due to a related company 7 27 1,337

8,940 10,250

Net Assets 19,164 19,164

Capital and Reserves

Registered capital 8 19,231 19,231

Reserves 9 (67) (67)

Total Equity 19,164 19,164
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(III) STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Registered Capital Accumulated

Section (V) capital reserve losses Total

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital injection 19,231 20 – 19,251

Loss for the period – – (87) (87)

At 31 December 2005 8, 9 19,231 20 (87) 19,164

At 1 January 2006 19,231 20 (87) 19,164

Loss for the period – – – –

At 30 April 2006 8, 9 19,231 20 (87) 19,164
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(IV) CASH FLOW STATEMENT

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

(audited) (audited)

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before taxation (87) –

Adjustment for:

Interest income (5) –

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (92) –

Increase in properties under development (8,913) (1,376)

(Increase)/decrease in amounts due from related companies (19,185) 66

Increase in amount due to holding company 8,913 –

Increase in amount due to a related company 27 1,310

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES (19,250) –

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest income 5 –

NET CASH GENERATED FROM

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 5 –

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from capital injection 19,251 –

NET CASH GENERATED FROM

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 19,251 –

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS 6 –

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AT BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD – 6

CASH AND EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE PERIOD

Bank balances and cash 6 6
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(V) NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION

1) General information

The company is a sino-foreign equity joint venture company established in mainland

China and has its registered office and principal place of business at 

17-3 , Tianjin, the PRC.

2) Principal accounting policies

(a) Statement of compliance

The Financial Information set out in this report has been prepared in accordance

with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which

collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued

by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting

principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

The Financial Information presented also complies with the applicable disclosure

provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange

of Hong Kong Limited.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all

periods presented in the Financial Information. The Financial Information have been

prepared under historical cost convention.

(b) Impairment of assets

At each balance sheet date, the company reviews the carrying amounts of its

tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill to determine whether there is any

indication that those assets suffered an impairment loss. If the recoverable amount of

an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the

asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment loss is recognised as an expense

immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the

asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the

increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been

determined had no impairment loss been recongised for the asset in prior years. A

reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.
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(c) Inventories – property development

The cost of acquiring land held under operating leases is amortised on a straight

line basis over the lease term. If the property is in the course of development or

redevelopment the amortisation charge is included as part of the costs of the property

under development. Inventories in respect of property development activities are carried

at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of properties under development

for sale comprises specifically identified cost, including borrowing costs capitalised,

aggregate cost of development, materials and supplies, wages and other direct expenses

and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value represents the

estimated selling price less estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in

selling the property.

(d) Receivables

Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at

amortised cost less impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts, except where the

receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties without any fixed repayment

terms or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables

are stated at cost less impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts.

(e) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits

with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments

that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an

insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at

acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part

of the company’s cash management are also included as a component of cash and

cash equivalents for the purpose of the cash flow statement. Cash equivalents include

investments and advances denominated in foreign currencies provided that they fulfill

the above criteria.
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(f) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter

stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in

which case they are stated at cost.

(g) Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred

tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit

differs from net profit as reported in the income statement because it excludes items

of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years, and it further

excludes income statement items that are never taxable or deductible.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences

between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and

the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted

for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally

recognised for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are recognised

to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which

deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet

date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable

profit will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the

period when the liability is settled or the asset realised. Deferred tax is charged or

credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited

directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.
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(h) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when

the company has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,

it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the

obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is

material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to

settle the obligation. Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits

will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed

as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is

remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence

or nonoccurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent

liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(i) Revenue recognition

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.

(j) Translation of foreign currencies

The company’s functional currency is Renminbi (“RMB”). The Financial

Information are presented in Hong Kong dollars for the purpose as the acquirer,

Neo-China Group (Holdings) Limited presents its accounts in Hong Kong dollars.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign

exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities

denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling

at the balance sheet date. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in income

statement.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical

cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the

transaction dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies

that are stated at fair value are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at

the dates the fair value was determined. The results of foreign operations are translated

into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange

rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
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(k) Related parties

For the purposes of the Financial Information, parties are considered to be

related to the company if the company has the ability, directly or indirectly, to

control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial

and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the company and the party are

subject to common control or common significant influence. Related parties may be

individuals (being members of key management personnel, significant shareholders

and/or their close family members) or other entities and include entities which are

under the significant influence of related parties of the company where those parties

are individuals, and postemployment benefit plans which are for the benefit of

employees of the company or of any entity that is a related party of the company.

3) Loss before taxation

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

3 June 2005 1 January

to 2006 to

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Exchange loss 65 –

Interest income (5) –

4) Taxation

Income tax payable of the company is governed by the Income Tax Law of the

People’s Republic of China and its implementing rules, which provide for a national income

tax rate of 33% (plus a 3% local tax).

No provision for enterprise income tax in the mainland China has been made as the

company did not derive any assessable profit for both periods.



– 145 –

APPENDIX III(A) ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT OF TIANJIN ZHONGXIN
HUAAN REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.

3 r d  P r o o f  •  1 9 / 0 7 / 2 0 0 6  •  N e o - C h i n a  •  0 6 0 7 0 2 1 A p p 3 ( a ) ( P r o Tr a n s )

5) Amounts due from related companies

Maximum Maximum

31 December balance during 30 April balance during

2005 the period 2006 the period

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Tianjin Zhongxin Jiaye Real

Estate Development Co., Ltd. – – 2,839 2,839

Tianjin Zhongxin Xinjie Real

Estate Development Co., Ltd. – – 96 96

Tianjin Zhongxin Huacheng Real

Estate Development Co., Ltd. – – 16,184 16,184

Tianjin Neo-China Construction

Investment Co., Ltd. (note c) 16,346 16,346 – 16,346

2,839 2,839 – 2,839

19,185 19,119

Notes:

a) The amounts were unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment. According to

the Sales and Purchase Agreement (Supplementary) dated 5 July 2006, the net credit balance

between the amounts due from/to related companies (after the elimination of inter-company

balances among Property Owners) and the amount due to holding company shall be capitalized

on or before the Completion Date.

b) The related companies were ultimately controlled by Mr. Li Song Xiao.

c) The amount became credit balance as at 30 April 2006.

6) Properties under development

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of the period – 8,913

Additions 8,913 1,376

At end of the period 8,913 10,289
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7) Amount due to a related company/holding company

The amount was unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of repayment.

According to the Sales and Purchase Agreement (Supplementary) dated 5 July 2006, the net

credit balance between the amounts due from/to related companies (after the elimination of

inter-company balances among Property Owners) and the amount due to holding company

shall be capitalized on or before the Completion Date.

8) Registered capital

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of the period – 19,231

Capital injection 19,231 –

At end of the period 19,231 19,231

The company was established on 3 June 2005 in mainland China as a sino-foreign

equity joint venture. According to the Memorandum of Article, the registered capital of the

company was RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$19,231,000). As per the

capital verification report dated 18 July 2005, the shareholders had injected the capital in

full.

9) Reserves

Capital Accumulated

reserve losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Surplus from capital injection 20 – 20

Loss for the period – (87) (87)

At 31 December 2005 20 (87) (67)

At 1 January 2006 20 (87) (67)

Loss for the period – – –

At 30 April 2006 20 (87) (67)
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10) Capital commitments

As at the respective balance sheet dates of the Relevant Periods, the company had the

following capital commitments not provided for in the Financial Information:

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracted but not provided for

in the Financial Information 436,737 436,737

Authorized but not contracted

for in the Financial Information – –

436,737 436,737

11) Financial risk management

The company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign exchange

risk and liquidity risk.

a) Foreign exchange risk

The company’s monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB and

the company conducted its business transactions principally in RMB. The exchange

rate risk of the company is not significant.

b) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the

availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.

The company aims to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit

lines available.
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12) Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical

experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be

reasonable under the circumstances.

The company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting

accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates

and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

a) Estimated provision for impairment of other receivables

The company makes impairment losses on bad and doubtful debts based on an

assessment of the recoverability of other receivables. Impairments are applied to

other receivables where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances

may not be collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts requires the use

of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation is different from the original

estimate, such difference will impact carrying value of receivables and bad and doubtful

debts expenses in the period in which such estimate has been charged.

b) Estimated provision for impairment of property under development

The company makes impairment losses on property under development (“PUD”)

based on an assessment of the net realisable value of the PUD. Impairments are

applied to the PUD where events or changes in circumstances indicates that the net

realizable value is less than cost. The determination of net realisable value requires

the use of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation is different from the

original estimates, such difference will impact carrying value of the PUD and

impairments for PUD expenses in the period in which such estimate has been charged.
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13) Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but

not yet effective for the accounting period ended 30 April 2006

Up to the date of issue of the Financial Information, the HKICPA has issued the

following amendments, new standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for the

accounting period ended 30 April 2006 and which have not been adopted in the Financial

Information:

HKAS 1 (Amendment) Capital Disclosures1

HKAS 19 (Amendment) Employee benefits – Actuarial gains and losses, group

plans and disclosures2

HKAS 39 (Amendment) Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement

– Cash flow hedge accounting of forecast intragroup

transactions2

– The fair value option2

– Financial guarantee contracts2

HKFRS 6 Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources2

HKFRS 7 Financial instruments: disclosures1

HK(IFRIC) – Int 4 Determining whether and arrangement contains a lease2

HK(IFRIC) – Int 5 Rights to interests arising from decommissioning,

restoration and environmental rehabilitation Funds2

HK(IFRIC) – Int 6 Liabilities arising from participating in a specific market

waste electrical and electronic equipment3

1. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007.

2. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006.

3. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 December 2005.

The directors anticipate that the adoption of these new HKFRSs in future periods will

have no material impact on the Financial Information of the company.

(VI) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There was no material subsequent events that occurred after 30 April 2006 to the date of

this report.
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(VII) SUBSEQUENT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

No audited financial statements have been prepared by the company in respect of any period

subsequent to 30 April 2006.

Yours faithfully,

CCIF CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

Delores Teh

Practising Certificate Number P03207
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20 July 2006

The Board of Directors

Tianjin Zhongxin Binhai Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

Dear Sirs,

We set out below our report on the financial information relating to Tianjin Zhongxin

Binhai Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (the “company”) in Sections I to VII, including the

balance sheet as at 31 December 2005 and 30 April 2006 and the related income statement,

statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement of the company for the period from 9

December 2004 (date of incorporation) to 31 December 2005 and 4 months ended 30 April 2006

(collectively the “Relevant Periods”) and the notes thereto (collectively the “Financial Information”)

for the inclusion in the circular of Neo-China Group (Holdings) Limited dated 20 July 2006 (the

“Circular”).

The company has prepared its statutory accounts for the period ended 31 December 2005 in

accordance with the relevant accounting principles and financial regulations applicable to the

enterprises established in mainland China (the “PRC GAAP”) and were audited by Tianjin Zhongda

Certified Public Accountants Co., Ltd., registered accountants in mainland China.

The Financial Information has been prepared based on the PRC GAAP statutory accounts

and the unaudited management accounts of the company after making adjustments as appropriate

in compliance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), the collective

terms of which include all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong

Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of

Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).

The management of the company is responsible for preparing the Financial Information

which gives a true and fair view. In preparing the Financial Information which gives a true and fair

view, it is fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently.

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our examination, on the

Financial Information, and to report our opinion.
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As a basis for forming an opinion on the Financial Information, for the purpose of this

report, we have carried out appropriate audit procedures in respect of the financial statements of

the company for the Relevant Periods in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued

by the HKICPA and carried out such additional procedures as we considered necessary in accordance

with Auditing Guideline 3.340 “Prospectus and the Reporting Accountant” issued by the HKICPA.

We have not audited any financial statements of the company in respect to any period subsequent

to 30 April 2006.

In our opinion, for the purpose of this report, the Financial Information on the basis set out

in note 2(a) in Section V, gives a true and fair view of the company’s results and cash flows for the

Relevant Periods and the state of affairs of the company as at 31 December 2005 and 30 April

2006.

(I) INCOME STATEMENT

9 December 1 January 1 January

2004 to 2005 to 2006 to

31 December 30 April 30 April

2005 2005 2006

Section (V) (audited) (unaudited) (audited)

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Other revenue 1 1 –

Administrative expenses (16) (13) (1)

Loss before taxation 3 (15) (12) (1)

Taxation 4 – – –

Loss for the period (15) (12) (1)



– 153 –

APPENDIX III(B) ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT OF TIANJIN ZHONGXIN
BINHAI REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.

3 r d  P ro o f  •  1 9 / 0 7 / 2 0 0 6  •  N e o - C h i n a  •  0 6 0 7 0 2 1 A p p 3 ( b ) ( P r o Tr a n s )

(II) BALANCE SHEET

31 December 30 April 30 April

2005 2005 2006

Section (V) (audited) (unaudited) (audited)

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Current Assets

Amounts due from related

companies 5 69,455 69,455 38,563

Properties under

development 6 13,570 – 14,215

Bank balances and cash 1 1 1

83,026 69,456 52,779

Current Liabilities

Amounts due to related

companies 7 23,202 9,629 40,388

Amount due to a minority

shareholder 7 49,615 49,615 2,183

72,817 59,244 42,571

Net Assets 10,209 10,212 10,208

Capital and Reserves

Registered capital 8 10,000 10,000 10,000

Reserves 9 209 212 208

Total Equity 10,209 10,212 10,208
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(III) STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Exchange

Registered Capital fluctuation Accumulated

Section (V) capital reserve reserve losses Total

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital injection 10,000 8 216 – 10,224

Loss for the period – – – (15) (15)

At 31 December 2005 8, 9 10,000 8 216 (15) 10,209

At 1 January 2006 10,000 8 216 (15) 10,209

Loss for the period – – – (1) (1)

At 30 April 2006 8, 9 10,000 8 216 (16) 10,208

At 1 January 2005 10,000 8 216 – 10,224

Loss for the period – – – (12) (12)

At 30 April 2005 (unaudited) 10,000 8 216 (12) 10,212
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(IV) CASH FLOW STATEMENT

31 December 30 April 30 April
2005 2005 2006

(audited) (unaudited) (audited)

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before taxation (15) (12) (1)

Adjustment for:

Interest income (1) (1) –

Operating cash flows before movements in

working capital (16) (13) (1)

Increase in properties under development (13,570) – (645)

(Increase)/decrease in amounts due from

related companies (69,455) (69,455) 30,892

Increase in amounts due to related companies 23,202 9,629 17,186

Increase/(decrease) in amount due to a

minority shareholder 49,615 49,615 (47,432)

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING
ACTIVITIES (10,224) (10,224) –

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest income 1 1 –

NET CASH GENERATED FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 1 1 –

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from capital injection 10,224 10,224 –

NET CASH GENERATED FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 10,224 10,224 –

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS 1 1 –

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD – – 1

CASH AND EQUIVALENTS AT END OF
THE PERIOD
Bank balances and cash 1 1 1
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(V) NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION

1) General information

The company is a sino-foreign equity joint venture company established in mainland

China and has its registered office and principal place of business at 

9 , Tianjin, the PRC.

2) Principal accounting policies

(a) Statement of compliance

The Financial Information set out in this report has been prepared in accordance

with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which

collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued

by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting

principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

The Financial Information presented also complies with the applicable disclosure

provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange

of Hong Kong Limited.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all

periods presented in the Financial Information. The Financial Information have been

prepared under historical cost convention.

(b) Impairment of assets

At each balance sheet date, the company reviews the carrying amounts of its

tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill to determine whether there is any

indication that those assets suffered an impairment loss. If the recoverable amount of

an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the

asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment loss is recognised as an expense

immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the

asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the

increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been

determined had no impairment loss been recongised for the asset in prior years. A

reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.
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(c) Inventories – property development

The cost of acquiring land held under operating leases is amortised on a straight

line basis over the lease term. If the property is in the course of development or

redevelopment the amortisation charge is included as part of the costs of the property

under development. Inventories in respect of property development activities are carried

at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of properties under development

for sale comprises specifically identified cost, including borrowing costs capitalised,

aggregate cost of development, materials and supplies, wages and other direct expenses

and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value represents the

estimated selling price less estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in

selling the property.

(d) Receivables

Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at

amortised cost less impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts, except where the

receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties without any fixed repayment

terms or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables

are stated at cost less impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts.

(e) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits

with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments

that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an

insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at

acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part

of the company’s cash management are also included as a component of cash and

cash equivalents for the purpose of the cash flow statement. Cash equivalents include

investments and advances denominated in foreign currencies provided that they fulfill

the above criteria.

(f) Payables

Payables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised

cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are

stated at cost.
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(g) Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred

tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit

differs from net profit as reported in the income statement because it excludes items

of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years, and it further

excludes income statement items that are never taxable or deductible.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences

between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and

the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted

for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally

recognised for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are recognised

to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which

deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet

date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable

profit will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the

period when the liability is settled or the asset realised. Deferred tax is charged or

credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited

directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

(h) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when

the company has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,

it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the

obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is

material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to

settle the obligation. Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits

will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed

as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is

remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence

or nonoccurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent

liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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(i) Revenue recognition

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.

(j) Translation of foreign currencies

The company’s functional currency is Renminbi (“RMB”). The Financial

Information are presented in Hong Kong dollars for the purpose as the acquirer,

Neo-China Group (Holdings) Limited presents its accounts in Hong Kong dollars.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign

exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities

denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling

at the balance sheet date. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in income

statement.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical

cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the

transaction dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies

that are stated at fair value are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at

the dates the fair value was determined. The results of foreign operations are translated

into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange

rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.

(k) Related parties

For the purposes of the Financial Information, parties are considered to be

related to the company if the company has the ability, directly or indirectly, to

control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial

and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the company and the party are

subject to common control or common significant influence. Related parties may be

individuals (being members of key management personnel, significant shareholders

and/or their close family members) or other entities and include entities which are

under the significant influence of related parties of the company where those parties

are individuals, and postemployment benefit plans which are for the benefit of

employees of the company or of any entity that is a related party of the company.
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3) Loss before taxation

Loss before taxation is arrived at after crediting:

9 December 1 January 1 January
2004 to 2005 to 2006 to

31 December 30 April 30 April
2005 2005 2006

(audited) (unaudited) (audited)

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest income 1 1 –

4) Taxation

Income tax payable of the company is governed by the Income Tax Law of the

People’s Republic of China and its implementing rules, which provide for a national income

tax rate of 33% (plus a 3% local tax).

No provision for enterprise income tax in the mainland China has been made as the

company did not derive any assessable profit for both periods.

5) Amounts due from related companies

Maximum Maximum
31 December balance during 30 April balance during

2005 the period 2006 the period
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

1,539 1,539 1,539 1,539

Tianjin Zhongxin Jiaye Real

Estate Development Co., Ltd. 57,692 57,692 34,519 57,692

Tianjin Zhongxin Huacheng Real

Estate Development Co., Ltd. – – 2,505 2,505

10,224 10,224 – 10,224

69,455 38,563

Notes:

a) The amounts were unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment. According to

the Sales and Purchase Agreement (Supplementary) dated 5 July 2006, the net credit balance

between the amounts due from/to related companies (after the elimination of inter-company

balances among Property Owners) and the amount due to a minority shareholder shall be capitalized

on or before the Completion Date.

b) The related companies were ultimately controlled by Mr. Li Song Xiao.
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6) Properties under development

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of the period – 13,570

Additions 13,570 645

At end of the period 13,570 14,215

7) Amounts due to related companies/a minority shareholder

The amounts were unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

According to the Sales and Purchase Agreement (Supplementary) dated 5 July 2006, the net

credit balance between the amounts due from/to related companies (after the elimination of

inter-company balances among Property Owners) and the amount due to a minority

shareholder shall be capitalized on or before the Completion Date.

8) Registered capital

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of the period – 10,000

Capital injection 10,000 –

At end of the period 10,000 10,000

The company was established on 9 December 2004 in mainland China as a sino-foreign

equity joint venture. According to the Memorandum of Article, the registered capital of the

company was HK$10,000,000. As per the capital verification report dated 24 February

2005, the shareholders had injected the capital in full.
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9) Reserves

Exchange

Capital fluctuation Accumulated

reserve reserve losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Surplus from capital injection 8 216 – 224

Loss for the period – – (15) (15)

At 31 December 2005 8 216 (15) 209

At 1 January 2006 8 216 (15) 209

Loss for the period – – (1) (1)

At 30 April 2006 8 216 (16) 208

10) Capital commitments

As at the respective balance sheet dates of the Relevant Periods, the company had the

following capital commitments not provided for in the Financial Information:

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracted but not provided for

in the Financial Information 201,216 201,216

Authorized but not contracted

for in the Financial Information – –

201,216 201,216
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11) Financial risk management

The company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign exchange

risk and liquidity risk.

a) Foreign exchange risk

The company’s monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB and

the company conducted its business transactions principally in RMB. The exchange

rate risk of the company is not significant.

b) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the

availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.

The company aims to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit

lines available.

12) Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical

experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be

reasonable under the circumstances.

The company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting

accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates

and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

a) Estimated provision for impairment of other receivables

The company makes impairment losses on bad and doubtful debts based on an

assessment of the recoverability of other receivables. Impairments are applied to

other receivables where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances

may not be collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts requires the use

of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation is different from the original

estimate, such difference will impact carrying value of receivables and bad and doubtful

debts expenses in the period in which such estimate has been charged.
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b) Estimated provision for impairment of property under development

The company makes impairment losses on property under development (“PUD”)

based on an assessment of the net realisable value of the PUD. Impairments are

applied to the PUD where events or changes in circumstances indicates that the net

realizable value is less than cost. The determination of net realisable value requires

the use of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation is different from the

original estimates, such difference will impact carrying value of the PUD and

impairments for PUD expenses in the period in which such estimate has been charged.

13) Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but

not yet effective for the accounting period ended 30 April 2006

Up to the date of issue of the Financial Information, the HKICPA has issued the

following amendments, new standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for the

accounting period ended 30 April 2006 and which have not been adopted in the Financial

Information:

HKAS 1 (Amendment) Capital Disclosures1

HKAS 19 (Amendment) Employee benefits – Actuarial gains and losses, group

plans and disclosures2

HKAS 39 (Amendment) Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement

– Cash flow hedge accounting of forecast intragroup

transactions2

– The fair value option2

– Financial guarantee contracts2

HKFRS 6 Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources2

HKFRS 7 Financial instruments: disclosures1

HK(IFRIC) – Int 4 Determining whether and arrangement contains a lease2

HK(IFRIC) – Int 5 Rights to interests arising from decommissioning,

restoration and environmental rehabilitation Funds2

HK(IFRIC) – Int 6 Liabilities arising from participating in a specific market

waste electrical and electronic equipment3

1. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007.

2. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006.

3. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 December 2005.

The directors anticipate that the adoption of these new HKFRSs in future periods will

have no material impact on the Financial Information of the company.
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(VI) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There were no material subsequent events that occurred after 30 April 2006 to the date of

this report.

(VII) SUBSEQUENT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

No audited financial statements have been prepared by the company in respect of any period

subsequent to 30 April 2006.

Yours faithfully,

CCIF CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

Delores Teh

Practising Certificate Number P03207
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20 July 2006

The Board of Directors

Tianjin Zhongxin Xinjie Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

Dear Sirs,

We set out below our report on the financial information relating to Tianjin Zhongxin Xinjie

Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (the “company”) in Sections I to VII, including the balance

sheet as at 31 December 2005 and 30 April 2006 and the related income statement, statement of

changes in equity and cash flow statement of the company for the period from 3 June 2005 (date of

incorporation) to 31 December 2005 and 4 months ended 30 April 2006 (collectively the “Relevant

Periods”) and the notes thereto (collectively the “Financial Information”) for the inclusion in the

circular of Neo-China Group (Holdings) Limited dated 20 July 2006 (the “Circular”).

The company has prepared its statutory accounts for the period ended 31 December 2005 in

accordance with the relevant accounting principles and financial regulations applicable to the

enterprises established in mainland China (the “PRC GAAP”) and were audited by Tianjin Zhongda

Certified Public Accountants Co., Ltd., registered accountants in mainland China.

The Financial Information has been prepared based on the PRC GAAP statutory accounts

and the unaudited management accounts of the company after making adjustments as appropriate

in compliance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), the collective

terms of which include all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong

Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of

Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).

The management of the company is responsible for preparing the Financial Information

which gives a true and fair view. In preparing the Financial Information which gives a true and fair

view, it is fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently.

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our examination, on the

Financial Information, and to report our opinion.
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As a basis for forming an opinion on the Financial Information, for the purpose of this

report, we have carried out appropriate audit procedures in respect of the financial statements of

the company for the Relevant Periods in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued

by the HKICPA and carried out such additional procedures as we considered necessary in accordance

with Auditing Guideline 3.340 “Prospectus and the Reporting Accountant” issued by the HKICPA.

We have not audited any financial statements of the company in respect to any period subsequent

to 30 April 2006.

In our opinion, for the purpose of this report, the Financial Information on the basis set out

in note 2(a) in Section V, gives a true and fair view of the company’s results and cash flows for the

Relevant Periods and the state of affairs of the company as at 31 December 2005 and 30 April

2006.

(I) INCOME STATEMENT

3 June 2005 1 January

to 2006 to

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

Section (V) (audited) (audited)

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Other revenue 3 –

Administrative expenses (94) (1)

Loss before taxation 3 (91) (1)

Taxation 4 – –

Loss for the period (91) (1)
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(II) BALANCE SHEET

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

Section (V) (audited) (audited)

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Current Assets

Amounts due from related companies 5 16,359 14,832

Properties under development 6 10,014 11,636

Bank balances and cash 3 3

26,376 26,471

Current Liabilities

Amount due to holding company 7 7,216 7,216

Amount due to a related company 7 – 96

7,216 7,312

Net Assets 19,160 19,159

Capital and Reserves

Registered capital 8 19,231 19,231

Reserves 9 (71) (72)

Total Equity 19,160 19,159
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(III) STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Registered Capital Accumulated

Section (V) capital reserve losses Total

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital injection 19,231 20 – 19,251

Loss for the period – – (91) (91)

At 31 December 2005 8, 9 19,231 20 (91) 19,160

At 1 January 2006 19,231 20 (91) 19,160

Loss for the period – – (1) (1)

At 30 April 2006 8, 9 19,231 20 (92) 19,159
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(IV) CASH FLOW STATEMENT

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

(audited) (audited)

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before taxation (91) (1)

Adjustment for:

Interest income (3) –

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (94) (1)

Increase in properties under development (10,014) (1,622)

(Increase)/decrease in amounts due from related companies (16,359) 1,527

Increase in amount due to holding company 7,216 –

Increase in amount due to a related company – 96

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES (19,251) –

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest income 3 –

NET CASH GENERATED FROM

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 3 –

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from capital injection 19,251 –

NET CASH GENERATED FROM

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 19,251 –

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS 3 –

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AT BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD – 3

CASH AND EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE PERIOD

Bank balances and cash 3 3
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(V) NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION

1) General information

The company is a sino-foreign equity joint venture company established in mainland

China and has its registered office and principal place of business at 

17-1 , Tianjin, the PRC.

2) Principal accounting policies

(a) Statement of compliance

The Financial Information set out in this report has been prepared in accordance

with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which

collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued

by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting

principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

The Financial Information presented also complies with the applicable disclosure

provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange

of Hong Kong Limited.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all

periods presented in the Financial Information. The Financial Information have been

prepared under historical cost convention.

(b) Impairment of assets

At each balance sheet date, the company reviews the carrying amounts of its

tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill to determine whether there is any

indication that those assets suffered an impairment loss. If the recoverable amount of

an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the

asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment loss is recognised as an expense

immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the

asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the

increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been

determined had no impairment loss been recongised for the asset in prior years. A

reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.
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(c) Inventories – property development

The cost of acquiring land held under operating leases is amortised on a straight

line basis over the lease term. If the property is in the course of development or

redevelopment the amortisation charge is included as part of the costs of the property

under development. Inventories in respect of property development activities are carried

at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of properties under development

for sale comprises specifically identified cost, including borrowing costs capitalised,

aggregate cost of development, materials and supplies, wages and other direct expenses

and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value represents the

estimated selling price less estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in

selling the property.

(d) Receivables

Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at

amortised cost less impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts, except where the

receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties without any fixed repayment

terms or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables

are stated at cost less impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts.

(e) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits

with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments

that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an

insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at

acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part

of the company’s cash management are also included as a component of cash and

cash equivalents for the purpose of the cash flow statement. Cash equivalents include

investments and advances denominated in foreign currencies provided that they fulfill

the above criteria.

(f) Payables

Payables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised

cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are

stated at cost.
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(g) Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred

tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit

differs from net profit as reported in the income statement because it excludes items

of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years, and it further

excludes income statement items that are never taxable or deductible.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences

between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and

the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted

for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally

recognised for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are recognised

to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which

deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet

date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable

profit will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the

period when the liability is settled or the asset realised. Deferred tax is charged or

credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited

directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

(h) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when

the company has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,

it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the

obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is

material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to

settle the obligation. Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits

will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed

as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is

remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence

or nonoccurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent

liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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(i) Revenue recognition

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.

(j) Translation of foreign currencies

The company’s functional currency is Renminbi (“RMB”). The Financial

Information are presented in Hong Kong dollars for the purpose as the acquirer, Neo-

China Group (Holdings) Limited presents its accounts in Hong Kong dollars.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign

exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities

denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling

at the balance sheet date. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in income

statement.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical

cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the

transaction dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies

that are stated at fair value are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at

the dates the fair value was determined. The results of foreign operations are translated

into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange

rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.

(k) Related parties

For the purposes of the Financial Information, parties are considered to be

related to the company if the company has the ability, directly or indirectly, to

control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial

and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the company and the party are

subject to common control or common significant influence. Related parties may be

individuals (being members of key management personnel, significant shareholders

and/or their close family members) or other entities and include entities which are

under the significant influence of related parties of the company where those parties

are individuals, and postemployment benefit plans which are for the benefit of

employees of the company or of any entity that is a related party of the company.
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3) Loss before taxation

Loss before taxation is arrived at after crediting:

3 June 2005 1 January

to 2006 to

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest income 3 –

4) Taxation

Income tax payable of the company is governed by the Income Tax Law of the

People’s Republic of China and its implementing rules, which provide for a national income

tax rate of 33% (plus a 3% local tax).

No provision for enterprise income tax in the mainland China has been made as the

company did not derive any assessable profit for both periods.

5) Amounts due from related companies

Maximum Maximum

31 December balance during 30 April balance during

2005 the period 2006 the period

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Tianjin Zhongxin Huacheng Real

Estate Development Co., Ltd. 13,520 16,346 12,399 16,346

Tianjin Zhongxin Jiaye Real

Estate Development Co., Ltd. – – 2,433 2,433

2,839 2,839 – 2,839

16,359 14,832

Notes:

a) The amounts were unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment. According to

the Sales and Purchase Agreement (Supplementary) dated 5 July 2006, the net credit balance

between the amounts due from/to related companies (after the elimination of inter-company

balances among Property Owners) and the amount due to holding company shall be capitalized

on or before the Completion Date.

b) The related companies were ultimately controlled by Mr. Li Song Xiao.
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6) Properties under development

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of the period – 10,014

Additions 10,014 1,622

At end of the period 10,014 11,636

7) Amount due to holding company/a related company

The amount was unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

According to the Sales and Purchase Agreement (Supplementary) dated 5 July 2006, the net

credit balance between the amounts due from/to related companies (after the elimination of

inter-company balances among Property Owners) and the amount due to holding company

shall be capitalized on or before the Completion Date.

8) Registered capital

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of the period – 19,231

Capital injection 19,231 –

At end of the period 19,231 19,231

The company was established on 3 June 2005 in mainland China as a sino-foreign

equity joint venture. According to the Memorandum of Article, the registered capital of the

company was RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$19,231,000). As per the

capital verification report dated 8 August 2005, the shareholders had injected the capital in

full.
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9) Reserves

Capital Accumulated

reserve losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Surplus from capital injection 20 – 20

Loss for the period – (91) (91)

At 31 December 2005 20 (91) 71

At 1 January 2006 20 (91) (71)

Loss for the period – (1) (1)

At 30 April 2006 20 (92) (72)

10) Capital commitments

As at the respective balance sheet dates of the Relevant Periods, the company had the

following capital commitments not provided for in the Financial Information:

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracted but not provided for

in the Financial Information 366,316 366,316

Authorized but not contracted

for in the Financial Information – –

366,316 366,316
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11) Financial risk management

The company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign exchange

risk and liquidity risk.

a) Foreign exchange risk

Most of the company’s monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB

and the company conducted its business transactions principally in RMB. The exchange

rate risk of the company is not significant.

b) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the

availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.

The company aims to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit

lines available.

12) Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical

experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be

reasonable under the circumstances.

The company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting

accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates

and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

a) Estimated provision for impairment of other receivables

The company makes impairment losses on bad and doubtful debts based on an

assessment of the recoverability of other receivables. Impairments are applied to

other receivables where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances

may not be collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts requires the use

of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation is different from the original

estimate, such difference will impact carrying value of receivables and bad and doubtful

debts expenses in the period in which such estimate has been charged.
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b) Estimated provision for impairment of property under development

The company makes impairment losses on property under development (“PUD”)

based on an assessment of the net realisable value of the PUD. Impairments are

applied to the PUD where events or changes in circumstances indicates that the net

realizable value is less than cost. The determination of net realisable value requires

the use of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation is different from the

original estimates, such difference will impact carrying value of the PUD and

impairments for PUD expenses in the period in which such estimate has been charged.

13) Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but

not yet effective for the accounting period ended 30 April 2006

Up to the date of issue of the Financial Information, the HKICPA has issued the

following amendments, new standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for the

accounting period ended 30 April 2006 and which have not been adopted in the Financial

Information:

HKAS 1 (Amendment) Capital Disclosures1

HKAS 19 (Amendment) Employee benefits – Actuarial gains and losses, group

plans and disclosures2

HKAS 39 (Amendment) Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement

– Cash flow hedge accounting of forecast intragroup

transactions2

– The fair value option2

– Financial guarantee contracts2

HKFRS 6 Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources2

HKFRS 7 Financial instruments: disclosures1

HK(IFRIC) – Int 4 Determining whether and arrangement contains a lease2

HK(IFRIC) – Int 5 Rights to interests arising from decommissioning,

restoration and environmental rehabilitation Funds2

HK(IFRIC) – Int 6 Liabilities arising from participating in a specific market

waste electrical and electronic equipment3

1. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007.

2. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006.

3. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 December 2005.

The directors anticipate that the adoption of these new HKFRSs in future periods will

have no material impact on the Financial Information of the company.
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(VI) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There were no material subsequent events that occurred after 30 April 2006 to the date of

this report.

(VII) SUBSEQUENT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

No audited financial statements have been prepared by the company in respect of any period

subsequent to 30 April 2006.

Yours faithfully,

CCIF CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

Delores Teh

Practising Certificate Number P03207
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20 July 2006

The Board of Directors

Tianjin Zhongxin Mingshi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

Dear Sirs,

We set out below our report on the financial information relating to Tianjin Zhongxin

Mingshi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (the “company”) in Sections I to VII, including the

balance sheet as at 31 December 2005 and 30 April 2006 and the related income statement,

statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement of the company for the period from 3 June

2005 (date of incorporation) to 31 December 2005 and 4 months ended 30 April 2006 (collectively

the “Relevant Periods”) and the notes thereto (collectively the “Financial Information”) for the

inclusion in the circular of Neo-China Group (Holdings) Limited dated 20 July 2006 (the “Circular”).

The company has prepared its statutory accounts for the period ended 31 December 2005 in

accordance with the relevant accounting principles and financial regulations applicable to the

enterprises established in mainland China (the “PRC GAAP”) and were audited by Tianjin Zhongda

Certified Public Accountants Co., Ltd., registered accountants in mainland China.

The Financial Information has been prepared based on the PRC GAAP statutory accounts

and the unaudited management accounts of the company after making adjustments as appropriate

in compliance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), the collective

terms of which include all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong

Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of

Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).

The management of the company is responsible for preparing the Financial Information

which gives a true and fair view. In preparing the Financial Information which gives a true and fair

view, it is fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently.

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our examination, on the

Financial Information, and to report our opinion.



– 182 –

APPENDIX III(D) ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT OF TIANJIN ZHONGXIN
MINGSHI REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.

3 r d  P ro o f  •  1 9 / 0 7 / 2 0 0 6  •  N e o - C h i n a  •  0 6 0 7 0 2 1 A p p 3 ( d ) ( P r o Tr a n s )

As a basis for forming an opinion on the Financial Information, for the purpose of this

report, we have carried out appropriate audit procedures in respect of the financial statements of

the company for the Relevant Periods in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued

by the HKICPA and carried out such additional procedures as we considered necessary in accordance

with Auditing Guideline 3.340 “Prospectus and the Reporting Accountant” issued by the HKICPA.

We have not audited any financial statements of the company in respect to any period subsequent

to 30 April 2006.

In our opinion, for the purpose of this report, the Financial Information on the basis set out

in note 2(a) in Section V, gives a true and fair view of the company’s results and cash flows for the

Relevant Periods and the state of affairs of the company as at 31 December 2005 and 30 April

2006.

(I) INCOME STATEMENT

3 June 2005 1 January

to 2006 to

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

Section (V) (audited) (audited)

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Other revenue 3 –

Administrative expenses (93) –

Loss before taxation 3 (90) –

Taxation 4 – –

Loss for the period (90) –
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(II) BALANCE SHEET

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

Section (V) (audited) (audited)

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Current Assets

Amounts due from related companies 5 19,085 18,180

Properties under development 6 5,822 6,727

Bank balances and cash 2 2

24,909 24,909

Current Liabilities

Amount due to holding company 7 5,748 5,748

Net Assets 19,161 19,161

Capital and Reserves

Registered capital 8 19,231 19,231

Reserves 9 (70) (70)

Total Equity 19,161 19,161
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(III) STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Registered Capital Accumulated

Section (V) capital reserve losses Total

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital injection 19,231 20 – 19,251

Loss for the period – – (90) (90)

At 31 December 2005 8, 9 19,231 20 (90) 19,161

At 1 January 2006 19,231 20 (90) 19,161

Loss for the period – – – –

At 30 April 2006 8, 9 19,231 20 (90) 19,161
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(IV) CASH FLOW STATEMENT

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

(audited) (audited)

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before taxation (90) –

Adjustment for:

Interest income (3) –

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (93) –

Increase in properties under development (5,822) (905)

(Increase)/decrease in amounts due from related companies (19,085) 905

Increase in amount due to holding company 5,748 –

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES (19,252) –

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest income 3 –

NET CASH GENERATED FROM

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 3 –

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from capital injection 19,251 –

NET CASH GENERATED FROM

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 19,251 –

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS 2 –

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AT BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD – 2

CASH AND EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE PERIOD

Bank balances and cash 2 2
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(V) NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION

1) General information

The company is a sino-foreign equity joint venture company established in mainland

China and has its registered office and principal place of business at 

9-1 , Tianjin, the PRC.

2) Principal accounting policies

(a) Statement of compliance

The Financial Information set out in this report has been prepared in accordance

with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which

collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued

by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting

principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

The Financial Information presented also complies with the applicable disclosure

provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange

of Hong Kong Limited.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all

periods presented in the Financial Information. The Financial Information have been

prepared under historical cost convention.

(b) Impairment of assets

At each balance sheet date, the company reviews the carrying amounts of its

tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill to determine whether there is any

indication that those assets suffered an impairment loss. If the recoverable amount of

an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the

asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment loss is recognised as an expense

immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the

asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the

increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been

determined had no impairment loss been recongised for the asset in prior years. A

reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.
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(c) Inventories – property development

The cost of acquiring land held under operating leases is amortised on a straight

line basis over the lease term. If the property is in the course of development or

redevelopment the amortisation charge is included as part of the costs of the property

under development. Inventories in respect of property development activities are carried

at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of properties under development

for sale comprises specifically identified cost, including borrowing costs capitalised,

aggregate cost of development, materials and supplies, wages and other direct expenses

and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value represents the

estimated selling price less estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in

selling the property.

(d) Receivables

Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at

amortised cost less impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts, except where the

receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties without any fixed repayment

terms or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables

are stated at cost less impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts.

(e) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits

with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments

that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an

insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at

acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part

of the company’s cash management are also included as a component of cash and

cash equivalents for the purpose of the cash flow statement. Cash equivalents include

investments and advances denominated in foreign currencies provided that they fulfill

the above criteria.

(f) Payables

Payables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised

cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are

stated at cost.
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(g) Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred

tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit

differs from net profit as reported in the income statement because it excludes items

of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years, and it further

excludes income statement items that are never taxable or deductible.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences

between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and

the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted

for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally

recognised for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are recognised

to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which

deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet

date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable

profit will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the

period when the liability is settled or the asset realised. Deferred tax is charged or

credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited

directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

(h) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when

the company has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,

it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the

obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is

material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to

settle the obligation. Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits

will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed

as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is

remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence

or nonoccurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent

liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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(i) Revenue recognition

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.

(j) Translation of foreign currencies

The company’s functional currency is Renminbi (“RMB”). The Financial

Information are presented in Hong Kong dollars for the purpose as the acquirer,

Neo-China Group (Holdings) Limited presents its accounts in Hong Kong dollars.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign

exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities

denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling

at the balance sheet date. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in income

statement.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical

cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the

transaction dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies

that are stated at fair value are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at

the dates the fair value was determined. The results of foreign operations are translated

into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange

rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.

(k) Related parties

For the purposes of the Financial Information, parties are considered to be

related to the company if the company has the ability, directly or indirectly, to

control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial

and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the company and the party are

subject to common control or common significant influence. Related parties may be

individuals (being members of key management personnel, significant shareholders

and/or their close family members) or other entities and include entities which are

under the significant influence of related parties of the company where those parties

are individuals, and postemployment benefit plans which are for the benefit of

employees of the company or of any entity that is a related party of the company.
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3) Loss before taxation

Loss before taxation is arrived at after crediting:

3 June 2005 1 January

to 2006 to

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest income 3 –

4) Taxation

Income tax payable of the company is governed by the Income Tax Law of the

People’s Republic of China and its implementing rules, which provide for a national income

tax rate of 33% (plus a 3% local tax).

No provision for enterprise income tax in the mainland China has been made as the

company did not derive any assessable profit for both periods.

5) Amounts due from related companies

Maximum Maximum

31 December balance during 30 April balance during

2005 the period 2006 the period

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Tianjin Zhongxin Huacheng Real

Estate Development Co., Ltd. 16,246 16,333 15,350 16,246

Tianjin Zhongxin Jiaye Real

Estate Development Co., Ltd. – – 2,830 2,830

2,839 2,839 – 2,839

19,085 18,180

Notes:

a) The amounts were unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment. According to

the Sales and Purchase Agreement (Supplementary) dated 5 July 2006, the net credit balance

between the amounts due from related companies (after the elimination of inter-company balances

among Property Owners) and the amount due to holding company shall be capitalized on or

before the Completion Date.

b) The related companies were ultimately controlled by Mr. Li Song Xiao.



– 191 –

APPENDIX III(D) ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT OF TIANJIN ZHONGXIN
MINGSHI REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.

3 r d  P ro o f  •  1 9 / 0 7 / 2 0 0 6  •  N e o - C h i n a  •  0 6 0 7 0 2 1 A p p 3 ( d ) ( P r o Tr a n s )

6) Properties under development

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of the period – 5,822

Additions 5,822 905

At end of the period 5,822 6,727

7) Amount due to holding company

The amount was unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of repayment.

According to the Sales and Purchase Agreement (Supplementary) dated 5 July 2006, the net

credit balance between the amounts due from related companies (after the elimination of

inter-company balances among Property Owners) and the amount due to holding company

shall be capitalized on or before the Completion Date.

8) Registered capital

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of the period – 19,231

Capital injection 19,231 –

At end of the period 19,231 19,231

The company was established on 3 June 2005 in mainland China as a sino-foreign

equity joint venture. According to the Memorandum of Article, the registered capital of the

company was RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$19,231,000). As per the

capital verification report dated 9 August 2005, the shareholders had injected the capital in

full.
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9) Reserves

Capital Accumulated

reserve losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Surplus from capital injection 20 – 20

Loss for the period – (90) (90)

At 31 December 2005 20 (90) (70)

At 1 January 2006 20 (90) (70)

Loss for the period – – –

At 30 April 2006 20 (90) (70)

10) Capital commitments

As at the respective balance sheet dates of the Relevant Periods, the company had the

following capital commitments not provided for in the Financial Information:

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracted but not provided for

in the Financial Information 292,767 292,767

Authorized but not contracted

for in the Financial Information – –

292,767 292,767
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11) Financial risk management

The company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign exchange

risk and liquidity risk.

a) Foreign exchange risk

Most of the company’s monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB,

and the company conducted its business transactions principally in RMB. The exchange

rate risk of the company is not significant.

b) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the

availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.

The company aims to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit

lines available.

12) Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical

experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be

reasonable under the circumstances.

The company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting

accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates

and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

a) Estimated provision for impairment of other receivables

The company makes impairment losses on bad and doubtful debts based on an

assessment of the recoverability of other receivables. Impairments are applied to

other receivables where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances

may not be collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts requires the use

of judgment and estimates. Where the expectation is different from the original

estimate, such difference will impact carrying value of receivables and bad and doubtful

debts expenses in the period in which such estimate has been charged.
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b) Estimated provision for impairment of property under development

The company makes impairment losses on property under development (“PUD”)

based on an assessment of the net realisable value of the PUD. Impairments are

applied to the PUD where events or changes in circumstances indicates that the net

realizable value is less than cost. The determination of net realisable value requires

the use of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation is different from the

original estimates, such difference will impact carrying value of the PUD and

impairments for PUD expenses in the period in which such estimate has been charged.

13) Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but

not yet effective for the accounting period ended 30 April 2006

Up to the date of issue of the Financial Information, the HKICPA has issued the

following amendments, new standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for the

accounting period ended 30 April 2006 and which have not been adopted in the Financial

Information:

HKAS 1 (Amendment) Capital Disclosures1

HKAS 19 (Amendment) Employee benefits – Actuarial gains and losses, group

plans and disclosures2

HKAS 39 (Amendment) Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement

– Cash flow hedge accounting of forecast intragroup

transactions2

– The fair value option2

– Financial guarantee contracts2

HKFRS 6 Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources2

HKFRS 7 Financial instruments: disclosures1

HK(IFRIC) – Int 4 Determining whether and arrangement contains a lease2

HK(IFRIC) – Int 5 Rights to interests arising from decommissioning,

restoration and environmental rehabilitation Funds2

HK(IFRIC) – Int 6 Liabilities arising from participating in a specific market

waste electrical and electronic equipment3

1. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007.

2. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006.

3. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 December 2005.

The directors anticipate that the adoption of these new HKFRSs in future periods will

have no material impact on the Financial Information of the company.
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(VI) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There were no material subsequent events that occurred after 30 April 2006 to the date of

this report.

(VII) SUBSEQUENT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

No audited financial statements have been prepared by the company in respect of any period

subsequent to 30 April 2006.

Yours faithfully,

CCIF CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

Delores Teh

Practising Certificate Number P03207
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20 July 2006

The Board of Directors

Tianjin Zhongxin Jiaye Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

Dear Sirs,

We set out below our report on the financial information relating to Tianjin Zhongxin Jiaye

Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (the “company”) in Sections I to VII, including the balance

sheet as at 31 December 2005 and 30 April 2006 and the related income statement, statement of

changes in equity and cash flow statement of the company for the period from 3 June 2005 (date of

incorporation) to 31 December 2005 and 4 months ended 30 April 2006 (collectively the “Relevant

Periods”) and the notes thereto (collectively the “Financial Information”) for the inclusion in the

circular of Neo-China Group (Holdings) Limited dated 20 July 2006 (the “Circular”).

The company has prepared its statutory accounts for the period ended 31 December 2005 in

accordance with the relevant accounting principles and financial regulations applicable to the

enterprises established in mainland China (the “PRC GAAP”) and were audited by Tianjin Zhongda

Certified Public Accountants Co., Ltd., registered accountants in mainland China.

The Financial Information has been prepared based on the PRC GAAP statutory accounts

and the unaudited management accounts of the company after making adjustments as appropriate

in compliance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), the collective

terms of which include all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong

Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of

Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).

The management of the company is responsible for preparing the Financial Information

which gives a true and fair view. In preparing the Financial Information which gives a true and fair

view, it is fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently.

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our examination, on the

Financial Information, and to report our opinion.
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As a basis for forming an opinion on the Financial Information, for the purpose of this

report, we have carried out appropriate audit procedures in respect of the financial statements of

the company for the Relevant Periods in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued

by the HKICPA and carried out such additional procedures as we considered necessary in accordance

with Auditing Guideline 3.340 “Prospectus and the Reporting Accountant” issued by the HKICPA.

We have not audited any financial statements of the company in respect to any period subsequent

to 30 April 2006.

In our opinion, for the purpose of this report, the Financial Information on the basis set out

in note 2(a) in Section V, gives a true and fair view of the company’s results and cash flows for the

Relevant Periods and the state of affairs of the company as at 31 December 2005 and 30 April

2006.

(I) INCOME STATEMENT

3 June 2005 1 January

to 2006 to

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

Section (V) (audited) (audited)

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Other revenue 43 5

Administrative expenses (145) (110)

Loss before taxation 3 (102) (105)

Taxation 4 – –

Loss for the period (102) (105)



– 198 –

APPENDIX III(E) ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT OF TIANJIN ZHONGXIN
JIAYE REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.

3 r d  P r o o f  •  1 9 / 0 7 / 2 0 0 6  •  N e o - C h i n a  •  0 6 0 7 0 2 1 A p p 3 ( e ) ( P r o Tr a n s )

(II) BALANCE SHEET

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

Section (V) (audited) (audited)

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-Current Assets

Plant and equipment 5 85 501

Current Assets

Amount due from holding company 6 80,769 –

Amounts due from related companies 7 2,837 110,507

Properties under development 8 287,068 299,039

Prepayment, deposits and

other receivables 1,180 6,171

Bank balances and cash 182 72,427

372,036 488,144

Current Liabilities

Amounts due to related companies 9 256,819 247,707

Amount due to holding company 6 – 19,183

Trade and other payables – 31,021

Advance from customers 10 – 75,537

Interest bearing borrowings 11 – 96,153

256,819 469,601

Net Current Assets 115,217 18,543

Total Assets less Current Liabilities 115,302 19,044

Non-current liabilities

Interest bearing borrowings 11 96,153 –

19,149 19,044

Capital and Reserves

Registered capital 12 19,231 19,231

Reserves 13 (82) (187)

Total Equity 19,149 19,044
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(III) STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Registered Capital Accumulated

Section (V) capital reserve losses Total

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital injection 19,231 20 – 19,251

Loss for the period – – (102) (102)

At 31 December 2005 12, 13 19,231 20 (102) 19,149

At 1 January 2006 19,231 20 (102) 19,149

Loss for the period – – (105) (105)

At 30 April 2006 12, 13 19,231 20 (207) 19,044
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(IV) CASH FLOW STATEMENT

31 December 30 April
2005 2006

(audited) (audited)

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before taxation (102) (105)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation – 1

Interest income (43) (5)

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (145) (109)

Increase in properties under development (287,067) (11,963)

Increase in trade and other receivables (1,180) (4,989)

(Increase)/decrease in amount due from holding company (80,769) 80,769

Increase in amounts due from related companies (2,837) (107,670)

Increase in trade and other payables – 31,021

Increase in advance from customers – 75,537

Increase in amount due to holding company – 19,183

Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to related companies 256,819 (9,112)

NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED
FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (115,179) 72,667

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest income 43 5

Purchase of plant and equipment (86) (427)

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (43) (442)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Inception of other loans 96,153 –

Proceeds from capital injection 19,251 –

NET CASH GENERATED FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 115,404 –

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS 182 72,245

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD – 182

CASH AND EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE PERIOD
Bank balances and cash 182 72,427
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(V) NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION

1) General information

The company is a sino-foreign joint venture limited company established in mainland

China and has its registered office and principal place of business at 

17-2 , Tianjin, the PRC.

2) Principal accounting policies

(a) Statement of compliance

The Financial Information set out in this report has been prepared in accordance

with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which

collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued

by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting

principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

The Financial Information presented also complies with the applicable disclosure

provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange

of Hong Kong Limited. The Financial Information have been prepared under historical

cost convention.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all

periods presented in the Financial Information.

(b) Plant and equipment

The following items of plant and equipment are stated in the balance sheet at

cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of plant and

equipment are determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the

carrying amount of the item and are recognised in income statement on the date of

retirement or disposal.
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Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of plant and equipment,

less their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight line method over their

estimated useful lives as follows:

Office equipment 10 years

Motor vehicle 10 years

Where parts of an item of plant and equipment have different useful lives, the

cost of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is

depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any,

are reviewed annually.

(c) Impairment of assets

At each balance sheet date, the company reviews the carrying amounts of its

tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill to determine whether there is any

indication that those assets suffered an impairment loss. If the recoverable amount of

an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the

asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment loss is recognised as an expense

immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the

asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the

increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been

determined had no impairment loss been recongised for the asset in prior years. A

reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

(d) Inventories – property development

The cost of acquiring land held under operating leases is amortised on a straight

line basis over the lease term. If the property is in the course of development or

redevelopment the amortisation charge is included as part of the costs of the property

under development. Inventories in respect of property development activities are carried

at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of properties under development

for sale comprises specifically identified cost, including borrowing costs capitalised

(see note (2m)), aggregate cost of development, materials and supplies, wages and

other direct expenses and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value

represents the estimated selling price less estimated costs of completion and costs to

be incurred in selling the property.
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(e) Receivables

Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at

amortised cost less impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts (see note (2c)),

except where the receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties without

any fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such

cases, the receivables are stated at cost less impairment losses for bad and doubtful

debts (see note (2c)).

(f) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits

with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments

that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an

insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at

acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part

of the company’s cash management are also included as a component of cash and

cash equivalents for the purpose of the cash flow statement. Cash equivalents include

investments and advances denominated in foreign currencies provided that they fulfill

the above criteria.

(g) Interest bearing borrowings

Interest bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable

transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest bearing borrowings are

stated at amortised cost with any difference between cost and redemption value being

recognised in income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective

interest method.

(h) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter

stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in

which case they are stated at cost.
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(i) Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred

tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit

differs from net profit as reported in the income statement because it excludes items

of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years, and it further

excludes income statement items that are never taxable or deductible.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences

between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and

the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted

for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally

recognised for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are recognised

to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which

deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet

date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable

profit will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the

period when the liability is settled or the asset realised. Deferred tax is charged or

credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited

directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

(j) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when

the company has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,

it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the

obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is

material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to

settle the obligation. Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits

will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed

as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is

remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence

or nonoccurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent

liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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(k) Revenue recognition

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.

(l) Translation of foreign currencies

The company’s functional currency is Renminbi (“RMB”). The Financial

Information are presented in Hong Kong dollars for the purpose as the acquirer,

Neo-China Group (Holdings) Limited presents its accounts in Hong Kong dollars.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign

exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities

denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling

at the balance sheet date. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in income

statement.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical

cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the

transaction dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies

that are stated at fair value are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at

the dates the fair value was determined. The results of foreign operations are translated

into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange

rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.

(m) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in income statement in the period in which they

are incurred, except to the extent that they are capitalised as being directly attributable

to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a

substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale. The capitalisation

of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences when

expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and

activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in

progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially

all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale

are interrupted or complete.
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(n) Related parties

For the purposes of the Financial Information, parties are considered to be

related to the company if the company has the ability, directly or indirectly, to

control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial

and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the company and the party are

subject to common control or common significant influence. Related parties may be

individuals (being members of key management personnel, significant shareholders

and/or their close family members) or other entities and include entities which are

under the significant influence of related parties of the company where those parties

are individuals, and postemployment benefit plans which are for the benefit of

employees of the company or of any entity that is a related party of the company.

3) Loss before taxation

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

1 January 1 January

2005 to 2006 to

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Depreciation 1 11

Less: amounts capitalized (1) (10)

– 1

Interest income (43) (5)

4) Taxation

Income tax payable of the company is governed by the Income Tax Law of the

People’s Republic of China and its implementing rules, which provide for a national income

tax rate of 33% (plus a 3% local tax).

Income tax has not been provided for during the Relevant Periods as the company did

not derive any profit which subject to income tax.
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5) Plant and equipment

Office Motor

equipment vehicle Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost

Additions and at 31 December 2005 86 – 86

At 1 January 2006 86 – 86

Additions 142 285 427

At 30 April 2006 228 285 513

Accumulated depreciation

Provided during the period and

at 31 December 2005 1 – 1

At 1 January 2006 1 – 1

Provided during the period 7 4 11

At 30 April 2006 8 4 12

Net book value

At 31 December 2005 85 – 85

At 30 April 2006 220 281 501

6) Amount due from/(to) holding company

Maximum Maximum

31 December balance during 30 April balance during

2005 the period 2006 the period

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

80,769 80,769 (19,183) N/A

Note:

The amount was unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of repayment. According to the Sales and

Purchase Agreement (Supplementary) dated 5 July 2006, the net credit balance between the amount due

from/to holding company and the amounts due from/to related companies (after the elimination of inter-

company balances among Property Owners) shall be capitalized on or before the Completion Date.
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7) Amounts due from related companies

Maximum Maximum

31 December balance during 30 April balance during

2005 the period 2006 the period

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2,837 2,837 110,411 116,561

Tianjin Xinrun Real Estate

Development Co., Ltd. – – 96 96

2,837 110,507

Notes:

a) The amounts were unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment. According to

the Sales and Purchase Agreement (Supplementary) dated 5 July 2006, the net credit balance

between the amount due from/to holding company and the amounts due from/to related companies

(after the elimination of inter-company balances among Property Owners) shall be capitalized on

or before the Completion Date.

b) The related companies were ultimately controlled by Mr. Li Song Xiao.

8) Properties under development

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of the period – 287,068

Capitalization of borrowing costs 3,826 3,846

Other additions 283,242 8,125

At end of the period 287,068 299,039

9) Amounts due to related companies

The amounts were unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

According to the Sales and Purchase Agreement (Supplementary) dated 5 July 2006, the net

credit balance between the amounts due from/to holding company and the amounts due

from/to related companies (after the elimination of inter-company balances among Property

Owners) shall be capitalized on or before the Completion Date.



– 209 –

APPENDIX III(E) ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT OF TIANJIN ZHONGXIN
JIAYE REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.

3 r d  P r o o f  •  1 9 / 0 7 / 2 0 0 6  •  N e o - C h i n a  •  0 6 0 7 0 2 1 A p p 3 ( e ) ( P r o Tr a n s )

10) Advance from customers

The amount represents deposits received on sales of properties net of sales taxes and

other relevant indirect taxes imposed by the mainland China tax authority.

11) Interest-bearing borrowings

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of the period – 96,153

Other loan (Note) 96,153 –

At end of the period 96,153 96,153

Represented by:

Current portion – 96,153

Non-current portion 96,153 –

96,153 96,153

Note:

The loan was originally granted to Tianjin Neo-China Construction Investment Co., Ltd., a related company,

which was re-assigned to the company in 2005 (note 15). It is interest bearing at 7.5% per annum with the

term of the loan from 15 August 2005 to 15 February 2007.

12) Registered capital

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of the period – 19,231

Capital injection 19,231 –

At end of the period 19,231 19,231
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The company was established on 3 June 2005 in mainland China as a sino-foreign

equity joint venture. According to the Memorandum of Article, the registered capital of the

company was RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$19,231,000). As per the

capital verification report dated 8 July 2005, the shareholders had injected the capital in

full.

13) Reserves

Capital Accumulated

reserve losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At date of incorporation – – –

Loss for the period 20 (102) (82)

At 31 December 2005 20 (102) (82)

At 1 January 2006 20 (102) (82)

Loss for the period – (105) (105)

At 30 April 2006 20 (207) (187)

14) Capital commitments

As at the respective balance sheet dates of the Relevant Periods, the company had the

following capital commitments not provided for in the Financial Information:

31 December

2005 30 April 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracted but not provided for

in the Financial Information 22,553 20,767

Authorized but not contracted

for in the Financial Information – –

22,553 20,767
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15) Related party transactions

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in the Financial

Information, the company entered into the following related party transactions which was

carried out in the normal course of business:

31 December 30 April

Name of related party Nature of transaction 2005 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Tianjin Neo-China Service fee expenses 481 –

Construction

Investment Co., Interest bearing borrowings

Ltd. (note) (note 11) 96,153 –

Note:

Tianjin Neo-China Construction Investment Co., Ltd. was ultimately controlled by Mr. Li Song Xiao.

16) Financial risk management

The company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign exchange

risk, liquidity risk, cash flow interest-rate risk and fair value interest rate risk.

a) Foreign exchange risk

The company’s monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB and

the company conducted its business transactions principally in RMB. The exchange

rate risk of the company is not significant.

b) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the

availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.

The company aims to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit

lines available.
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c) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The company’s interest-rate risk arises from debt borrowings. Borrowings issued

at fixed rates expose the company to fair value interest-rate risk. As the company has

no significant interest-bearing assets, the company’s income and operating cash flows

are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates.

17) Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical

experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be

reasonable under the circumstances.

The company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting

accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates

and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

a) Estimated provision for impairment of other receivables

The company makes impairment losses on bad and doubtful debts based on an

assessment of the recoverability of other receivables. Impairments are applied to

other receivables where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances

may not be collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts requires the use

of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation is different from the original

estimate, such difference will impact carrying value of receivables and bad and doubtful

debts expenses in the period in which such estimate has been charged.

b) Estimated provision for impairment of property under development

The company makes impairment losses on property under development (“PUD”)

based on an assessment of the net realisable value of the PUD. Impairments are

applied to the PUD where events or changes in circumstances indicates that the net

realizable value is less than cost. The determination of net realisable value requires

the use of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation is different from the

original estimates, such difference will impact carrying value of the PUD and

impairments for PUD expenses in the period in which such estimate has been charged.
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c) Income tax

The company is subject to taxation in mainland China. Significant judgement

is required in determining the provision for tax and the timing of payment of the

related tax. There are transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax

determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax

outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,

such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period

in which such determination is made.

18) Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but

not yet effective for the accounting period ended 30 April 2006

Up to the date of issue of the Financial Information, the HKICPA has issued the

following amendments, new standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for the

accounting period ended 30 April 2006 and which have not been adopted in the Financial

Information:

HKAS 1 (Amendment) Capital Disclosures1

HKAS 19 (Amendment) Employee benefits – Actuarial gains and losses, group

plans and disclosures2

HKAS 39 (Amendment) Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement

– Cash flow hedge accounting of forecast intragroup

transactions2

– The fair value option2

– Financial guarantee contracts2

HKFRS 6 Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources2

HKFRS 7 Financial instruments: disclosures1

HK(IFRIC) – Int 4 Determining whether and arrangement contains a lease2

HK(IFRIC) – Int 5 Rights to interests arising from decommissioning,

restoration and environmental rehabilitation Funds2

HK(IFRIC) – Int 6 Liabilities arising from participating in a specific market

waste electrical and electronic equipment3

1. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007.

2. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006.

3. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 December 2005.

The directors anticipate that the adoption of these new HKFRSs in future periods will

have no material impact on the Financial Information of the company.
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(VI) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There were no material subsequent events that occurred after 30 April 2006 to the date of

this report.

(VII) SUBSEQUENT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

No audited financial statements have been prepared by the company in respect of any period

subsequent to 30 April 2006.

Yours faithfully,

CCIF CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

Delores Teh

Practising Certificate Number P03207
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20 July 2006

The Board of Directors

Tianjin Zhongxin Huacheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

Dear Sirs,

We set out below our report on the financial information relating to Tianjin Zhongxin

Huacheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (the “company”) in Sections I to VII, including the

balance sheet as at 31 December 2004, 31 December 2005 and 30 April 2006 and the related

income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement of the company for the

period from 23 September 2004 (date of incorporation) to 31 December 2004, for the year ended

31 December 2005 and 4 months ended 30 April 2006 (collectively the “Relevant Periods”) and

the notes thereto (collectively the “Financial Information”) for the inclusion in the circular of Neo-

China Group (Holdings) Limited dated 20 July 2006 (the “Circular”).

The company has prepared its statutory accounts for the year ended 31 December 2005 in

accordance with the relevant accounting principles and financial regulations applicable to the

enterprises established in mainland China (the “PRC GAAP”) and were audited by Tianjin Zhongda

Certified Public Accountants Co., Ltd., registered accountants in mainland China.

The Financial Information has been prepared based on the PRC GAAP statutory accounts

and the unaudited management accounts of the company after making adjustments as appropriate

in compliance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), the collective

terms of which include all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong

Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of

Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).

The management of the company is responsible for preparing the Financial Information

which gives a true and fair view. In preparing the Financial Information which gives a true and fair

view, it is fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently.
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It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our examination, on the

Financial Information, and to report our opinion.

As a basis for forming an opinion on the Financial Information, for the purpose of this

report, we have carried out appropriate audit procedures in respect of the financial statements of

the company for the Relevant Periods in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued

by the HKICPA and carried out such additional procedures as we considered necessary in accordance

with Auditing Guideline 3.340 “Prospectus and the Reporting Accountant” issued by the HKICPA.

We have not audited any financial statements of the company in respect to any period subsequent

to 30 April 2006.

In our opinion, for the purpose of this report, the Financial Information on the basis set out

in note 2(a) in Section V, gives a true and fair view of the company’s results and cash flows for the

Relevant Periods and the state of affairs of the company as at 31 December 2004, 31 December

2005 and 30 April 2006.

(I) INCOME STATEMENT

23 September 1 January

2004 to 31 2005 to 31 1 January 1 January

December December 2005 to 30 2006 to 30

2004 2005 April 2005 April 2006

Section (V) (audited) (audited) (unaudited) (audited)

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Other revenue 46 135 7 36

Administrative expenses (107) (322) (62) (6)

(Loss)/profit before taxation 3 (61) (187) (55) 30

Taxation 4 – – – –

(Loss)/profit for the

period/year (61) (187) (55) 30
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(II) BALANCE SHEET

31 December 31 December 30 April 30 April
2004 2005 2005 2006

Section (V) (audited) (audited) (unaudited) (audited)
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-Current Assets
Plant and equipment 5 722 1,201 1,598 1,181

Current Assets
Amount due from holding

company 6 – – – 11,268
Amounts due from related

companies 7 – 31,811 9,693 2,416
Amount due from minority

shareholder – – 11,575 –
Other non-current financial

assets 8 – 154 – –
Properties under development 9 200,164 341,387 222,186 416,138
Prepayment, deposits and

other receivables 788 42,501 2,209 23,356
Pledged bank deposits – – – 14,868
Bank balances and cash 5,691 9,672 1,130 12,737

206,643 425,525 246,793 480,783

Current Liabilities
Amounts due to related

companies 10 – 39,367 9,613 166,450
Amount due to holding

company 6 154,278 102,261 164,249 –
Amount due to a minority

shareholder 10 2,060 32,259 – 11,198
Trade and other payables 3,011 65,587 26,568 74,228
Advance from customers 11 – – – 4,947
Secured interest-bearing

borrowings 12 – 139,423 – 177,282

159,349 378,897 200,430 434,105

Net Current Assets 47,294 46,628 46,363 46,678

Total Assets less
Current Liabilities 48,016 47,829 47,961 47,859

Capital and Reserves
Registered capital 13 48,077 48,077 48,077 48,077
Reserves 14 (61) (248) (116) (218)

Total Equity 48,016 47,829 47,961 47,859
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(III) STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Section (V) Registered Accumulated

Notes capital losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital injection 48,077 – 48,077

Loss for the period – (61) (61)

At 31 December 2004 13, 14 48,077 (61) 48,016

At 1 January 2005 48,077 (61) 48,016

Loss for the year – (187) (187)

At 31 December 2005 13, 14 48,077 (248) 47,829

At 1 January 2006 48,077 (248) 47,829

Profit for the period – 30 30

At 30 April 2006 13, 14 48,077 (218) 47,859

At 1 January 2005 48,077 (61) 48,016

Profit for the period – (55) (55)

At 30 April 2005 (unaudited) 48,077 (116) 47,961
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(IV) CASH FLOW STATEMENT

31 December 31 December 30 April 30 April

2004 2005 2005 2006

(audited) (audited) (unaudited) (audited)

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Loss)/profit before taxation (61) (187) (55) 30

Adjustments for:

Depreciation – 8 3 3

Gain on disposals of non-current

financial assets – – – (2)

Interest income (46) (135) (7) (34)

Operating cash flows before

movements in working capital (107) (314) (59) (3)

Increase in properties under development (200,076) (140,404) (21,839) (74,462)

(Increase)/decrease in prepayment,

deposits and other receivables (788) (41,710) (1,421) 19,147

Increase/(decrease) in amount due

to minority shareholder – – (11,575) –

Increase in amount due from

holding company – – – (11,268)

(Increase)/decrease in amounts due

from related companies – (31,811) (9,693) 29,395

Increase in trade and other payables 3,011 62,576 23,557 8,642

Increase in advance from customers – – – 4,947

Increase/(decrease) in amount

due to holding company 154,278 (52,017) 9,971 (102,261)

Increase in amounts due to

related companies – 39,367 9,613 127,082

Increase/(decrease) in amount

due to a minority shareholder 2,060 30,199 (2,060) (21,061)

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING

ACTIVITIES (41,622) (134,114) (3,506) (19,842)
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INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of non-current financial assets – (154) – –

Sales proceeds of disposals of

non-current financial assets – – – 156

Increase in pledged bank deposits – – – (14,868)

Interest income 46 135 7 34

Purchase of plant and equipment (810) (1,309) (1,062) (274)

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING

ACTIVITIES (764) (1,328) (1,055) (14,952)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Inception of bank borrowings – 81,731 – 125,000

Inception of other loans – 57,692 – –

Repayment of bank borrowings – – – (87,141)

Proceeds from capital injection 48,077 – – –

NET CASH GENERATED FROM

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 48,077 139,423 – 37,859

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE)

IN CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS 5,691 3,981 (4,561) 3,065

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AT BEGINNING OF

THE PERIOD/YEAR – 5,691 5,691 9,672

CASH AND EQUIVALENTS AT

END OF THE PERIOD/YEAR

Bank balances and cash 5,691 9,672 1,130 12,737

31 December 31 December 30 April 30 April

2004 2005 2005 2006

(audited) (audited) (unaudited) (audited)

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
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(V) NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION

1) General information

The company is a limited company established in mainland China and has its registered

office and principal place of business at 9 , Tianjin,

the PRC.

2) Principal accounting policies

(a) Statement of compliance

The Financial Information set out in this report has been prepared in accordance

with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which

collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued

by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting

principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

The Financial Information presented also complies with the applicable disclosure

provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange

of Hong Kong Limited.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all

periods presented in the Financial Information. The Financial Information have been

prepared under historical cost convention.

(b) Plant and equipment

The following items of plant and equipment are stated in the balance sheet at

cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of plant and

equipment are determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the

carrying amount of the item and are recognised in income statement on the date of

retirement or disposal.
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Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of plant and equipment,

less their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight line method over their

estimated useful lives as follows:

Furniture and fixtures 5 years

Office equipment 5 years

Leasehold improvement 2 years

Where parts of an item of plant and equipment have different useful lives, the

cost of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is

depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any,

are reviewed annually.

(c) Operating lease charges

Where the company has the use of assets held under operating leases, payments

made under the leases are charged to income statement in equal instalments over the

accounting periods covered by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is

more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset.

Contingent rentals are charged to income statement in the accounting period in which

they are incurred.

(d) Impairment of assets

At each balance sheet date, the company reviews the carrying amounts of its

tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill to determine whether there is any

indication that those assets suffered an impairment loss. If the recoverable amount of

an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the

asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment loss is recognised as an expense

immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the

asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the

increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been

determined had no impairment loss been recongised for the asset in prior years. A

reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.
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(e) Inventories – property development

The cost of acquiring land held under operating leases is amortised on a straight

line basis over the lease term. If the property is in the course of development or

redevelopment the amortisation charge is included as part of the costs of the property

under development. Inventories in respect of property development activities are carried

at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of properties under development

for sale comprises specifically identified cost, including borrowing costs capitalised

(see note (2n)), aggregate cost of development, materials and supplies, wages and

other direct expenses and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value

represents the estimated selling price less estimated costs of completion and costs to

be incurred in selling the property.

(f) Receivables

Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at

amortised cost less impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts (see note (2d)),

except where the receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties without

any fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such

cases, the receivables are stated at cost less impairment losses for bad and doubtful

debts (see note (2d)).

(g) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits

with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments

that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an

insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at

acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part

of the company’s cash management are also included as a component of cash and

cash equivalents for the purpose of the cash flow statement. Cash equivalents include

investments and advances denominated in foreign currencies provided that they fulfill

the above criteria.

(h) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable

transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are

stated at amortised cost with any difference between cost and redemption value being

recognised in income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective

interest method.
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(i) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter

stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in

which case they are stated at cost.

(j) Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred

tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit

differs from net profit as reported in the income statement because it excludes items

of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years, and it further

excludes income statement items that are never taxable or deductible.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences

between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and

the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted

for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally

recognised for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are recognised

to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which

deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet

date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable

profit will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the

period when the liability is settled or the asset realised. Deferred tax is charged or

credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited

directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.
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(k) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when

the company has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,

it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the

obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is

material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to

settle the obligation. Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits

will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed

as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is

remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence

or nonoccurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent

liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(l) Revenue recognition

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.

(m) Translation of foreign currencies

The company’s functional currency is Renminbi (“RMB”). The Financial

Information are presented in Hong Kong dollars for the purpose as the acquirer,

Neo-China Group (Holdings) Limited presents its accounts in Hong Kong dollars.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign

exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities

denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling

at the balance sheet date. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in income

statement.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical

cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the

transaction dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies

that are stated at fair value are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at

the dates the fair value was determined. The results of foreign operations are translated

into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange

rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
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(n) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in income statement in the period in which they

are incurred, except to the extent that they are capitalised as being directly attributable

to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a

substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale. The capitalisation

of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences when

expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and

activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in

progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially

all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale

are interrupted or complete.

(o) Related parties

For the purposes of the Financial Information, parties are considered to be

related to the company if the company has the ability, directly or indirectly, to

control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial

and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the company and the party are

subject to common control or common significant influence. Related parties may be

individuals (being members of key management personnel, significant shareholders

and/or their close family members) or other entities and include entities which are

under the significant influence of related parties of the company where those parties

are individuals, and postemployment benefit plans which are for the benefit of

employees of the company or of any entity that is a related party of the company.
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3) (Loss)/profit before taxation

(Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

23 September 1 January 1 January 1 January

2004 to 2005 to 2005 to 2006 to

31 December 31 December 30 April 30 April

2004 2005 2005 2006

(audited) (audited) (unaudited) (audited)

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Depreciation 88 830 186 294

Less: amounts capitalized (88) (822) (183) (291)

– 8 3 3

Interest income (46) (135) (7) (34)

4) Taxation

Income tax payable of the company is governed by the Income Tax Law of the

People’s Republic of China and its implementing rules, which provide for a national income

tax rate of 33% (plus a 3% local tax).

Income tax has not been provided for during the Relevant Periods as the company did

not derive any profit which subject to income tax.
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5) Plant and equipment

Furniture Office Leasehold

and fixtures equipment improvement Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost

Additions and at 31 December 2004 144 208 458 810

At 1 January 2005 144 208 458 810

Additions 18 217 1,074 1,309

At 31 December 2005 162 425 1,532 2,119

At 1 January 2006 162 425 1,532 2,119

Additions 274 – – 274

At 30 April 2006 436 425 1,532 2,393

Accumulated depreciation

Provided during the period and

at 31 December 2004 7 5 76 88

At 1 January 2005 7 5 76 88

Provided during the year 30 68 732 830

At 31 December 2005 37 73 808 918

At 1 January 2006 37 73 808 918

Provided during the period 11 27 256 294

At 30 April 2006 48 100 1,064 1,212

Net book value

At 31 December 2004 137 203 382 722

At 31 December 2005 125 352 724 1,201

At 30 April 2006 388 325 468 1,181
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6) Amount due from/(to) holding company

Maximum Maximum Maximum

balance balance balance

31 December during 31 December during 30 April during

2004 the period 2005 the year 2006 the period

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(154,278) N/A (102,261) N/A 11,268 11,268

Note:

The amount was unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of repayment. According to the Sales and

Purchase Agreement (Supplementary) dated 5 July 2006, the net credit balance between the amount due

from/to holding company, the amounts due from/to related companies (after the elimination of inter-

company balances among Property Owners) and the amount due to a minority shareholder shall be

capitalized on or before the Completion Date.

7) Amounts due from related companies

Maximum Maximum Maximum

balance balance balance

31 December during 31 December during 30 April during

2004 the period 2005 the year 2006 the period

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Tianjin Xinrun Real Estate

Development Co., Ltd. – – 1,935 1,935 2,416 2,416

Tianjin Zhongxin Binhai Real

Estate Development Co., Ltd. – – 9,637 9,637 – 9,637

Tianjin Zhongxin Huaan Real

Estate Development Co., Ltd. – – 27 27 – 27

Tianjin Zhongxin Jiaye Real

Estate Development Co., Ltd. – – 20,212 20,212 – 20,212

– 31,811 2,416

Notes:

a) The amounts were unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment. According to

the Sales and Purchase Agreement (Supplementary) dated 5 July 2006, the net credit balance

between the amounts due from/to holding company, the amounts due from/to related companies

(after the elimination of inter-company balances among Property Owners) and the amount due to

a minority shareholder shall be capitalized on or before the Completion Date.

b) The related companies were ultimately controlled by Mr. Li Song Xiao.
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8) Other non-current financial assets

31 December 31 December 30 April
2004 2005 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Available-for-sale equity securities
– Listed in mainland China – 154 –

The equity securities were disposed of with a net gain of approximately HK$2,000 on
3 March 2006.

9) Properties under development

31 December 31 December 30 April
2004 2005 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of the period/year – 200,164 341,387

Capitalization of:
Borrowing costs – 3,657 3,554
Operating lease rentals 946 2,359 584
Staff costs 219 1,811 1,052
Depreciation 88 819 289
Other additions 198,911 132,577 69,272

At end of the period/year 200,164 341,387 416,138

Representing:
Commercial building 200,164 316,721 361,822
School – 24,666 54,316

200,164 341,387 416,138

10) Amounts due to related companies/a minority shareholder

The amounts were unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.
According to the Sales and Purchase Agreement (Supplementary) dated 5 July 2006, the net
credit balance between the amount due from/to holding company, the amounts due from/to
related companies (after the elimination of inter-company balances among Property Owners)
and the amount due to a minority shareholder shall be capitalized on or before the Completion
Date.

11) Advance from customers

The amount represents deposits received on sales of properties net of sales taxes and
other relevant indirect taxes imposed by the mainland China tax authority.
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12) Secured interest-bearing borrowings

31 December 31 December 30 April

2004 2005 2006

Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of the

period/year – – 139,423

Other loan (a) – 57,692 –

Bank loans (b) – 81,731 –

Bank loans (c) – – 125,000

Settlement during the

period/year – – (87,141)

At end of the period/year – 139,423 177,282

(a) The loan was secured by the bank of which the company has pledged the leasehold land and bank

deposits held by the company to the bank. It is interest bearing at 7.008% per annum with the

term of the loan from 17 May 2005 to 26 May 2006. The loan was settled in full on 19 May 2006

and the corresponding pledged assets are released.

(b) The bank loan was secured by the leasehold land held by the company. It is interest bearing at

6.417% per annum with the term of loan from 23 September 2005 to 22 September 2006. The

loan was settled in full on 28 February 2006.

(c) The bank loan was secured by the leasehold land held by the company. It is interest bearing at

6.696% per annum with the term of the loan from 18 January 2006 to 17 January 2007. The loan

was partially settled of approximately HK$5,410,000 in March and April 2006.
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13) Registered capital

31 December 31 December 30 April

2004 2005 2006

Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of the

period/year – 48,077 48,077

Capital injection (a) 9,615 – –

Increase in registered

capital (b) 38,462 – –

At end of the period/year 48,077 48,077 48,077

(a) The company was established on 23 September 2004 in mainland China as a limited company.

According to the Memorandum of Article, the registered capital of the company was

RMB10,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$9,615,000). As per the capital verification

report dated 21 September 2004, the shareholders had injected the capital in full.

(b) On 20 October 2004, according to the approval made by Tianjin Administration of Industry and

Commerce, the registered capital of the company was increased from RMB10,000,000 to

RMB50,000,000. As per the capital verification report dated 25 October 2005, the shareholders

had injected the additional capital of RMB40,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$38,462,000)

in full.
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14) Reserves

Accumulated

Losses

HK$’000

At date of incorporation –

Loss for the period (61)

At 31 December 2004 (61)

At 1 January 2005 (61)

Loss for the year (187)

At 31 December 2005 (248)

At 1 January 2006 (248)

Profit for the period 30

At 30 April 2006 (218)

15) Commitments

(a) As at the respective balance sheet dates of the Relevant Periods, the company

had the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating

leases are payable in respect of land and buildings as follows:

31 December 31 December 30 April

2004 2005 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 2,335 1,556 778

In the second to fifth years,

inclusive 1,556 – –

3,891 1,556 778
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(b) As at the respective balance sheet dates of the Relevant Periods, the company

had the following capital commitments not provided for in the Financial

Information:

31 December 31 December 30 April

2004 2005 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracted but not provided for

in the Financial Information 10,011 57,293 62,310

Authorized but not

contracted for in the

Financial Information – – –

10,011 57,293 62,310

16) Related party transaction

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in the Financial

Information, the company entered into the following related party transaction which was

carried out in the normal course of business:

Nature of 31 December 31 December 30 April

Relationship transaction 2004 2005 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Holding Service fee

company expenses – 375 4,096
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17) Financial risk management

The company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign exchange

risk, liquidity risk, cash flow interest-rate risk and fair value interest rate risk.

a) Foreign exchange risk

The company’s monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB and

the company conducted its business transactions principally in RMB. The exchange

rate risk of the company is not significant.

b) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the

availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.

The company aims to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit

lines available.

c) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The company’s interest-rate risk arises from debt borrowings. Borrowings issued

at fixed rates expose the company to fair value interest-rate risk. As the company has

no significant interest-bearing assets, the company’s income and operating cash flows

are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates.
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18) Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical

experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be

reasonable under the circumstances.

The company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting

accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates

and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

a) Estimated provision for impairment of other receivables

The company makes impairment losses on bad and doubtful debts based on an

assessment of the recoverability of other receivables. Impairments are applied to

other receivables where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances

may not be collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts requires the use

of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation is different from the original

estimate, such difference will impact carrying value of receivables and bad and doubtful

debts expenses in the period in which such estimate has been charged.

b) Estimated provision for impairment of property under development

The company makes impairment losses on property under development (“PUD”)

based on an assessment of the net realisable value of the PUD. Impairments are

applied to the PUD where events or changes in circumstances indicates that the net

realizable value is less than cost. The determination of net realisable value requires

the use of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation is different from the

original estimates, such difference will impact carrying value of the PUD and

impairments for PUD expenses in the period in which such estimate has been charged.

c) Income tax

The company is subject to taxation in mainland China. Significant judgement

is required in determining the provision for tax and the timing of payment of the

related tax. There are transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax

determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax

outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,

such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period

in which such determination is made.
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19) Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but

not yet effective for the accounting period ended 30 April 2006

Up to the date of issue of the Financial Information, the HKICPA has issued the

following amendments, new standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for the

accounting period ended 30 April 2006 and which have not been adopted in the Financial

Information:

HKAS 1 (Amendment) Capital Disclosures1

HKAS 19 (Amendment) Employee benefits – Actuarial gains and losses, group

plans and disclosures2

HKAS 39 (Amendment) Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement

– Cash flow hedge accounting of forecast intragroup

transactions2

– The fair value option2

– Financial guarantee contracts2

HKFRS 6 Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources2

HKFRS 7 Financial instruments: disclosures1

HK(IFRIC) – Int 4 Determining whether and arrangement contains a lease2

HK(IFRIC) – Int 5 Rights to interests arising from decommissioning,

restoration and environmental rehabilitation Funds2

HK(IFRIC) – Int 6 Liabilities arising from participating in a specific market

waste electrical and electronic equipment3

1. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007.

2. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006.

3. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 December 2005.

The directors anticipate that the adoption of these new HKFRSs in future periods will

have no material impact on the Financial Information of the company.

(VI) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There were no material subsequent events that occurred after 30 April 2006 to the date of

this report.
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(VII) SUBSEQUENT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

No audited financial statements have been prepared by the company in respect of any period

subsequent to 30 April 2006.

Yours faithfully,

CCIF CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

Delores Teh

Practising Certificate Number P03207
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20 July 2006

The Board of Directors

Tianjin Xinrun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

Dear Sirs,

We set out below our report on the financial information relating to Tianjin Xinrun Real

Estate Development Co., Ltd. (the “company”) in Sections I to VII, including the balance sheet as

at 31 December 2005 and 30 April 2006 and the related income statement, statement of changes in

equity and cash flow statement of the company for the period from 5 April 2005 (date of

incorporation) to 31 December 2005 and 4 months ended 30 April 2006 (collectively the “Relevant

Periods”) and the notes thereto (collectively the “Financial Information”) for the inclusion in the

circular of Neo-China Group (Holdings) Limited dated 20 July 2006 (the “Circular”).

The company has prepared its statutory accounts for the period ended 31 December 2005 in

accordance with the relevant accounting principles and financial regulations applicable to the

enterprises established in mainland China (the “PRC GAAP”) and were audited by Tianjin Zhongda

Certified Public Accountants Co., Ltd., registered accountants in mainland China.

The Financial Information has been prepared based on the PRC GAAP statutory accounts

and the unaudited management accounts of the company after making adjustments as appropriate

in compliance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), the collective

terms of which include all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong

Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of

Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).

The management of the company is responsible for preparing the Financial Information

which gives a true and fair view. In preparing the Financial Information which gives a true and fair

view, it is fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently.

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our examination, on the

Financial Information, and to report our opinion.
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As a basis for forming an opinion on the Financial Information, for the purpose of this

report, we have carried out appropriate audit procedures in respect of the financial statements of

the company for the Relevant Periods in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued

by the HKICPA and carried out such additional procedures as we considered necessary in accordance

with Auditing Guideline 3.340 “Prospectus and the Reporting Accountant” issued by the HKICPA.

We have not audited any financial statements of the company in respect to any period subsequent

to 30 April 2006.

In our opinion, for the purpose of this report, the Financial Information on the basis set out

in note 2(a) in Section V, gives a true and fair view of the company’s results and cash flows for the

Relevant Periods and the state of affairs of the company as at 31 December 2005 and 30 April

2006.

(I) INCOME STATEMENT

5 April 1 January

2005 to 2006 to

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

Section (V) (audited) (audited)

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Other revenue 3 –

Administrative expenses (17) –

Loss before taxation 3 (14) –

Taxation 4 – –

Loss for the period (14) –
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(II) BALANCE SHEET

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

Section (V) (audited) (audited)

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Current Assets

Properties under development 5 106,537 108,314

Bank balances and cash 2 215

106,539 108,529

Current Liabilities

Amounts due to related companies 6 96,938 97,514

Amount due to a minority shareholder 6 – 1,414

96,938 98,928

Net Assets 9,601 9,601

Capital and Reserves

Registered capital 7 9,615 9,615

Reserves 8 (14) (14)

Total Equity 9,601 9,601
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(III) STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Registered Accumulated

Section (V) capital losses Total

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital injection 9,615 – 9,615

Loss for the period – (14) (14)

At 31 December 2005 7, 8 9,615 (14) 9,601

At 1 January 2006 9,615 (14) 9,601

Loss for the period – – –

At 30 April 2006 7, 8 9,615 (14) 9,601
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(IV) CASH FLOW STATEMENT

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

(audited) (audited)

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before taxation (14) –

Adjustment for:

Interest income (3) –

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (17) –

Increase in properties under development (106,537) (1,777)

Increase in amounts due to related companies 96,938 576

Increase in amount due to a minority shareholder – 1,414

NET CASH (USED IN) GENERATED FROM

OPERATING ACTIVITIES (9,616) 213

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest income 3 –

NET CASH GENERATED FROM

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 3 –

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from capital injection 9,615 –

NET CASH GENERATED FROM

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 9,615 –

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS 2 213

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT

BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD – 2

CASH AND EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE PERIOD

Bank balances and cash 2 215
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(V) NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION

1) General information

The company is a sino-chinese joint venture company established in mainland China

and has its registered office and principal place of business at 

9 , Tianjin, the PRC.

2) Principal accounting policies

(a) Statement of compliance

The Financial Information set out in this report has been prepared in accordance

with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which

collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued

by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting

principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

The Financial Information presented also complies with the applicable disclosure

provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange

of Hong Kong Limited.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all

periods presented in the Financial Information. The Financial Information have been

prepared under historical cost convention.

(b) Impairment of assets

At each balance sheet date, the company reviews the carrying amounts of its

tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill to determine whether there is any

indication that those assets suffered an impairment loss. If the recoverable amount of

an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the

asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment loss is recognised as an expense

immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the

asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the

increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been

determined had no impairment loss been recongised for the asset in prior years. A

reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.
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(c) Inventories – property development

The cost of acquiring land held under operating leases is amortised on a straight

line basis over the lease term. If the property is in the course of development or

redevelopment the amortisation charge is included as part of the costs of the property

under development. Inventories in respect of property development activities are carried

at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of properties under development

for sale comprises specifically identified cost, including borrowing costs capitalised,

aggregate cost of development, materials and supplies, wages and other direct expenses

and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value represents the

estimated selling price less estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in

selling the property.

(d) Receivables

Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at

amortised cost less impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts, except where the

receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties without any fixed repayment

terms or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables

are stated at cost less impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts.

(e) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits

with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments

that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an

insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at

acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part

of the company’s cash management are also included as a component of cash and

cash equivalents for the purpose of the cash flow statement. Cash equivalents include

investments and advances denominated in foreign currencies provided that they fulfill

the above criteria.

(f) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter

stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in

which case they are stated at cost.
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(g) Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred

tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit

differs from net profit as reported in the income statement because it excludes items

of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years, and it further

excludes income statement items that are never taxable or deductible.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences

between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and

the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted

for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally

recognised for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are recognised

to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which

deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet

date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable

profit will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the

period when the liability is settled or the asset realised. Deferred tax is charged or

credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited

directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

(h) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when

the company has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,

it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the

obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is

material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to

settle the obligation. Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits

will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed

as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is

remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence

or nonoccurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent

liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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(i) Revenue recognition

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.

(j) Translation of foreign currencies

The company’s functional currency is Renminbi (“RMB”). The Financial

Information are presented in Hong Kong dollars for the purpose as the acquirer,

Neo-China Group (Holdings) Limited presents its accounts in Hong Kong dollars.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign

exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities

denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling

at the balance sheet date. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in income

statement.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical

cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the

transaction dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies

that are stated at fair value are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at

the dates the fair value was determined. The results of foreign operations are translated

into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange

rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.

(k) Related parties

For the purposes of the Financial Information, parties are considered to be

related to the company if the company has the ability, directly or indirectly, to

control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial

and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the company and the party are

subject to common control or common significant influence. Related parties may be

individuals (being members of key management personnel, significant shareholders

and/or their close family members) or other entities and include entities which are

under the significant influence of related parties of the company where those parties

are individuals, and postemployment benefit plans which are for the benefit of

employees of the company or of any entity that is a related party of the company.
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3) Loss before taxation

Loss before taxation is arrived at after crediting:

5 April 1 January

2005 to  2006 to

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest income 3 –

4) Taxation

Income tax payable of the company is governed by the Income Tax Law of the

People’s Republic of China and its implementing rules, which provide for a national income

tax rate of 33% (plus a 3% local tax).

No provision for enterprise income tax in the mainland China has been made as the

company did not derive any assessable profit for both periods.

5) Properties under development

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of the period – 106,537

Additions 106,537 1,777

At end of the period 106,537 108,314

6) Amounts due to related companies/a minority shareholder

The amounts were unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

According to the Sales and Purchase Agreement (Supplementary) dated 5 July 2006, the net

credit balance between the amounts due to related companies and the amount due to a

minority shareholder shall be capitalized on or before the Completion Date.
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7) Registered capital

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of the period – 9,615

Capital injection 9,615 –

At end of the period 9,615 9,615

The company was established on 5 April 2005 in mainland China as a limited company.

According to the Memorandum of Article, the registered capital of the company was

RMB10,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$9,615,000). As per the capital verification

report dated 30 March 2005, the shareholders had injected the capital in full.

8) Reserves

Accumulated

losses

HK$’000

Surplus from capital injection –

Loss for the period (14)

At 31 December 2005 (14)

At 1 January 2006 (14)

Loss for the period –

At 30 April 2006 (14)
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9) Capital commitments

As at the respective balance sheet dates of the Relevant Periods, the company had the

following capital commitments not provided for in the Financial Information:

31 December 30 April

2005 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracted but not provided for

in the Financial Information 373,836 373,836

Authorized but not contracted

for in the Financial Information – –

373,836 373,836

10) Financial risk management

The company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign exchange

risk and liquidity risk.

a) Foreign exchange risk

The company’s monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB and

the company conducted its business transactions principally in RMB. The exchange

rate risk of the company is not significant.

b) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the

availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.

The company aims to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit

lines available.
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11) Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical

experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be

reasonable under the circumstances.

The company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting

accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates

and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

a) Estimated provision for impairment of other receivables

The company makes impairment losses on bad and doubtful debts based on an

assessment of the recoverability of trade receivables and other receivables. Impairments

are applied to trade receivables and other receivables where events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the balances may not be collectible. The identification of

bad and doubtful debts requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where the

expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact carrying

value of receivables and bad and doubtful debts expenses in the period in which such

estimate has been charged.

b) Estimated provision for impairment of property under development

The company makes impairment losses on property under development (“PUD”)

based on an assessment of the net realisable value of the PUD. Impairments are

applied to the PUD where events or changes in circumstances indicates that the net

realizable value is less than cost. The determination of net realisable value requires

the use of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation is different from the

original estimates, such difference will impact carrying value of the PUD and

impairments for PUD expenses in the period in which such estimate has been charged.
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12) Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but

not yet effective for the accounting period ended 30 April 2006

Up to the date of issue of the Financial Information, the HKICPA has issued the

following amendments, new standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for the

accounting period ended 30 April 2006 and which have not been adopted in the Financial

Information:

HKAS 1 (Amendment) Capital Disclosures1

HKAS 19 (Amendment) Employee benefits – Actuarial gains and losses, group

plans and disclosures2

HKAS 39 (Amendment) Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement

– Cash flow hedge accounting of forecast intragroup

transactions2

– The fair value option2

– Financial guarantee contracts2

HKFRS 6 Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources2

HKFRS 7 Financial instruments: disclosures1

HK(IFRIC) – Int 4 Determining whether and arrangement contains a lease2

HK(IFRIC) – Int 5 Rights to interests arising from decommissioning,

restoration and environmental rehabilitation Funds2

HK(IFRIC) – Int 6 Liabilities arising from participating in a specific market

waste electrical and electronic equipment3

1. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007.

2. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006.

3. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 December 2005.

The directors anticipate that the adoption of these new HKFRSs in future periods will

have no material impact on the Financial Information of the company.
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(VI) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There were no material subsequent events that occurred after 30 April 2006 to the date of

this report.

(VII) SUBSEQUENT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

No audited financial statements have been prepared by the company in respect of any period

subsequent to 30 April 2006.

Yours faithfully,

CCIF CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

Delores Teh

Practising Certificate Number P03207
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AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE DIRECTORS OF DIVO SUCCESS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with Limited Liability)

We have audited the financial statements of DIVO Success Limited (“DIVO”) for the period

from 10 April 2006 (date of incorporation) to 30 April 2006 on pages 256 to 259 of the Circular

which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Hong

Kong.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

DIVO’s directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements which give a

true and fair view. In preparing financial statements which give a true and fair view it is fundamental

that appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently.

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those financial

statements and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms

of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept

liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

BASIS OF OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. An audit includes examination, on a test

basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also

includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the directors in the

preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to

the DIVO’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations

which we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable

assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. In forming

our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the

financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the DIVO’s

affairs as at 30 April 2006.

Yours faithfully,

CCIF CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 20 July 2006

Delores Teh

Practising Certificate Number P03207
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BALANCE SHEET

As at 30 April 2006

Notes HK$

Current Asset

Amount due from a shareholder 5 8

Capital

Issued capital 6 8
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the period from 10 April 2006 (date of incorporation) to 30 April 2006

1. General information

DIVO was incorporated in British Virgin Islands as an international business company with

limited liability under The International Business Companies Act. The address of its principal

office of business is situated at Palm Grove Home, P.O. Box 438, Road Town, Tortola, British

Virgin Islands. The ultimate controlling party is Mr. Li Song Xiao.

DIVO is engaged in investment holding.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars which is the same as the

functional currency of DIVO.

2. Principal accounting policies

The Financial Information set out in this report has been prepared in accordance with all

applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes

all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting

Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

a) Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on DIVO’s balance sheet

when DIVO becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

b) Amount due from a shareholder

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, amount due from a

shareholder is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any identified

impairment losses. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective

evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference between the asset’s

carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the

original effective interest rate. Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods when

an increase in the asset’s recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring

after the impairment was recognised, subject to a restriction that the carrying amount of the

asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would

have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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c) Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by DIVO are recorded at the proceeds received, net of

direct issue costs.

3. Income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement

Divo has no income and expenses incurred during the period. Accordingly, no income

statement, statement of changes in equity or cash flow statement has been prepared. No remuneration

has been paid to the directors during the period.

4. Taxation

In the opinion of the directors, DIVO is not subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax or any income

tax in other jurisdictions in which it operates.

5. Amount due from a shareholder

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable upon request. The directors expect that

the amount will be recovered within one year. The carrying amount approximates its fair value,

due to the short-term nature of the financial asset.

6. Registered capital

Issued and HK$

Authorised fully paid equivalent

US$ US$

Ordinary share of US$1 each 50,000 1 8

Divo was incorporated on 10 April 2006 with an authorised share capital of US$50,000. At

the time of incorporation, 1 ordinary share of US$1 each was issued, for cash at par, to the

subscriber to provide the initial capital to DIVO.
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7. Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but not yet

effective for the accounting period ended 30 April 2006

Up to the date of issue of the Financial Information, the HKICPA has issued the following

amendments, new standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for the accounting

period ended 30 April 2006 and which have not been adopted in the Financial Information:

HKAS 1 (Amendment) Capital Disclosures1

HKAS 19 (Amendment) Employee benefits – Actuarial gains and losses, group plans

and disclosures2

HKAS 39 (Amendment) Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement

– Cash flow hedge accounting of forecast intragroup

transactions2

– The fair value option2

– Financial guarantee contracts2

HKFRS 6 Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources2

HKFRS 7 Financial instruments: disclosures1

HK(IFRIC) – Int 4 Determining whether and arrangement contains a lease2

HK(IFRIC) – Int 5 Rights to interests arising from decommissioning, restoration

and environmental rehabilitation Funds2

HK(IFRIC) – Int 6 Liabilities arising from participating in a specific market

waste electrical and electronic equipment3

1. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007.

2. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006.

3. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 December 2005.

The directors anticipate that the adoption of these new HKFRSs in future periods will have

no material impact on the Financial Information of the company.
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AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SOLE DIRECTOR OF LEAD MIX LIMITED
(Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with Limited Liability)

We have audited the financial statements of Lead Mix Limited (“Lead Mix”) for the period

from 6 April 2006 (date of incorporation) to 30 April 2006 on pages 262 to 265 of the Circular

which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Hong

Kong.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

Lead Mix’s sole director is responsible for the preparation of financial statements which

give a true and fair view. In preparing financial statements which give a true and fair view it is

fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently.

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those financial

statements and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms

of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept

liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

BASIS OF OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. An audit includes examination, on a test

basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also

includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the directors in the

preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to

the Lead Mix’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations

which we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable

assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. In forming

our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the

financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Lead

Mix’s affairs as at 30 April 2006.

Yours faithfully,

CCIF CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 20 July 2006

Delores Teh

Practising Certificate Number P03207
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BALANCE SHEET

As at 30 April 2006

Notes HK$

Current Asset

Amount due from a shareholder 5 8

Capital

Issued capital 6 8
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the period from 6 April 2006 (date of incorporation) to 30 April 2006

1. General information

Lead Mix was incorporated in British Virgin Islands as an international business company

with limited liability under The International Business Companies Act. The address of its principal

office of business is situated at Palm Grove Home, P.O. Box 438, Road Town, Tortola, British

Virgin Islands. The ultimate controlling party is Mr. Li Song Xiao.

Lead Mix is engaged in investment holding.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars which is the same as the

functional currency of Lead Mix.

2. Principal accounting policies

The Financial Information set out in this report has been prepared in accordance with all

applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes

all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting

Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

a) Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on Lead Mix’s balance sheet

when Lead Mix becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

b) Amount due from a shareholder

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, amount due from a

shareholder is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any identified

impairment losses. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective

evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference between the asset’s

carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the

original effective interest rate. Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods when

an increase in the asset’s recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring

after the impairment was recognised, subject to a restriction that the carrying amount of the

asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would

have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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c) Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by Lead Mix are recorded at the proceeds received, net of

direct issue costs.

3. Income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement

Lead Mix has no income and expenses incurred during the period. Accordingly, no income

statement, statement of changes in equity or cash flow statement has been prepared. No remuneration

has been paid to the directors during the period.

4. Taxation

In the opinion of the directors, Lead Mix is not subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax or any

income tax in other jurisdictions in which it operates.

5. Amount due from a shareholder

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable upon request. The directors expect that

the amount will be recovered within one year. The carrying amount approximates its fair value,

due to the short-term nature of the financial asset.

6. Registered capital

Issued and HK$

Authorised fully paid equivalent

US$ US$

Ordinary share of US$1 each 50,000 1 8

Lead Mix was incorporated on 10 April 2006 with an authorised share capital of US$50,000.

At the time of incorporation, 1 ordinary share of US$1 each was issued, for cash at par, to the

subscriber to provide the initial capital to Lead Mix.
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7. Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but not yet

effective for the accounting period ended 30 April 2006

Up to the date of issue of the Financial Information, the HKICPA has issued the following

amendments, new standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for the accounting

period ended 30 April 2006 and which have not been adopted in the Financial Information:

HKAS 1 (Amendment) Capital Disclosures1

HKAS 19 (Amendment) Employee benefits – Actuarial gains and losses, group plans

and disclosures2

HKAS 39 (Amendment) Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement

– Cash flow hedge accounting of forecast intragroup

transactions2

– The fair value option2

– Financial guarantee contracts2

HKFRS 6 Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources2

HKFRS 7 Financial instruments: disclosures1

HK(IFRIC) – Int 4 Determining whether and arrangement contains a lease2

HK(IFRIC) – Int 5 Rights to interests arising from decommissioning, restoration

and environmental rehabilitation Funds2

HK(IFRIC) – Int 6 Liabilities arising from participating in a specific market

waste electrical and electronic equipment3

1. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007.

2. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006.

3. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 December 2005.

The directors anticipate that the adoption of these new HKFRSs in future periods will have

no material impact on the Financial Information of the company.
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1) UNAUDITED PRO FORMA STATEMENT OF THE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF

THE ENLARGED GROUP

The unaudited pro forma statement of the assets and liabilities of the Group and the Holding

Companies (collectively the “Enlarged Group”) has been prepared to illustrate the effect of the

proposed acquisition of the entire issued share capital of the Holding Companies (“Acquisitions”)

as if the acquisitions had been completed on 31 October 2005.

The unaudited pro forma statement of consolidated assets and liabilities has been prepared

for illustrative purposes only and, because of its nature, may not give a true picture of the financial

position of the Enlarged Group as at 31 October 2005 or at any future dates.

The unaudited pro forma statement of the assets and liabilities of the Enlarged Group was

prepared based on the Group’s unadjusted consolidated balance sheet as at 30 October 2005, as set

out in the interim report of Neo-China Group (Holdings) Limited, after making pro forma

adjustments as set out in notes 1 to 9 below.

14.6
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Notes:

1. The balances are extracted from the unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Group as at 31 October

2005.

2. The balances are extracted from the audited balance sheet of Tianjin Zhongxin Huaan Real Estate

Development Co., Ltd. as at 30 April 2006 in the Accountants’ report as set out in Appendix III(A) to this

circular.

3. The balances are extracted from the audited balance sheet of Tianjin Zhongxin Binhai Real Estate

Development Co., Ltd. as at 30 April 2006 in the Accountants’ report as set out in Appendix III(B) to this

circular.

4. The balances are extracted from the audited balance sheet of Tianjin Zhongxin Xinjie Real Estate

Development Co., Ltd. as at 30 April 2006 in the Accountants’ report as set out in Appendix III(C) to this

circular.

5. The balances are extracted from the audited balance sheet of Tianjin Zhongxin Mingshi Real Estate

Development Co., Ltd. as at 30 April 2006 in the Accountants’ report as set out in Appendix III(D) to this

circular.

6. The balances are extracted from the audited balance sheet of Tianjin Zhongxin Jiaye Real Estate

Development Co., Ltd. as at 30 April 2006 in the Accountants’ report as set out in Appendix III(E) to this

circular.

7. The balances are extracted from the audited balance sheet of Tianjin Zhongxin Huacheng Real Estate

Development Co., Ltd. as at 30 April 2006 in the Accountants’ report as set out in Appendix III(F) to this

circular.

8. The balances are extracted from the audited balance sheet of Tianjin Xinrun Real Estate Development

Co., Ltd. as at 30 April 2006 in the Accountants’ report as set out in Appendix III(G) to this circular.

9. The pro forma adjustments represent the following:

a. To record the fair value adjustment of inventories of Property Owners amounting to

HK$870,988,000 and the respective deferred tax liability of HK$287,426,000. Such adjustments

led to a corresponding increase in property revaluation reserve of HK$583,562,000. The adjustment

is made by reference to a valuation report date 20 July 2006 prepared by Savills Valuation and

Professional Services Limited, an independent property valuer and the carrying value of these

properties as at 30 April 2006.

b. To record the capitalization of net amount due to the Vendor amounting to HK$396,001,000 to

contributed surplus upon the completion of the Acquisition.

To record the elimination of inter-company balances among Property Owners upon the completion

of the Acquisition.
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c. To record the issue of 1,243,034,853 Consideration Shares at the issue price of HK$0.51 each by

Neo-China Group (Holdings) Limited upon the acquisition of the entire issued share capitals of

each of the Holding Companies, giving rise to an increase in share capital by HK$12,430,000 at

par value of HK$0.01 per each ordinary share and an increase in share premium of HK$621,517,000

as a result of the issue of shares at premium of HK$0.50 per each ordinary share.

To record the negative goodwill arising on the acquisition of 100% interest in Property Owners

through acquisition of the entire issued share capital of each of the Holding Companies amounting

to approximately HK$489,812,000, which represents the difference between the cost of

consideration of HK$633,947,000 and the sum of 100% of the fair value of net asset of Property

Owners as at 30 April 2006 amounting to HK$727,758,000 and the contributed surplus amounting

to HK$396,001,000 as stated in note (b) above. The fair value of the net asset of Property Owners

is determined by the Company as its net asset value of HK$144,196,000 as at 30 April 2006, after

the fair value adjustment as stated in note (a) above.

To record the elimination of pre-acquisition reserve of Property Owners amounting to

HK$582,926,000, which represents the accumulated deficit of Property Owners as at 30 April

2006 amounting to HK$636,000 and revaluation reserve of Property Owners as at 30 April 2006

amounting to HK$583,562,000.

To record the elimination of registered capital of Property Owners amounting to HK$144,832,000.

d. To recognize the negative goodwill arising from acquisition of Property Owners amounting to

approximately HK$489,812,000 as stated in note (c) above to income statement.
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2) LETTER ON UNAUDITED PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON THE
ENLARGED GROUP

The following is the text of a letter, received from the Reporting Accountants of the Group,

CCIF CPA Limited, Certified Public Accountants, Hong Kong, in respect of the unaudited pro

forma financial information for the purpose of incorporation in this circular.

20 July 2006

The Directors

Neo-China Group (Holdings) Limited

We report on the unaudited pro forma financial information of Neo-China Group (Holdings)

Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”)

set out on pages 266 to 271 under the heading of “Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information of

the Enlarged Group” (the “unaudited pro forma financial information”) in Appendix IV of the

Company’s circular  (the “Circular”) dated 20 July 2006 in connection with the acquisition of the

Tianjin Project by the Company. The unaudited pro forma financial information has been prepared

by the directors of the Company, for illustrative purpose only, to provide information on how the

acquisition of the Tianjin Project might have affected the relevant financial information of the

Group. The basis of preparation of the unaudited pro forma financial information is set out on

pages 266 to 271 of the Circular.

Respective Responsibilities of Directors of the Company and Reporting Accountants

It is the sole responsibility of the directors of the Company to prepare the unaudited pro

forma financial information in accordance with paragraph 4.29 of the Rules Governing the Listing

of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and with

reference to Accounting Guideline 7 “Preparation of Pro Forma Financial Information for Inclusion

in Investment Circulars” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

It is our responsibility to form an opinion, as required by paragraph 4.29(7) of the Listing

Rules, on the unaudited pro forma financial information and to report our opinion to you. We do

not accept any responsibility for any reports previously given by us on any financial information

used in the compilation of the unaudited pro forma financial information beyond that owed to

those to whom those reports were addressed by us at the dates of their issue.
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Basis of Opinion

We conducted our engagement in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Investment

Circular Reporting Engagements (HKSIR) 300 “Accountants’ Reports on Pro Forma Financial

Information in Investment Circulars” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants. Our work consisted primarily of comparing the unadjusted financial information

with source documents, considering the evidence supporting the adjustments and discussing the

pro forma financial information with the directors of the Company. This engagement did not

involve independent examination of any of the underlying financial information.

We planned and performed our work so as to obtain the information and explanations we

considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance

that the pro forma financial information has been properly compiled by the directors of the Company

on the basis stated, that such basis is consistent with the accounting policies of the Group and that

the adjustments are appropriate for the purpose of the unaudited pro forma financial information as

disclosed pursuant to paragraph 4.29(1) of the Listing Rules.

The unaudited pro forma financial information is for illustrative purposes only, based on the

judgements and assumptions of the directors of the Company, and, because of its hypothetical

nature, does not provide any assurance or indication that any event will take place in the future and

may not be indicative of as at 31 October 2005 or any future date.

Opinion

In our opinion:

a. the unaudited pro forma financial information has been properly compiled by the

directors of the Company on the basis stated;

b. such basis is consistent with the accounting policies of the Group; and

c. the adjustments are appropriate for the purpose of the unaudited pro forma financial

information as disclosed pursuant to paragraph 4.29(1) of the Listing Rules

Yours faithfully,

CCIF CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

Delores Teh

Practising Certificate Number P03207
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NO MATERIAL ADVERSE CHANGE

Save for the Proposed Acquisitions as disclosed in the Letter from the Board and the

transactions contemplated under the agreements set out in paragraphs (1) and (2) under the heading

“Material Contracts” in Appendix II in this circular, there has been no material adverse change in

the financial or operating position or prospects of the Group since 30 April 2005 (being the date to

which the latest audited financial statements of the Group were made up).

FINANCIAL AND TRADING PROSPECTS OF THE GROUP

The Enlarged Group is principally engaged in property development and investment in the

PRC. The properties market in the PRC maintains a steady growth for the past few years. The

Directors are of the view that despite the recent stringent economic control measures adopted in

the PRC to streamline its economic growth, the property market in many major cities, like Beijing,

still maintain a steady growth. The Directors expect that there will not be any major adverse

impact on the properties market in this regard and the properties market can maintain a healthy

growth for the coming year. The Board is also of the view that in light of the continuous economic

growth in the PRC, increases in spending power and the upcoming opportunities from 2008 Olympics

and 2010 World’s Expo, demand in the property market will continue to grow and hence provide

an opportunity for investment in this market.

The Board is confident that the investment in properties development in the PRC will

enhance the asset base of the Enlarged Group which in turn will maximize the shareholders’ return

in the future. The management will continue to look for potential project investment projects in the

PRC with the aim to further leverage the resources of the Enlarged Group and further strengthen

the asset base of the Group.

App

A1B
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS ON FINANCIAL POSITION AND

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS OF THE TARGET GROUP

Review of Past Performance

a) Tianjin Zhongxin Huaan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

For the 4 months ended 30 April 2006 and for the period from 3 June 2005 (date of

incorporation) to 31 December 2005, the audited net loss after taxation of Tianjin Zhongxin Huaan

Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. amounted to

approximately HK$0.00 million and approximately HK$0.09 million respectively.

For the 4 months ended 30 April 2006 and for the period from 3 June 2005 (date of

incorporation) to 31 December 2005, the audited net loss attributable to shareholders of the Holding

Companies amounted to approximately HK$0.00 million and approximately HK$0.09 million

respectively (no taxation expense was incurred during the financial periods).

b) Tianjin Zhongxin Binhai Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

For the 4 months ended 30 April 2006, for the period from 9 December 2004 (date of

incorporation) to 31 December 2005, the audited net loss after taxation of Tianjin Zhongxin Binhai

Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. amounted to

approximately HK$0.00 million and approximately HK$0.02 million respectively.

For the 4 months ended 30 April 2006 and for the period from 9 December 2004 (date of

incorporation) to 31 December 2005, the audited net loss attributable to shareholders amounted to

HK$0.00 million and approximately HK$0.02 million respectively (no taxation expense was incurred

during the both financial periods).

c) Tianjin Zhongxin Xinjie Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

For the 4 months ended 30 April 2006 and for the period from 3 June 2005 (date of

incorporation) to 31 December 2005, the audited net loss after taxation of Tianjin Zhongxin Xinjie

Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. amounted to

approximately HK$0.00 million and approximately HK$0.09 million respectively.
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For the 4 months ended 30 April 2006 and for the period from 3 June 2005 (date of

incorporation) to 31 December 2005, the audited net loss attributable to shareholders of the Holding

Companies amounted to HK$0.00 million and approximately HK$0.09 million respectively (no

taxation expense was incurred during the financial periods).

d) Tianjin Zhongxin Mingshi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

For the 4 months ended 30 April 2006 and for the period from 3 June 2005 (date of

incorporation) to 31 December 2005, the audited net loss after taxation of Tianjin Zhongxin

Mingshi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. amounted to

approximately HK$0.00 million and approximately HK$0.09 million respectively.

For the 4 months ended 30 April 2006 and for the period from 3 June 2005 (date of

incorporation) to 31 December 2005, the audited net loss attributable to shareholders of the Holding

Companies amounted to HK$0.00 million and approximately HK$0.09 million respectively (no

taxation expense was incurred during financial periods).

e) Tianjin Zhongxin Jiaye Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

For the 4 months ended 30 April 2006 and for the period from 3 June 2005 (date of

incorporation) to 31 December 2005, the audited net loss after taxation of Tianjin Zhongxin Jiaye

Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. amounted to

approximately HK$0.11 million and approximately HK$0.10 million respectively.

For the 4 months ended 30 April 2006 and for the period from 3 June 2005 (date of

incorporation) to 31 December 2005, the audited net loss attributable to shareholders of or

approximately HK$0.11 million and approximately HK$0.10 million respectively (no taxation

expense was incurred during the financial period).

f) Tianjin Zhongxin Huacheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

For the 4 months ended 30 April 2006, for the year ended 31 December 2005, for the 4

months ended 30 April 2005, and for the period from 23 September 2004 (date of incorporation) to

31 December 2004, the audited net (profit)/loss after taxation of Tianjin Zhongxin Huacheng Real

Estate Development Co., Ltd. amounted to approximately

HK$(0.03) million, approximately HK$0.19 million and approximately HK$0.06 million

respectively.
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For the 4 months ended 30 April 2006, for the year ended 31 December 2005, for the 4

months ended 30 April 2005 and for the period from 23 September 2004 (date of incorporation) to

31 December 2004, the audited net (profit)/loss attributable to shareholders amounted to

approximately HK$(0.03) million, approximately HK$0.19 million and approximately HK$0.06

million respectively.

g) Tianjin Xinrun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

For the 4 months ended 30 April 2006 and for the period from 5 April 2005 (date of

incorporation) to 31 December 2005, the audited net loss after taxation of Tianjin Xinrun Real

Estate Development Co., Ltd. amounted to approximately

HK$0.00 million and approximately HK$0.01 million respectively.

For the 4 months ended 30 April 2006, for the period from 5 April 2005 (date of incorporation)

to 31 December 2005, the audited net loss attributable to shareholders amounted to HK$0.00

million and approximately HK$0.01 million respectively (no taxation expense was incurred during

the financial period).

Review of Financial Position, including Liquidity and Financial Resources

a) Tianjin Zhongxin Huaan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

The audited total assets of Tianjin Zhongxin Huaan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

as at 30 April 2006 and 31 December 2005 were approximately

HK$29.41 million and approximately HK$28.10 million. The audited total liabilities as at 30 April

2006 and 31 December 2005 were approximately HK$10.25 million and approximately HK$8.94

million.

The audited net asset value of Tianjin Zhongxin Huaan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

as at 30 April 2006 and 31 December 2005 were

approximately HK$19.16 million and approximately HK$19.16 million respectively.

As at 30 April 2006, Tianjin Zhongxin Huaan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

 had a net shareholder loan amount outstanding of approximately

HK$10.25 million (after the elimination of inter-company balances among Property Owners). Such

shareholder loan shall be capitalized on or before the Completion Date.
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b) Tianjin Zhongxin Binhai Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

The audited total assets of Tianjin Zhongxin Binhai Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

as at 30 April 2006, 31 December 2005 and 30 April 2005

were approximately HK$52.78 million, approximately HK$83.03 million and approximately

HK$69.46. The audited total liabilities as at 30 April 2006, 31 December 2005 and 30 April 2005

were approximately HK$42.57 million, approximately HK$72.82 million and approximately

HK$59.24 million.

The audited net asset value of Tianjin Zhongxin Binhai Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

as at 30 April 2006, 31 December 2005 and 30 April

2005 was approximately HK$10.21 million, approximately HK$10.21 million respectively and

approximately HK$10.21 million respectively.

As at 30 April 2006, Tianjin Zhongxin Binhai Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

had a net shareholder loan amount outstanding of approximately

HK$42.57 million (after the elimination of inter-company balances among Property Owners). Such

shareholder loan shall be capitalized on or before the Completion Date.

c) Tianjin Zhongxin Xinjie Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

The audited total assets of Tianjin Zhongxin Xinjie Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

as at 30 April 2006 and 31 December 2005 were approximately

HK$26.47 million and approximately HK$26.38 million. The audited total liabilities as at 30 April

2006 and 31 December 2005 were approximately HK$7.31 million and approximately HK$7.22

million.

The audited net asset value of Tianjin Zhongxin Xinjie Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

as at 30 April 2006 and 31 December 2005 were

approximately HK$19.16 million and approximately HK$19.16 million respectively.

As at 30 April 2006, Tianjin Zhongxin Xinjie Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

had a net shareholder loan amount outstanding of approximately

HK$7.22 million (after the elimination of inter-company balances among Property Owners). Such

shareholder loan shall be capitalized on or before the Completion Date.
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d) Tianjin Zhongxin Mingshi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

The audited total assets of Tianjin Zhongxin Mingshi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

as at 30 April 2006 and 31 December 2005 were

approximately HK$24.91 million and approximately HK$24.91 million. The audited total liabilities

as at 30 April 2006 and 31 December 2005 were approximately HK$5.75 million and approximately

HK$5.75 million.

The audited net asset value of Tianjin Zhongxin Mingshi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

as at 30 April 2006 and 31 December 2005 was

approximately HK$19.16 million and approximately HK$19.16 million respectively.

As at 30 April 2006, Tianjin Zhongxin Mingshi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

had a net shareholder loan amount outstanding of approximately

HK$5.75 million (after the elimination of inter-company balances among Property Owners). Such

shareholder loan shall be capitalized on or before the Completion Date.

e) Tianjin Zhongxin Jiaye Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

The audited total assets of Tianjin Zhongxin Jiaye Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

as at 30 April 2006 and 31 December 2005 were approximately

HK$488.65 million and approximately HK$372.12 million. The audited total liabilities as at 30

April 2006 and 31 December 2005 were approximately HK$469.60 million and approximately

HK$352.97 million.

The audited net asset value of Tianjin Zhongxin Jiaye Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

as at 30 April 2006 and 31 December 2005 was

approximately HK$19.04 million and approximately HK$19.15 million.

As at 30 April 2006, Tianjin Zhongxin Jiaye Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

had a total interest bearing borrowings of approximately HK$96.15

million, representing a total debt to total assets ratio of 19.68%.

As at 30 April 2006, Tianjin Zhongxin Jiaye Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

had a net shareholder loan amount outstanding of approximately

HK$224.27 million (after the elimination of inter-company balances among Property Owners).

Such shareholder loan shall be capitalized on or before the Completion Date.
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f) Tianjin Zhongxin Huacheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

The audited total assets of Tianjin Zhongxin Huacheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

as at 30 April 2006, 31 December 2005 and 31 December

2004 were approximately HK$481.96 million, approximately HK$426.73 million  and approximately

HK$207.37 million. The audited total liabilities as at 30 April 2006, 31 December 2005 and 31

December 2004 were approximately HK$434.11 million, approximately HK$378.90 million and

approximately HK$159.35 million.

The audited net asset value of Tianjin Zhongxin Huacheng Real Estate Development Co.,

Ltd. as at 30 April 2006, 31 December 2005 and 31

December 2004 was approximately HK$47.86 million, approximately HK$47.83 million and

approximately HK$48.02 million respectively.

As at 30 April 2006 and 31 December 2005, Tianjin Zhongxin Huacheng Real Estate

Development Co., Ltd. had total interest bearing borrowings

of approximately HK$177.28 million and approximately HK$139.42 million respectively,

representing a total debt to total assets ratio of 36.78% and 32.67%.

As at 30 April 2006, Tianjin Zhongxin Huacheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 

had a net shareholder loan amount outstanding of approximately HK$9.

53 million (after the elimination of inter-company balances among Property Owners).  Such

shareholder loan shall be capitalized on or before the Completion Date.

g) Tianjin Xinrun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

The audited total assets of Tianjin Xinrun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

as at 30 April 2006 and 31 December 2005 were approximately HK$108.53

million and approximately HK$106.54 million. The audited total liabilities as at 30 April 2006 and

31 December 2005 were approximately HK$98.93 million and approximately HK$96.94 million.

The audited net asset value of Tianjin Xinrun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

as at 30 April 2006 and 31 December 2005 was approximately HK$9.60

million and approximately HK$9.60 million respectively.

As at 30 April 2006, Tianjin Xinrun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

had a net shareholder loan amount outstanding of approximately HK$96.41

million.  Such shareholder loan shall be capitalized on or before the Completion Date.
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GENERAL

For the 4 months ended 30 April 2006 and for the period from the respective incorporation

date of the Property Owners to 31 December 2005:–

(a) the Property Owners did not have any significant third party investments nor were

there any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries or associated companies;

(b) assets of the Property Owners are located in the PRC. RMB is not a freely convertible

currently and the RMB exchange rate remained stable during the year. Therefore, the

Directors consider that exposure to fluctuation in exchange rates is minimal and the

Property Owners have not engaged in any hedging arrangement.

(c) save for the piece of land held by Tianjin Zhongxin Huacheng Real Estate Development

Co., Limited, none of the Property Owners’ assets were pledged;

(d) save for the payment of the outstanding land premium in the amount of RMB1.75

billion (approximately HK$1.68 billion) as stated in the section “Information on the

Holding Companies, the Property Owners and the Tianjin Project” of the Letter from

the Board, the Property Owners did not have any significant contingent liabilities;

(e) no material staff costs have been incurred by the Property Owners.

PROSPECT

Upon Completion, each of the Holding Companies and the Property Owners will become an

indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and the effective equity interest of the Company

in the Tianjin Project will be 100%. The Company is of the view that the Proposed Acquisitions

represent a good opportunity for the Group to further expand its business in the property market in

Tianjin. As it is anticipated that development of the Tianjin Project will be completed by 2009 and

that pre-sale for some of the buildings located therein have also commenced, the Group believes

that the Proposed Acquisition will enable the Shareholders to enjoy the benefits brought by the

blooming PRC property market and will strengthen the assets and income base of the Group in the

near future.
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BUSINESS AND INTEREST IN SHARE CAPITAL ACQUIRED AFTER THE DATE OF

THE LATEST PUBLISHED ACCOUNTS OF THE GROUP

After 31 March 2005, being the date of the latest published of the Group, the Group has

acquired the following business and interest in share capital of the following companies:–

(a) Acquisition of the entire issued share capital Lucky Merit Development Limited

(“Lucky Merit”) and New Direction Development Limited (“New Direction”)

(i) The Purchaser (as the purchaser for such acquisitions) entered into two

agreements with the Vendor (as the vendor for such acquisitions) for the

acquisition of the entire issued share capital of each of Lucky Merit and New

Direction on 15 September 2005. Completion of such acquisitions took place

on 28 February 2006 and 30 March 2006 respectively.

Lucky Merit, a limited liability company incorporated in the British Virgin

Island on 7 January 2005, is an investment holding company which holds a

40% equity interests in Beijing Jin Ma Wen Hua Yuan Properties Development

Company Limited (“America Rock JV”). America Rock JV is a sino-foreign

equity joint venture established in the PRC on 15 October 2002, and solely

engaged in the development of a residential and commercial property project

known as “American Rock” located at 16

 (No.16, Baiziwan Road, Chaoyang District, Beijing), the PRC and under

development by the American Rock JV.

New Direction, a limited liability company incorporated in British Virgin Islands

on 7 January 2005, is an investment holding company holding 70% equity

interest in Beijing New Shine Properties Development Limited (“Youngman

Point JV”). The Youngman Point JV is a sino-foreign equity joint venture

established in the PRC on 29 May 2000, and is solely engaged in the

development of the “Youngman Point Property Project” which is a residential

and commercial property project known as “Youngman Point” located

at 2  (No.2, Ganluyuan, Zhongli, Qingnian

Road, Chaoyang District, Beijing), the PRC and under development by the

Youngman Point JV.

(ii) Consideration for the acquisition of Lucky Merit was HK$259,595,000 which

was satisfied by the allotment and issue by the Company to the Vendor

499,221,153 new Shares at the issue price of HK$0.52 each.
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Consideration for the acquisition of New Direction was HK$311,878,000 which

was satisfied by the allotment and issue by the Company to the Vendor

599,765,384 new Shares at the issue price of HK$0.52 each.

Details of the acquisitions of Lucky Merit and New Direction were announced

by the Company on 29 September 2005.

(b) Acquisition of the equity interest in Chongqing China Enterprises Property

Development Company Limited

(i) Neo-China Property (Beijing) Enterprises Management Company Limited

(“Neo-China Property”), a wholly owned

Beijing Subsidiary of the Company entered into an agreement with Shanghai

Haotai Property Investment Management Company Limited

, the vendor under the Agreement on 31 March 2006 for

the acquisition of 30% equity interest in Chongqing Property Development

Company Limited . Chongqing Property

Development Company Limited is a company incorporated in the PRC for the

development of a piece of land located at Yuanjigang District, Hi-Tech Zone,

Chongqing with a site area of 96,000 square metres into a residential and

commercial complex. Neo-China Property further acquired 70% of the equity

interest in Chongqing China Enterprises Property Development Company

Limited through a tender on 26 May 2006.

(ii) Consideration for the acquisition of 30% equity interest in Chongqing China

Enterprise Property Development was RMB181,000,000 (approximately

HK$173,038,462) which was funded by internal resources of the Company

derived from the proceeds of the subscription of shares as announced by the

Company on 13 February 2006.

Consideration for the acquisition of the further 70% equity interest in Chongqing

China Enterprise Property Development was RMB422,100,000 (approximately

HK$405,865,385) which was funded by internal resources of the Company.

Details of the above acquisitions of Chongqing China Enterprises Property

Development Company Limited were announced by the Company on 6 April

2006 and 5 June 2006 respectively.
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(c) Acquisition of 25% equity interest in Beijing New Shine Land Investment

Consultancy Limited

(i) Neo-China Property entered into an agreement with Beijing Xi Hua Wei Ye

Construction Trading Company Limited

on 22 May 2006 for the acquisition of 25% equity interest in Beijing New

Shine Land Investment Consultancy Limited. Beijing New Shine Land

Investment Consultancy Limited is a property investment and management

company incorporated in the PRC on 22 May 2003 and is the developer for a

piece of land located at 2 15 , Beijing with a

site areas of 42,541 square metres for development into a residential/commercial

complex. Completion of such acquisition took place in May 2006.

(ii) Consideration for the acquisition of 25% equity interest in Beijing New Shine

Land Investment Consultancy Limited was RMB 130,000,000 in cash

(approximately HK$125,000,000) which was funded by internal resources of

the Company.

Details of the acquisition of 25% equity interest in Beijing New Shine Land

Investment Consultancy Limited were announced by the Company on 24 May

2006.



– 285 –

APPENDIX VI GENERAL INFORMATION

3 r d  P r o o f  •  1 9 / 0 7 / 2 0 0 6  •  N e o - C h i n a  •  0 6 0 7 0 2 1 A p p 6 ( P r o Tr a n s )

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENTS

This circular includes particulars given in compliance with the Listing Rules for the purpose

of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors collectively and individually

accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this circular and confirm,

having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge and belief there are no

other facts the omission of which would make any statement in this circular misleading.

SHARE CAPITAL

The authorised and issued share capital of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date

were, and immediately following the Completion are expected to be, as follows:–

Authorised HK$

40,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each 400,000,000

Issued and to be issued as fully paid

4,479,339,487 shares of HK$0.01 each 44,793,395

1,243,034,853 Consideration Shares to be issued

upon Completion (Note) 12,430,349

5,722,374,340 Shares in issue immediately following

Completion 57,223,743

All the issued Shares rank pari passu with each other in all respects including as to voting,

dividends and return of capital. The Consideration Shares to be allotted and issued will, when

issued and fully paid, rank pari passu in all respects with the existing Shares.

Note: – This assumes no Shares are issued other than the Consideration Shares to be issued under the

Acquisition Agreements.

App

App
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

Interests of directors

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief

executives of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or

any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the

SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such

provisions of the SFO), the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies

and which were required to be entered into the register required to be kept under section 352 of the

SFO were as follows:–

(1) Issued Share of the Company

Percentage

Long/short of issued

Name of Director position Capacity No. of Shares share capital

Li Song Xiao long Interest in corporation 2,311,616,537 51.60%

Note: Mr Li Song Xiao was deemed to be interested in 2,298,986,537 Shares in the Company by virtue

of his 100% interest in Invest Gain Limited which held such Shares, 9,630,000 Shares in the

company held by Mr. Li Song Xiao personally and 3,000,000 Shares in the Company pursuant to

the options outstanding under the share option scheme of the Company as stated below.

(2) Options outstanding under the share option scheme of the Company

Number of

Exercise Share options

Name of Director Date of grant Date of expiry price outstanding

(HK$)

Li Song Xiao 4 April 2006 3 April 2016 0.90 3,000,000

Liu Yi 4 April 2006 3 April 2016 0.90 16,000,000

Niu Xiao Rong 4 April 2006 3 April 2016 0.90 16,000,000

Yuan Kun 4 April 2006 3 April 2016 0.90 8,000,000

App

App
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Save as disclosed above, as at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors or chief

executives of the Company had any interests and short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares

and debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of

the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to

Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they are

taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), the Model Code for Securities

Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies and which were required to be entered into the

register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, so far as is known to the Directors or chief executive of

the Company, the following persons had interest or short positions in the shares and underlying

shares of the Company which were required to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange

under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, were directly or indirectly,

interested in 10 per cent. or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights

to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any members of the Group:

Name of Percentage

substantial Long/short of issued

shareholder position Capacity No. of  Shares share capital

Invest Gain Limited Long Interest in 2,298,986,537 51.32%

corporation

(note a)

Mr Li Song Xiao Long Beneficial owner 2,311,616,537 51.60%

Ms Liu Hui Long Spouse 2,311,616,537 51.60%

(note b)

Penta Investment Long Investment 271,800,000 6.07%

Advisers Ltd. Manager

Mr John Zwaanstra Long Interest in 271,800,000 6.07%

corporation

(note c)

App
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Notes:

(a) 2,298,986,537 of these Shares are held by Invest Gain Limited which is beneficially wholly owned by Mr

Li Song Xiao, 9,630,000 Shares in the Company held by Mr. Li Song Xiao personally and the remaining

3,000,000 Shares in the Company pursuant to the options outstanding under the share option scheme of

the Company.

(b) Ms Liu Hui is deemed to be interested in 2,311,616,537 ordinary Shares of the Company, being the

interests held by her spouse, Mr Li Song Xiao.

(c) These Shares are held by Penta Investment Advisers Ltd which is beneficially owned by Mr John Zwaanstra.

Save as disclosed, as at the Latest Practicable Date, so far as is known to the Directors or

chief executive of the Company, no person (other than a Director) had interests or short positions

in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which were required to be disclosed to the

Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the

SFO or, were directly or indirectly, interested in 10 per cent. or more of the nominal value of any

class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any

members of the Group.
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14.6

SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors has entered (or proposed to enter)

into, with any member of the Group, a service agreement which is not expiring or terminable

within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

In addition to the agreements for the Proposed Acquisitions, the following contracts have

been entered into by the Company or its subsidiaries after the date 2 years from the date of this

circular otherwise than in the ordinary course of business and are or may be material:–

(1) On 15 September 2005, the Purchaser (as the purchaser) and the Vendor (as the

vendor) entered into a sale and purchase agreement in respect of the sale and purchase

of the entire issued share capital of Lucky Merit Development Limited for a

consideration of HK$259,595,000 which is satisfied by the issue of 499,221,153

Shares of the Company.

(2) On 15 September 2005, the Purchaser (as the purchaser) and the Vendor (as the

vendor) entered into a sale and purchase agreement in respect of the sale and purchase

of the entire issued share capital of New Direction Development Limited for a

consideration of HK$311,878,000 which is satisfied by the issue of 599,765,384

Shares of the Company.

(3) On 5 October 2005, the Company (as the vendor) entered into a sale and purchase

agreement with an independent third party Bright Super Investment Limited (as the

purchaser) relating to the disposal of its 100% interest in Spot On Assets Limited (a

wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) for a consideration of HK$180 million

payable in cash. Spot On Assets Limited holds a 100% interest in Best Modern

Properties Limited which in turn holds 39% interest in Shanghai Xin Yao Properties

Property Development Company Limited.

(4) On 12 May 2005, Oasiscity Limited (“Oasiscity”) (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the

Company) and Phoenix Real Properties Limited (“Phoenix”) entered into an agreement

that Phoenix shall transfer 10,000 sq.m of the development of a building (the

“Building”) situated in Shenzhen to which Phoenix would be entitled after completion

of the construction of the Building to Oasiscity at RMB60,000,000 payable in cash.

App
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(5) On 26 May 2006, the Company received the confirmation from the Shanghai United

Assets and Equity Exchange in relation to the acquisition of a 70% equity interest in

the Chongqing China Enterprises Property Development Company Limited with a

consideration of HK$405,865,386. The project is planned to develop a piece of land

located at Yuanjiagang District, Hi-Tech Zone, Chongqing with a site area of

96,000 sq.m. into a residential/commercial complex.

COMPETING INTERESTS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors and his/her respective associates

was considered to have an interest in a business which competes or is likely to compete, either

directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group other than those businesses to which the

Directors and his/her associates were appointed to represent the interests of the Company and/or

the Group.

LITIGATION

As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the members of the Group is engaged in any

litigation or arbitration of material importance and no litigation or claim of material importance is

known to the Directors or the Company to be pending or threatened by or against any member of

the Group.

QUALIFICATION OF EXPERT

The following is the qualification of the expert who has given opinion or advice which is

contained in this circular:

Name Qualification

First Shanghai Capital Limited Independent Financial Adviser (licensed to

engage in type 6 regulated activity (advising

on corporate finance) as defined In the SFO)

CCIF CPA Limited Certified Public Accountants

Savills Valuation and Professional Member of Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors

Services Limited

The experts named above have given and have not withdrawn their respective written consents

to the issue of this circular and with their statements and references to their names included in the

form and context in which they are included.

14.6

App

App
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EXPERTS’ INTERESTS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the experts named above had any shareholding

interest in any member of the Group, or their respective associates or the right (whether legally

enforceable or not) to subscribe for or to nominate persons to subscribe for securities in any

members of the Group.

CONSENT

Each of First Shanghai Capital Limited, being the independent financial advisor to the

Independent Committee, CCIF CPD Limited, being the independent auditor of the Company,

Company and Savills Valuation and Professional Services Limited, being the independent valuer,

has given and has not withdrawn its written consent to the issue of this circular with the inclusion

of its letter and reference to its name and letter in the form and context in which they appear.

DIRECTORS’ AND EXPERTS’ INTERESTS

As the Latest Practicable Date, none of the experts named above nor the Directors nor their

respective associates had any shareholding in any member of the Group or the right (whether

legally enforceable or not) to subscribe for or to nominate persons to subscribe for securities in

any member of the Group nor did they have any interest, either direct or indirect, in any assets

which had been, since the date to which the latest published audited financial statements of the

Company were made up, acquired or disposed of by or leased to or were proposed to be acquired

or disposed of by or leased to any member of the Group.

None of the Directors is materially interested in any contract or arrangement subsisting at

the date of this circular which is significant in relation to the business of the Group.

GENERAL

(a) The English text of this circular shall prevail over the Chinese text.

(b) The Secretary of the Company is Ms Chan Yim Kum who is a member of the Institute

of Chartered Secretaries and Administration of the United Kingdom, the Hong Kong

Institute of Company Secretaries and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. Ms Chan

holds a bachelor’s degree (honours) in business administration from the United

Kingdom and a master’s degree in professional accountancy from Hong Kong.

(c) The registered office of the Company is The Bank of Bermuda Limited at 6 Front

Street, Hamilton HM12, Bermuda and its principal place of business is at Unit 1908-09,

19th Floor, Office Tower, Convention Plaza, No. 1 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong

Kong.

App

App

App

App
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(d) The principal share registrar and transfer office of the Company is The Bank of

Bermuda Limited at 6 Front Street, Hamilton HM12, Bermuda. The branch share

registrar and transfer office of the Company is Secretaries Limited at Unit 1908-9,

Office Tower, Convention Plaza, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

(e) The address of Mr. Li Song Xiao is Floor 15 Jun Yu Plaza, No. 100 Xisanhuan North

Road, Haidian District, Beijing, PRC.

DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

Copies of the following documents will be available for inspection at the office of Neo-China

Group (Holdings) Limited, Units 1908-09, 19th Floor, Office Tower, Convention Plaze, No. 1

Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, during normal business hours (i.e. from 9:00 a.m. to 5:30 p.m.)

on any day (except Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays) until the SGM:

(a) the Agreement;

(b) the Memorandum of Association and bye-laws of the Company;

(c) the annual reports of the Group for the two financial years ended 30 April, 2004 and

2005;

(d) the letter from the Independent Board Committee, the text of which is set out in this

circular;

(e) the letter from the First Shanghai Capital Limited, the text of which is set out in this

circular;

(f) the written consents from First Shanghai Capital Limited, CCIF CPA Limited, Savills

Valuation and Professional Services Limited;

(g) the valuation report prepared by Savills Valuation and Professional Services Limited

the text of which is set out in Appendix I to this circular;

(h) the agreement and circular of the major and connected transaction for acquisition of

100% interest of Top Fair Ltd;

(i) the circular of the very substantial acquisitions and connected transactions for

acquisitions of the entire issued share capital of each of Lucky Merit Development

Ltd and New Direction Development Ltd;

App



– 293 –

APPENDIX VI GENERAL INFORMATION

3 r d  P r o o f  •  1 9 / 0 7 / 2 0 0 6  •  N e o - C h i n a  •  0 6 0 7 0 2 1 A p p 6 ( P r o Tr a n s )

(j) the circular of the discloseable transaction for acquisition of 70% equity interest in

Chongqing China Enterprises Property Development Company Ltd;

(k) the circular of the discloseable transaction for acquisition of 30% equity interest in

Chongqing China Enterprises Property Development Company Ltd;

(l) the circular of the discloseable transaction for acquisition of 25% equity interest in

Beijing New Shine Land Investment Consultancy Ltd;

(m) the circular of the discloseable transaction for disposal of 100% equity interest in

Spot On Assets Ltd;

(n) the circular of the discloseable transaction for disposal of 100% equity interest in

Noble Time Development Inc;

(o) the interim reports of the Group for the six months ended 31 October, 2004 and 2005;

(p) the audited financial statements of each of the Holding Companies which is set out in

Appendix III of this circular;

(q) the accountants’ reports of each of the Property Owners which is set out in Appendix

III of this circular;

(r) the material contracts referred to in paragraph headed “Material Contracts” in this

circular.
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NEO-CHINA GROUP (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
*

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

(Stock code: 563)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a special general meeting of Neo-China Group

(Holdings) Limited (“Company”) will be held at Unit 1908-9, Office Tower, Convention Plaza,

Wanchai, Hong Kong at 10:00 a.m. on 8 August 2006 for the purpose of considering and, if

thought fit, passing with or without amendment the following resolution which will be proposed as

ordinary resolution:–

ORDINARY RESOLUTION

THAT the agreement (the “Agreement”) relating to the sale and purchase of the entire

issued shared capital of each of DIVO Success Limited and Lead Mix Limited, both are companies

incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability dated 26 June 2006 between Mr. Li

Song Xiao and Neo-China Property Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (a copy

of which has been produced to this meeting marked “A” and initialled by the chairman of the

meeting for identification) be and is hereby approved, ratified and confirmed and that the directors

of the Company be and are hereby authorised to implement all the transactions referred to in

Agreement and to do all such acts and things and execute all such documents as they shall in their

absolute discretion consider necessary or desirable to give effect to the Agreement and the

arrangements contemplated thereunder including but not limited to the issue of the Consideration

Shares referred to in the Agreement.

By Order of the Board

Neo-China Group (Holdings) Limited

Li Song Xiao

Chairman

20 July, 2006

App

* For identification only



– 295 –

NOTICE OF SGM

3 r d  P r o o f  •  1 9 / 0 7 / 2 0 0 6  •  N e o - C h i n a  •  0 6 0 7 0 2 1 A p p 5 ( P r o Tr a n s )

Registered office:

Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

Principal Place of Business:

Unit 1908-9, 19th Floor

Office Tower, Convention Plaza

No. 1 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Notes:

1. Any member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the above meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to

attend and vote instead of him. A proxy need not be a Member of the Company. A member who is the holder of

two or more shares of the Company may appoint more than one proxy to represent him to attend and vote on his

behalf. If more than one proxy is so appointed, the appointment shall specify the number and class of shares in

respect of which each such proxy is so appointed.

2. To be effective, a form of proxy together with the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is

signed or a certified copy of that power or authority, must be deposited at the Share Registrar of the Company in

Hong Kong, Secretaries Ltd., 26/F, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not less than 48

hours before the time appointed for the holding of the meeting or any adjournment hereof. Delivery of the form of

proxy shall not preclude a member of Neo-China from attending and voting in person at the meeting and, in such

event, the instrument appointing a proxy shall be deemed to be revoked.

3. Where there are joint registered holders of any share, any one of such persons may vote at the meeting, either

personally or by proxy, in respect of such share as if he were solely entitled hereto but if more than one of such

joint holders be present at any meeting personally or by proxy, that one of the said persons so present whose

name stands first on the register in respect of such share shall alone be entitled to vote in respect thereof. Several

executors or administrators of a deceased member in whose name any share stands shall for this purpose be

deemed joint holders thereof.

4. The Resolution will be voted on by way of poll.

5. At the date of this notice, the executive directors of Neo-China are Mr. Li Song Xiao, Mr. Liu Yi, Ms. Niu Xiao

Rong and Mr. Yuan Kun, and the independent non-executive directors are Ms. Nie Mei Sheng, Mr. Zhen Kuan and

Mr. Wang Shiyong.


